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dŚŝƐ� ^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ� ZĞƉŽƌƚ� ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�ƉƌĞƉĂƌĞĚ� ƚŽ� ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ� ĂĚĚŝƚŝŽŶĂů� ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ� ƚŽ� ƐŚĂƌĞŚŽůĚĞƌƐ� ƚŽ� ĂƐƐĞƐƐ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
strategy and the potential of the strategy to succeed. 

The Strategic Report contains certain forward-looking statements. These statements are made by the Directors in good 
faith based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this report, and as such, statements 
should be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including economic and business risk factors, 
underlying any such forward-looking information. 

The Directors, in preparing this Strategic Report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006. 

This Strategic Report has been prepared for the Group as a whole and therefore gives greater emphasis to those 
matters which are significant to Kew Soda Ltd and its subsidiary undertakings when viewed as a whole. 

The Strategic Report discusses the following areas: 

භ ��ĨĂŝƌ�ƌĞǀŝĞǁ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ͕�ƐƉůŝƚ�ŝŶƚŽ�ĂŶ�KƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶĂů�ZĞǀŝĞǁ�ĂŶĚ�&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ZĞǀŝĞǁ� 
භ dŚĞ�ƉƌŝŶĐŝƉĂů�ƌŝƐŬƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶĐĞƌƚĂŝŶƚŝĞƐ�ĂƐƐŽĐŝĂƚĞĚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ 

Operational Review 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĨŽĐƵƐ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆƚƌĂĐƚŝŽŶ�ĂŶĚ�ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐŝŶŐ�ŽĨ�trona ore in Turkey and the United States of America 
(the ͞h^͟Ϳ�ƚŽ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐĞ�ƐŽĚĂ�ĂƐŚ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŽĚŝƵŵ�ďŝĐĂƌďŽŶĂƚĞ͘�/Ŷ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͕�ƚŚĞ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ�ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĞĚ�ďǇ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�
WĂǌĂƌůĂŵĂ�EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ�ǀĞ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘�;͞�ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ�ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ��͘b͘�;͞<ĂǌĂŶ�
^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ͕�ǁŚŝůƐƚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�h^�ƚŚĞ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ�ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĞĚ�ďǇ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ�>>��;ĨŽƌŵĞƌůǇ�ŬŶŽǁŶ�ĂƐ�͞�ŝŶĞƌ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ�
>>�͟Ϳ͘ 

t��^ŽĚĂ�>ƚĚ�;͞t��^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ͕�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�wholly owned subsidiary, was incorporated on 6 July 2016 to become the 
holding company of the soda ash businesses within the Ciner Group. 

KŶ�Ϯϰ�EŽǀĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϭϳ͕�t��^ŽĚĂ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ŝƚƐ�ƵůƚŝŵĂƚĞ�ƉĂƌĞŶƚ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ͕��ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͕͘��ŝŶĞƌ�
<ŝŵǇĂ�zĂƚŦƌŦŵůĂƌŦ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘�;͞�ŝŶĞƌ�<ŝŵǇĂ͟Ϳ�ĂŶĚ�ŝƚƐ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂry undertaking, Eti Soda, in which Ciner Kimya 
owns a 74% shareholding. Turkish state-owned commercial enterprise Eti Maden owns the remaining 26% non-
controlling interest in Eti Soda.  

On 5 February 2018, WE Soda via its wholly owned subsidiary WE Soda KiŵǇĂ�zĂƚŝƌŝŵůĂƌŝ��͘b͕͘�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ϭϬϬй�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�
shares of Kazan Soda.  

KŶ�ϮϮ�&ĞďƌƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϭϴ͕�t��^ŽĚĂ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ŝƚƐ�ƵůƚŝŵĂƚĞ�ƉĂƌĞŶƚ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ͕��ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͕͘�ϭϬϬй�ŽĨ�
ƚŚĞ�ƐŚĂƌĞƐ�ŽĨ��ŝŶĞƌ��ŶƚĞƌƉƌŝƐĞƐ�/ŶĐ͘�;͞��/͟Ϳ͕�ůŽĐĂƚĞĚ�ŝŶ��ƚůĂŶƚĂ͕�'ĞŽƌŐŝĂ͕�h^. Until the 2021 Strategic Transactions, CEI 
owned 100% of the shares of Sisecam Chemicals Resources LLC (renamed and converted from Ciner Resources 
Corporation on 21 December 2021), which in turn owned 100% of the shares of Sisecam Chemicals Wyoming LLC 
(renamed and converted from Ciner Wyoming Holding Corporation on 21 December 2021). Sisecam Chemicals 
Wyoming owns approximately 74% of Sisecam Resources LP (renamed from Ciner Resources LP on 18 February 2022), 
with the remaining approximately 26% listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: SIRE). Sisecam Resources has a 
controlling 51% interest in Sisecam Wyoming LLC (renamed from Ciner Wyoming LLC on 18 February 2022), the 
operating company located near Green River, Wyoming, US. The remaining non-controlling 49% interest in Sisecam 
Wyoming is owned by NRP Trona LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Natural Resource Partners LP. 
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Operational Review (continued) 

On 19 November 2021, we announced a transaction with Sisecam, pursuant to which CEI sold its 60% interest in 
^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�ƚŽ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ͕�ƚŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƐŽůĚ�Ă�ϭϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�WĂĐŝĨŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ�>>��;͞WĂĐŝĨŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ�ĂŶĚ�
a 60% interest in Atlantic SodĂ�>>��;͞�ƚůĂŶƚŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ�ƚŽ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ͕�ĂŶĚ�t��^ŽĚĂ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�Ă�ϰϬй�ŶŽŶ-controlling interest 
in each of Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda from the Ciner Group, through an in-kind contribution of TC Soda Holdings 
Inc. ;͞d��^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ� ƚŽ� ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ĐĂƉŝƚĂů�ďǇ� ƚŚĞ�Wƌŝncipal Shareholder on 21 December ϮϬϮϭ�;ƚŚĞ�͞ϮϬϮϭ�^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ�
dƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͟Ϳ͘ 

The 2021 Strategic Transactions have resulted in our current holding of a non-controlling 40% indirect ownership 
interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources (which translates into a non-controlling 15% effective interest in Sisecam 
Wyoming, the operating company), and a non-controlling 40% indirect interest in each of Pacific Soda and Atlantic 
Soda, with Sisecam owning a 60% controlling stake in each of the same entities. 

The gross proceeds of USD300.0 million from the disposal of a 60% controlling interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources 
and other available sources were used, together with other transactions made under or in connection with the 2021 
Strategic Transactions, to (i) repay h^�ϭϱϲ͘ϲ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�ŝŶ�ĐĂƌƌǇŝŶŐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ�ƵŶĚĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĞǆŝƐƚŝŶŐ�ĨĂĐŝůŝƚǇ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�
dated on 1 August 2018, (ii) make catch-up repayments (including DSRA) of USD151.0 million under the Kazan Soda 
Facilities and (iii) pay fees and expenses in connection with the 2021 Strategic Transactions. 

Our operations have grown significantly since the start of commercial production at Eti Soda in late 2009 and over this 
period, ǁĞ�ŚĂǀĞ�ďĞĐŽŵĞ�ƚŚĞ�ǁŽƌůĚ͛Ɛ�ůĂƌŐĞƐƚ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐĞƌ�ŽĨ�ŶĂƚƵƌĂů�ƐŽĚĂ�ĂƐŚ͘�dŚĞ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ�ŝƐ�Ă�ƐƵŵŵĂƌǇ�Žf the history 
and development of Eti Soda and Kazan Soda, Pacific, a greenfield project comprising Atlantic Soda and Pacific Soda 
for the development of a new soda ash and sodium bicarbonate production facility in which we own a non-controlling 
40% indirect interest and Sisecam owns a controlling 60% interest, and Sisecam Wyoming, in which we now own a 
non-controlling 15% effective interest. 

Eti Soda  

�ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ǁĂƐ�ĨŽƵŶĚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ϭϵϵϴ�ĂŶĚ�ƐƚĂƌƚĞĚ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐƚŝŽŶ�ŝŶ�ϮϬϬϵ͘��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ŝƐ�ůŽĐĂƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ District of Ankara 
and uses solution-extraction to exploit sub-surface trona ore which is then processed into soda ash and sodium 
bicarbonate at its production facility.  

dŚĞ��ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ŽƌĞ�ĚĞƉŽƐŝƚ�ǁĂƐ�ĚŝƐĐŽǀĞƌĞĚ�ŝŶ�ϭϵϳϵ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ�ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ�ŽĨ�the Ankara province, Turkey. Eti 
Soda was established in 1998 by the Ciner Group to exploit the trona ore deposit at this location. In 2004, a pilot plant 
was established at the site and construction of the Eti Soda production facility commenced in 2007. In 2009, Eti Soda 
started commercial production operations utilising solution-extraction and processing with an initial production 
ĐĂƉĂĐŝƚǇ�ŽĨ�ϭ͘ϭ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�ŵĞƚƌŝĐ�ƚŽŶŶĞƐ�;͞ŵƚ͟Ϳ�ƉĞƌ�ĂŶŶƵŵ ;͞ŵƚƉĂ͟Ϳ. Eti Maden owns the licences to extract trona in the 
�ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ District. The licences expire on 19 September 2045. The royalty agreement allows for Eti Soda to mine for 
trona until the end of operating life of the mine and has been extended to 19 September 2045. Management intends 
to renew the relevant agreements until the current known trona reserves are depleted. As of 31 December 2021, the 
soda ash equivalent proven and probable trona reserves are estimated at approximately 37.6 million mt. Eti Soda has 
a originally installed nameplate production capacity of 1.7 million mtpa, with 3 soda ash processing lines each with a 
capacity of 0.5 million mtpa and 2 sodium bicarbonate processing lines each with a capacity of 0.1 million mtpa. As of 
31 March 2022, total production capacity of the facility was approximately 1.95 million mtpa, comprising 1.75 million 
mtpa of soda ash and 0.2 million mtpa of sodium bicarbonate. The remaining useful life of the mine is currently 
estimated to be more than 20 years. 
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Operational Review (continued) 

Kazan Soda 

Kazan Soda was founded in 2011 and started commercial production in 2017 and is located in the Kazan District of 
Ankara and also uses solution-extraction to exploit sub-surface trona ore which is then processed into soda ash and 
sodium bicarbonate at its production facility.  

dƌŽŶĂ�ŽƌĞ�ĚĞƉŽƐŝƚƐ�ǁĞƌĞ�ĚŝƐĐŽǀĞƌĞĚ�ŝŶ��ŶŬĂƌĂ͛Ɛ�<ĂǌĂŶ�ĂŶĚ�^ŝŶĐĂŶ�ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐĞƐ�ďǇ�ZŝŽƚƵƌ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘�;͞ZŝŽdƵƌ͟Ϳ͕�ƉĂƌƚ�
of the Rio Tinto mining group, in 1998. In 2010, various studies were carried out to determine resources and reserves. 
The Ciner Group acquired RioTur Mining in December 2010 and, in February 2011, Kazan Soda was established. As a 
result of a reorganisation within the Ciner Group, in 2013 Kazan Soda became the entity holding the licence for the 
exploration, extraction and processing of trona at Kazan. In 2011, a pilot plant was established at the site and 
construction of the Kazan Soda production facility started in November 2014. In August 2017, Kazan Soda started 
commercial production operations utilising solution-extraction and processing. 

Kazan Soda was granted a mining licence that expires in 2043. Management intends to renew the licence period until 
known trona reserves are fully depleted. As of 31 December 2021, the soda ash equivalent of proven and probable 
trona reserves are estimated at approximately 110.4 million mt. 

Kazan Soda operations consist of 5 soda ash process lines together with the cogeneration facility in addition to 2 
sodium bicarbonate process lines that are fully operational. As at 31 December 2021, Kazan Soda has a originally 
installed nameplate production capacity of 2.7 million mtpa from the 5 soda ash process lines each with a capacity of 
0.5 million mtpa and 2 sodium bicarbonate lines each with a capacity of 0.1 million mtpa. As of 31 March 2022, total 
production capacity of the facility was approximately 2.9 million mtpa, comprising 2.7 million mtpa of soda ash and 
0.2 million mtpa of sodium bicarbonate. The remaining useful life of the mine is currently estimated to be more than 
40 years. 

Pacific 

In 2019, the Ciner Group through Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda, acquired trona mining rights via federal and private 
land leases covering 17 sections (10,810 acres) within the southern central area of the KSLA near Green River, 
Wyoming, US with the objective of developing a new, greenfield soda ash and sodium bicarbonate production facility 
utilising trona solution-ĞǆƚƌĂĐƚŝŽŶ� ĂŶĚ� ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐŝŶŐ͕� ŶŽǁ� ŬŶŽǁŶ� ĂƐ� ͞WĂĐŝĨŝĐ͟� ŚĂǀŝŶŐ� ƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐůǇ� ďĞĞŶ� ƌĞĨĞƌƌĞĚ� ƚŽ� ĂƐ�
͞/ŵƉĞƌŝĂů͘͟�dŚĞ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ůĞĂƐĞ�ƐĞĐƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ�ĚŝǀŝĚĞĚ�ƐƵĐh that the federal leases are owned by Atlantic Soda and the 
private leases are owned by Pacific Soda. 

In June 2019, the Ciner Group sold a 50% interest in Pacific Soda to Sisecam and entered into a Joint Venture Operating 
Agreement for the development of Pacific Soda and, in July 2020, entered into a Joint Development Agreement to 
facilitate the development of Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda as a production partnership with shared facilities and 
infrastructure. On 21 December 2021, as part of the 2021 Strategic Transactions, the Ciner Group sold a 10% interest 
in Pacific Soda and a 60% interest in Atlantic Soda to Sisecam and we acquired a 40% non-controlling interest in each 
of Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda through the in-kind contribution of TC Soda to ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĐĂƉŝƚĂů�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ�WƌŝŶĐŝƉĂů�
Shareholder on the same date. The Group and Sisecam have also agreed to merge Atlantic and Pacific in due course, with 
Pacific being the surviving entity. 
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Operational Review (continued) 

Sisecam Wyoming 

The Sisecam Wyoming production facility started production in 1962, when Stauffer Chemical opened the Big Island 
Mine and Refinery in Green River, Wyoming, US and began producing soda ash from mined trona. In 1985, 
Cheseborough Ponds acquired Stauffer ChemŝĐĂů�ĂŶĚ�ŝŶ�ϭϵϴϲ�/ŵƉĞƌŝĂů��ŚĞŵŝĐĂů�/ŶĚƵƐƚƌŝĞƐ�;͞/�/͟Ϳ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�^ƚĂƵĨĨĞƌ�
�ŚĞŵŝĐĂů� ĨƌŽŵ��ŚĞƐĞďŽƌŽƵŐŚ�WŽŶĚƐ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŚĂĚ�ďĞĞŶ�ƚĂŬĞŶ�ŽǀĞƌ�ďǇ�hŶŝůĞǀĞƌ͘� /Ŷ�ϭϵϴϳ͕� /�/�ƐŽůĚ�^ƚĂƵĨĨĞƌ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂů͛Ɛ�
industrial chemicals section (including the soda ash business) to Rhone-Poulenc and, in 1996, Rhone-Poulenc sold its 
interest in the soda ash business to OCI Company, LTD and the soda ash business was placed under its North American 
subsidiary, OCI Chemical Corporation. In 2013, NRP acquired a 49% equity interest in the soda ash business from 
Anadarko, which had originally obtained its interest through a merger with Union Pacific Resources Group Inc. in 2000. 

The Sisecam Wyoming production facility has always used and continues to use conventional underground mining to 
exploit aŶĚ�ĞǆƚƌĂĐƚ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ŽƌĞ͘�/Ŷ�ϭϵϴϰ͕�ƚŚĞ�ŵŝŶĞ�ĐŽŶǀĞƌƚĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�͞Ěƌŝůů�ĂŶĚ�ďůĂƐƚ͟�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ƚŽ�ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵŽƵƐ�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ƵƐŝŶŐ�
ƚŚĞ�͞ƌŽŽŵ�ĂŶĚ�ƉŝůůĂƌ͟�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ƚĞĐŚŶŝƋƵĞ�ĂŶĚ�ŵĞĐŚĂŶŝĐĂů�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ŵĂĐŚŝŶĞƐ͘ 

In 1998, the first autonomous unit at the facility, Unit 6, began producing approximately 1.0 million mtpa of soda ash. 
In 2009, the decahydrate plant at the facility began recovering soda ash from the tailings ponds, increasing overall 
plant efficiency and production volumes.  

In 2014, OCI Chemical Corporation (the owner of 51% of the soda ash business) conducted an initial public offering of the 
soda ash business with a listing on the New York Stock Exchange. In 2015, CEI acquired OCI Chemical Corporation, and it 
later renamed it Ciner Resources, Inc. CEI was acquired by WE Soda in February 2018. On 21 December 2021, as part of 
the 2021 Strategic Transactions, we disposed of 60% of our interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources and we now own a 
non-controlling 40% interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources and a 15% effective interest in Sisecam Wyoming, the 
operating company. Following the 2021 Strategic Transactions, the Group no longer controls the Sisecam Wyoming facility 
and is no longer responsible for the sales and marketing of production volumes from Sisecam Wyoming. 

On 21 December 2021 and as part of the 2021 Strategic Transactions, CEI, Sisecam and Sisecam Chemicals Resources, 
entered into a unitholders and operations agreement that governs the operation and management of Sisecam 
�ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�;ƚŚĞ�͞^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�hŶŝƚŚŽůĚĞƌƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͟Ϳ͘�dŚĞ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�
Unitholders Agreement regulates corporate governance matters, provides for the funding of the project, and includes 
ƌĞƐƚƌŝĐƚŝŽŶƐ�ŽŶ�ƚƌĂŶƐĨĞƌƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƵŶŝƚŚŽůĚĞƌƐ͛�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚŝƌĚ�ƉĂƌƚŝĞƐ͘� 

The Sisecam Wyoming production facility is located in the KSLA approximately 36.5 km from Green River, Wyoming, 
US. The main operations of the Sisecam Wyoming production facility are located on a site of approximately 3.6 square 
km with a leased and licensed subsurface mining area of approximately 95 square km. Sisecam Wyoming uses 
ĐŽŶǀĞŶƚŝŽŶĂů�ƵŶĚĞƌŐƌŽƵŶĚ�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ƵƚŝůŝƐŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�͞ƌŽŽŵ�ĂŶĚ�ƉŝůůĂƌ͟�ŵĞƚŚŽĚ�ĨŽƌ�ĞǆƚƌĂĐƚŝŶŐ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ŽƌĞ͘�Sisecam Wyoming 
has a nameplate production capacity of 2.5 million mtpa of soda ash. As of 31 December 2021, soda ash equivalent proven 
and probable trona reserves is 102.9 million mt. The remaining useful life of the mine is estimated to be more than 50 
years.  Sisecam Wyoming has an extensive US domestic and international export logistics network. Over 98% of the 
soda ash from Sisecam Wyoming is transported by rail from its facilities, with the remainder transported by truck. 

Sisecam Wyoming has several mining leases which expire from 2027 to 2029 and one licence, which grants subsurface 
mining rights, and which expires in 2061. Sisecam Wyoming have a perpetual right under these leases and licence as 
long as it maintains continuous mining operations. 
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2021 Operations 

During YE 2021, we produced 4.5 million mt of soda ash and 0.4 million mt of sodium bicarbonate from all our facilities, 
a total of 4.9 million mt, being 14% higher than 2020 volumes of 4.3 million mt. 

Our average daily soda ash production increased by approximately 15.9% to 12,212 mt per day, from an average of 
10,533 mt per day in YE 2020 reflecting full production levels at our facilities driven by a strong post COVID-19 recovery 
and rebound in demand in all of our end markets. Our average daily sodium bicarbonate production remained broadly 
flat at approximately 1,081 mt per day, reflecting the relatively stable global demand for sodium bicarbonate. 

Group production in million mtpa: 
 

  2021    2020  

Million mtpa 
Soda 

ash 
Sodium 

bicarbonate Total 
 Soda 

ash 
Sodium 

bicarbonate Total 
Eti Soda 1.8 0.2 2.0  1.6 0.2 1.8 
Kazan Soda 2.7 0.2 2.9  2.3 0.2 2.5 
Total 4.5 0.4 4.9  3.9 0.4 4.3 

 

Group production in mt per day: 
   2021    2020 

Mt per day (average) Soda 
ash 

Sodium 
bicarbonate Total  Soda ash 

Sodium 
bicarbonate Total 

Eti Soda 4,779 568 5,348  4,277 553 4,830 
Kazan Soda 7,433 512 7,945  6,256 500 6,756 
Total 12,212 1,081 13,293  10,533 1,053 11,586 

 

Future Developments 

Turkey 
Management intends to maintain full production capacity at the Eti Soda and Kazan Soda facilities supported by an 
ongoing program of systematic preventative maintenance. Whilst there is no further capacity expansion planned for 
Eti Soda, at Kazan Soda, we are currently constructing additional caustic and decahydrate units which will add a further 
0.3 million mtpa of soda ash production capacity. This investment is being fully funded by China Tianchen Engineering 
�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ�ĂŶĚ��ŚŝŶĂ�EĂƚŝŽŶĂů��ŚĞŵŝĐĂů��ŶŐŝŶĞĞƌŝŶŐ��Ž͕͘�>ƚĚ�;ĞĂĐŚ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŽůůĞĐƚŝǀĞůǇ�͞d��͟Ϳ�ŝŶ�ĂĐĐŽƌĚĂŶĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚhe 
terms of a settlement agreement between Kazan Soda and TCC, with plant commissioning during the fourth quarter 
of 2022 to achieve full run-rate capacity during the first quarter of 2023 and resulting in Kazan Soda production 
capacity increasing to approximately 3.2 million mtpa. In addition, we have recently applied for the permits required, 
ǁŚŝĐŚ�ĂƌĞ�ĞǆƉĞĐƚĞĚ�ƚŽ�ďĞ�ŽďƚĂŝŶĞĚ�ĚƵƌŝŶŐ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�ĂŶĚ�ĂŐƌĞĞĚ�ĂŶ�ĞŶŐŝŶĞĞƌŝŶŐ͕�ƉƌŽĐƵƌĞŵĞŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚŝŽŶ�;͞�W�͟Ϳ�
contract for USD161 million to construct an additional soda ash and sodium bicarbonate production unit, respectively, 
at Kazan Soda, and we are currently discussing financing arrangements. If developed, the new units would be 
constructed during 2023 and 2024, with plant commissioning in the fourth quarter of 2024 to achieve full run-rate 
production during the second quarter of 2025. At full planned capacity, the new units would produce an additional 
approximately 0.5 million mtpa of soda ash and an additional approximately 0.1 million mtpa of sodium bicarbonate. 
We have also recently applied for the permits required to construct a sodium chloride production unit at Kazan Soda, 
at an estimated cost of approximately USD20.0 million, which will allow us to process and sell the sodium chloride 
(industrial salt) by-product from the soda ash production process to customers in Turkey, and which is expected to be 
completed during 2025. 
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Future Developments (continued) 

Pacific 
Pacific is an early stage development project currently in the preliminary engineering design, research and 
development and permitting phase. Sisecam is responsible for the overall project execution and cost engineering, 
which are still ongoing, and as a result, any capital cost and development-timing estimates are necessarily preliminary 
in nature and subject to substantial revision and material change.  

While Pacific is still subject to final approvals at the federal and state levels for environmental, construction and other 
permits, our initial discussions with the relevant competent state and local authorities as of the date of these financial 
statements have been reassuring as they have expressed their in-principle support for the project mainly due to the 
potential economic and employment contributions the project would create for the local economy, if developed.  

tĞ�ďĞůŝĞǀĞ�ƚŚĂƚ͕�ŝĨ�ĚĞǀĞůŽƉĞĚ�ĂƐ�ƉůĂŶŶĞĚ͕�Ăƚ�ĨƵůů�ƉůĂŶŶĞĚ�ĐĂƉĂĐŝƚǇ�WĂĐŝĨŝĐ�ǁŝůů�ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ�ƚŚĞ�ǁŽƌůĚ͛Ɛ�ůĂƌŐĞƐƚ�ŶĂƚƵƌĂů�ƐŽĚĂ�
ash and sodium bicarbonate production facility, utilising solution-extraction and processing to produce 5.0 million 
mtpa soda ash and 0.4 million mtpa sodium bicarbonate at unit cash production costs comparable with those achieved 
at our Turkish facilities, facilitating competitive export sales globally. The permits and approvals required to proceed 
and start construction are not expected to be received until the second quarter of 2024, at the earliest, and could 
potentially take up to a further 18 months to obtain, following which construction of the facilities would start and is 
expected to be completed within approximately 24 to 30 months, enabling the facility to achieve planned run-rate 
capacity only approximately 42 months after receiving the required permits and approvals to proceed, in 2027 at the 
earliest. It is anticipated that the process configuration of the plant will be similar to Eti Soda and Kazan Soda, and 
involve 10 soda ash production units, each with a production capacity of 0.5 million mtpa and four sodium bicarbonate 
production units, each with a capacity of 0.1 million mtpa. It is anticipated that the power and steam requirements of 
the facility will be provided by a natural gas-fuelled cogeneration plant and that product will be transported by rail to 
export port facilities located on the Pacific West Coast or to domestic US customers, similar to all existing natural soda 
ash producers located in the Green River area. 

Based on our current assessment of the limited budgeting information and cost engineering work available at the date 
of these financial statements, we estimate that, if developed, Pacific would have a total capital cost of approximately 
$4.0 billion. Under the terms of our agreement with Sisecam, if Pacific is developed, we will be required to contribute 
that portion of the equity funding for Pacific which is commensurate with our 40% ownership and we will be 
responsible for the sales and marketing of our proportionate share of Pacific production which, at full planned 
capacity, will be approximately 2.0 million mtpa of soda ash and approximately 0.2 million mtpa of sodium 
bicarbonate.  

We expect that we will fund our 40% proportional share primarily with non-recourse project finance debt and, 
secondarily, with equity commitments funded from cash flow. It is currently anticipated that approximately USD800.0 
million of the total capital cost will be funded with equity commitments, which will be divided between Sisecam and 
the Group in proportion to our ownership, and which are expected to be disbursed in approximately equal quarterly 
instalments over a four year period, commencing in the second half of 2023. A definitive investment plan between the 
Group and Sisecam will only be entered into on a committed basis during the second half of 2023, at the earliest, once 
the project is more advanced, a final development plan has been agreed with the relevant permitting and approval 
agencies, the project design has been finalised, EPC contracts for the construction of the project are in place and the 
requisite project financing commitments for the development of the project have been received. 
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Future Developments (continued) 

Pacific (continued) 
Our expectations regarding the capital cost and timing for the development of Pacific are based on preliminary 
estimates and a preliminary development plan. As such, they are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, as well 
as several other factors that could cause actual expenditures to differ materially from those estimated or prevent or 
delay the development of Pacific. There can also be no assurance that all the required permits and approvals will be 
obtained on a timely manner, if at all, which could result in Pacific not becoming operational according to our 
estimated timeline. 

Gas supply and cost 
'ŝǀĞŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͛Ɛ�ƌĞůŝĂŶĐĞ�ŽŶ�ŝŵƉŽƌƚĞĚ�ŶĂƚƵƌĂů�ŐĂƐ͕�ŽƵƌ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ�ĞǆƉŽƐĞĚ�ƚŽ�ĚŝƐƌƵƉƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŚŽƌƚĂŐĞƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƐƵƉƉůǇ�
of imported natural gas to Turkey that could impact our operations, prevent us from operating our production facilities 
at full capacity, if at all, or could impact the price and availability of electricity from the state grid, part of which is 
generated using natural gas fuelled plants.  

KŶ�ϮϬ�:ĂŶƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ�/ƌĂŶ͛Ɛ�ĂŶŶŽƵŶĐĞŵĞŶƚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŶĂƚƵƌĂů�ŐĂƐ�ĨůŽǁƐ�ƚŽ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ǁŽƵůĚ�ďĞ suspended for up to 10 
days due to a technical failure in the Tabriz-�ŶŬĂƌĂ�ƉŝƉĞůŝŶĞ͕��Kd�b�ŽƌĚĞƌĞĚ�ŝŶĚƵƐƚƌŝĂů�ŶĂƚƵƌĂů�ŐĂƐ�ĐŽŶƐƵŵĞƌƐ�ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�
to reduce their consumption of natural gas. We responded to this development by reducing our consumption of 
natural gas at the Kazan Soda facility, resulting in reduced levels of electricity generation from our cogeneration plant 
to be exported to the state grid. Such strategies result in lower electricity sales revenues but allow us to maintain full 
production capacity for soda ash and sodium bicarbonate at our Kazan Soda facility. Similarly, the ongoing military 
conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and any related developments affecting the Turkish economy, could, in 
particular, result in a material increase in the cost of natural gas, electricity and other sources of energy in Turkey and 
elsewhere, an interruption of natural gas supply in Turkey which could prevent us from running our facilities at full 
capacity, global supply chain issues affecting the timely delivery of our products and also decreased demand for the 
products of our customers, including glass manufacturers. 

Electricity costs are also impacted indirectly by higher natural gas prices, as natural gas is one of the key inputs of 
electricity generation in Turkey. Although any increase in natural gas prices is partially offset by higher revenues from 
electricity sales at our Kazan Soda cogeneration plant, where electricity produced which is in excess of our own 
consumption needs is sold to the third parties, we do not otherwise currently hedge the price of our expected natural 
gas purchases at our Turkish facilities. With effect from the 2022 contract year, we have the ability to pass on increased 
energy costs to substantially all of our customers, in particular with respect to natural gas, because all of our contracted 
sales by volume for 2022 are indexed to the Turkish Natural Gas Price Index and, during the first five months of 2022, 
we have been able to pass natural gas price increases on to substantially all of our customers by increasing the sales 
prices for soda ash, albeit with certain time lags given the rapidly increasing natural gas prices. Whilst our production 
costs increase as natural gas prices increase, this increase will be less per mt of production than our competitors, 
particularly synthetic producers based in Europe, due to the lower energy intensity of our production process and, as 
a result, we expect to improve our competitive position and profitability, as the majority of any gas price increase is 
expected to be passed on to our customers by increasing the sales price of soda ash. 
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Future Developments (continued) 

Gas supply and cost (continued) 
To reduce our reliance on natural gas supplies in the short term, we are replacing the burner systems of our DFSB 
back-up steam boilers at Kazan Soda so that they can be dual-fuelled, with either natural gas or diesel. This is expected 
to be completed during the fourth quarter of 2022 at a total cost of approximately USD1.5 million. To further mitigate 
our reliance on natural gas at Kazan Soda in the medium term, we have also applied for the necessary permits and 
have signed an EPC contract with TCC for the construction of two backup coal-fired steam boilers at an estimated 
combined cost of approximately USD80.0 million, which will be able to provide all the steam required for the Kazan 
Soda facility, and which, if the permits are granted, are expected to be completed and commissioned during 2025. The 
investment in these two additional coal-powered steam boilers will allow us to mitigate potential negative effects of 
rising natural gas prices or disruptions in natural gas supply and, if required, could reduce, or even eliminate, our 
natural gas procurement needs, including with respect to all the new units currently being constructed or planned. 
Please refer to Note 2.2 Basis of preparation ʹ 'ŽŝŶŐ�ĐŽŶĐĞƌŶ�ĨŽƌ�ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ�ĨŽƌ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚƐ͛�ƐĞŶƐŝƚŝǀŝƚǇ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ŽŶ�
ƚŚĞ�ĞĨĨĞĐƚ�ŽĨ�ŐĂƐ�ƉƌŝĐĞƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ͘ 
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Financial and Operational Highlights  

 Units 2021 2020 
Income statement    

Sales volume:    
Soda ash mt 4,439,237 3,920,131 
Sodium bicarbonate mt 395,611 396,918 
    
Sales price:    
Soda ash USD per mt 169.65 171.54 
Sodium bicarbonate USD per mt 187.02 194.00 
    
Cost of sales:    
Soda ash USD per mt 99.28 95.10 
Sodium bicarbonate USD per mt 115.03 107.29 
    
Revenue USD million 892.1 805.6 
Profit/(loss) before taxation USD million 214.8 (16.7) 
Taxation (credit) USD million 69.7 202.9 
    

Balance sheet    
Total assets USD million 2,729.2 4,909.3 
Cash and cash equivalents USD million 14.5 21.9 
Short and long-term financial liabilities USD million 1,827.3 2,520.3 
Total non-current liabilities USD million 1,584.9 1,195.5 
Net debt (please refer to Note 4 (a) Capital Risk Management) USD million 1,778.6 2,532.7 
    

Cash flow statement    
Cash generated from operations USD million 295.3 363.7 
    

 
Income statement  
dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ǇĞĂƌ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚĞĚ�ƚŽ�Ă�ƚŽƚĂů�ŽĨ�h^�ϴϵϮ͘ϭ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�;ϮϬϮϬ͗�h^�ϴϬϱ͘ϲ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶͿ�ǁŝƚŚ�ĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƚŝŽŶƐ�
from the two operating subsidiaries comprising of: Eti Soda (2021: USD347.0 million, 2020: USD325.1 million), Kazan 
Soda (2021: USD545.1 million, 2020: USD480.5 million). The increase was primarily due to a recovery in demand for 
our products following a COVID 19 driven production slowdown in YE 2020, partially offset by lower achieved netback 
prices, as YE 2020 price reductions impacted contract prices for delivery in YE 2021. Our total soda ash production 
volume in YE 2021 increased by 16% compared to YE2020, from 3.9 million mt per day to 4.4 million mt per day, 
equivalent to 10,533 mt per day to to 12,212 mt per day. Production volume of sodium bicarbonate remained broadly 
flat during YE 2021 at 0.4 million mt per annum, equivalent to 1,081 mt per day. Domestic sales increased to USD211.3 
million in YE 2021 from USD189.0 million in YE 2020. Export sales increased to USD680.8 million in YE 2021 from 
USD616.5 million in YE 2020. 

In YE 2021, Eti Soda produced and sold 1.9 million mt of soda ash and sodium bicarbonate, generating USD347.0 million 
in total revenues compared to 1.8 million mt of soda ash and sodium bicarbonate in YE 2020, generating USD325.1 
million in total revenues. This increase was primarily due to an increase in production and sales volume, offset partially 
by a decrease in sales prices. 
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Income statement (continued) 
In YE 2021, Kazan Soda produced and sold 2.9 million mt of soda ash and sodium bicarbonate, generating USD545.1 
million in total revenues (including electricity sales) compared to 2.6 million mt of soda ash and sodium bicarbonate 
in YE 2020, generating USD480.5 million in total revenues (including electricity sales). This increase was primarily due 
to an increase in soda ash production and sales volumes, offset slightly by a decrease in sales prices. Revenue was 
further impacted by a 13.9% increase in electricity sales resulting from a 42.3% increase in average unit sales prices 
for electricity. 

Average soda ash prices had decreased by 1% from USD171.54 per mt to average of USD169.65 per mt in 2021. 
Average price of sodium bicarbonate had decreased by 4% from USD194.00 per mt to USD187.02 per mt in 2021. The 
lower prices in 2021 against 2020 is mainly due lower spot prices and renegotiated contract prices for soda ash and 
sodium bicarbonate during YE 2020 which impacted the pricing of contracts for 2021 deliveries. The significant 
increase in total sales volume together with the marginal decrease in average price of soda price contributed to the 
increased of annual revenue by USD86.5 million (11%) 2020. 

Profit before tax had increased by USD231.5 million from a loss before tax of USD16.7 to a profit position of USD214.8 
million. This was mainly driven by increased in revenue mentioned above and increase in net other operating income 
by USSD118.9 million and a decrease in net finance expense of USD92.0 million. These were offset by the increase in 
cost of sales of USD61.4 million. 
 
Balance sheet 
The decrease in cash & cash equivalents was a net result of current year operations and the extensive loan repayment 
made towards the year-end of 2021. 

Net debt of the Group was mainly bank borrowings (99%) and leases (1%) contributing USD1,778.6 million (2020: 
h^�Ϯ͕ϱϯϮ͘ϳ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶͿ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ total liabilities. Decrease in net debt of USD754.1 million is mainly contributed by 
the settlement of outstanding bank borrowings in the course of the year. The Group had sold 60% of its investments 
in Sisecam Chemicals Resources, raising USD300.0 million, which proceeds were duly applied the WE Soda Facilities 
Agreement (USD157.0 million) and Project Finance Loan of Kazan Soda (USD151.0 million) in addition to regular 
quarterly scheduled repayments. 

Cash flows 

Net gain of funds for the Group is mainly contributed by sales of soda ash and sodium bicarbonate and by bank 
borrowings and finance leases recognised within Short & long-term financial liabilities mentioned above. During the 
ǇĞĂƌ͕� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞ� ĐĂƐŚ� ŐĞŶĞƌĂƚĞĚ� ĨƌŽŵ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ� ŚĂƐ� ĚĞĐƌĞĂƐĞĚ�ďy USD69.9 million from USD363.7 to 
USD293.8 million. Our cash generated from operating activities decreased from USD354.4 million in YE 2020 to 
USD231.6 million in YE 2021, primarily due to an increase in tax payments and due to negative movements in working 
capital, partially offset by an increase in our total profit for YE 2021 due to higher sales volumes compared to the prior 
period. Our cash used in investing activities changed from an outflow of USD249.9 million in YE 2020 to an inflow of 
USD149.6 million in YE 2021. This change was primarily due to the purchase of assets in the amount of USD87.3 million 
(YE 2020: USD39.9 million) and a net collection of borrowings from related parties of USD234.8 million (YE 2020: 
USD224.4 million net decrease) and cash inflows in connection with the disposal of our 60% interest in Sisecam 
Chemicals Resources to Sisecam (USD297.4 million net of cost). 

Our cash used in financing activities during YE 2021 increased to an outflow of USD364.3 million, compared to an 
outflow of USD190.2 million during YE 2020. This change was primarily due to repayment of borrowings of USD459.9 
million (YE 2020: USD57.4 million) and payment of interest of USD95.0 million (YE 2020: USD101.0 million). 
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Effective risk management is essential if the Group is to deliver upon its strategic and operational objectives. The 
ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ�ƌŝƐŬƐ�ĂƌĞ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞĚ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ƚĞĂŵ͗ 

Risk Description of Risk Response to Risk 
Funding භ )DLOXUH� WR� IRUHFDVW� DQG� ZRUN� ZLWKLQ� WKH� *URXS¶V�

financial structure could impact liquidity and lead to 
an inability to deliver the business plan. 

භ Revenue, profitability and cash flows concentrated in 
a small number of production facilities 

භ Inability to access external funding. 
භ Failure to meet strict covenants on facilities. 

භ Regular review of cash flow, working capital and funding 
options, and prudent approach to budgeting and planning, to 
ensure sufficient capital to meet commitments. 

භ Diversify the sources of funding and apply prudent levels of 
debt to development and production activities. 

භ Proactively engaging with its lenders and potential investors in 
order to maintain balanced debt to equity ratio going forward. 

Debt 
financing 

භ Non-compliance with conditions and covenant 
requirements of its debt agreements which could lead 
to events of default. In 2020, the Group did not 
comply with certain terms stipulated by the Facilities 
Agreement. See Note 2.2 Basis of preparation ± 
Going concern for information 

භ Failure to obtain debt financing for operations and 
projects could delay and impede financial decision 
making. 

භ Contingency planning and preparedness to change the course of 
action as situations change. 

භ Seek more favourable debt arrangements to allow the Group 
more financial flexibility, provide greater liquidity and reduce 
borrowing costs. In this respect, on 10 February 2022 the Group 
secured a new Term Facility (see Note 4 Financial risk 
management) replacing the Facilities Agreement and the net 
proceeds from the 2021 Strategic Transactions allowed the 
Group to reduce the outstanding principal borrowing amount of 
USD1,156 million (as of 31 December 2020). 

Product price භ The Group is reliant on the sales revenue of its 
sodium-based products. A decrease in soda ash and 
sodium bicarbonate prices (>95% of group revenue) 
can lead to loss of value and have an adverse effect on 
revenue, margins, profitability, mining reserves and 
cash flow. 

භ The Group manages product price-related risk by maintaining 
stable multi-year customer relationships with prices generally 
fixed on a 1 year forward basis. 

භ Low-cost operations from solution-extraction deliver 
substantial operating margins for the Group, reducing the 
impact of product price fluctuations. 

Logistic costs භ Increase in transportation and sea freight costs can 
DIIHFW�WKH�UHVXOWV�RI�WKH�*URXS¶V�RSHUDWLRQV� 

භ Costs and risk related with the transportation and delivery of 
products are monitored constantly to reduce risk and promote 
sustainability. 

භ Migration of higher-risk contracts from CFA / CIF to FOB and 
use of time-chartered vessels, to mitigate sea freight risk 

Compliance Ethical wrongdoing and non-compliance or failure to 
accurately report data can lead to: 
භ Litigation against the Group which could materially 

LPSDFW�WKH�*URXS¶V�RSHUDWLRQV�DQG�VWUDWHJ\� 
භ Reputational damage leading to withdrawal of support 

by governments, regulators or and lenders. 
භ Litigation and/or regulatory action leading to 

penalties and disruption from investigation leading to 
unplanned business impact; and 

භ Loss of assets, projects or access to markets. 

භ Top-GRZQ�OHDGHUVKLS�DQG�UHLQIRUFHPHQW�RI�WKH�*URXS¶V�YDOXHV� 
භ Due diligence is carried out on all counterparties as part of 

contract management. 
භ A strong Code of Conduct that all employees and contractors 

are expected to follow. 
භ Compliance controls and actions implemented by management. 

Brexit භ 7KH�8QLWHG�.LQJGRP��³8.´��(XURSHDQ�8QLRQ��³(8´��
membership referendum took place on 23 June 2016 
where it was decided that the UK would leave the EU 
in March 2019.  

භ As of 1 January 2021, UK had officially exited the 
EU.  

භ Although a deal has been struck between the UK and 
the EU, it is anticipated that various changes to 
legislation and trade treaties will take place between 
the parties for years to come which may result in a 
significant change in the relationship between the UK 
and the EU which may have adverse political and 
HFRQRPLF�LPSDFW�WR�WKH�*URXS¶V�RSHUDWLRQV�LQ�WKH�8.� 

භ Although the Company is registered and headquartered in the 
8.�� WKH� *URXS¶V� PDLQ� SURGXFWLRQ� RSHUDWLRQV� DUH� ORFDWHG� LQ�
Turkey and USA and the Group has only limited reliance on 
trade with the UK. 

භ Since 1 January 2021, we are not aware of any significant 
changes that would affect the group materially both to our 
financial position nor to how we operate. As more details 
emerge on how business in the UK may need to change after 
Brexit, the assumptions underlying supply-demand forecasts 
and pricing could change, but over the medium-longer term, 
management believes that Brexit will not have a material impact 
on the business. 
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Risk Description of risk Response to risk 
Information 
technology 

The Group is reliant on IT in its day-to-day operations 
and as such is faced with a number of IT-related risks 
including:  
භ General threats to IT systems and data include 

hardware and software failure, malwares and viruses, 
spam, scams and phishing and human error. 

භ Criminal IT threats including fraud, security breaches, 
data theft, denial-of-services and staff dishonestly. 

භ Business continuity planning by having multiple offsite backups 
of information data. 

භ Training of staff in proper usage and safeguarding of data. 
භ Enforcement of IT risk management policies and procedures. 
භ Putting in place safeguards to protect data, i.e., password policy, 

antivirus/malware applications, limiting access to servers, 
limiting access to hardware. 

OHS and 
ESG 
compliance 

භ Mineral extraction and processing operations, 
decommissioning activities and everyday usage of 
equipment may cause loss of equipment integrity, 
fires, explosions and pollution.  

භ A major health, safety or environmental incident may 
lead to loss of life, loss of reputation, loss of 
production and revenue as well as additional costs and 
liabilities. 

 

භ Adherence to laws, policies and internal procedures 
භ Regular maintenance and prevention activities.  
භ Protocols in case of an incident to ensure the impact is 

minimised and investigation to understand their causes with 
lessons-learned shared and communicated throughout the 
Group. 

භ 0RQLWRULQJ�RI�VDIHW\�LQFLGHQWV�WR�PHDVXUH�WKH�*URXS¶V�OHS and 
ESG performance and identify trends/issues to be addressed. 

භ Consult with our employees on matters affecting their health 
and safety. 

භ Ensure all employees are competent to do their tasks by 
providing training, information and supervision. 

Foreign 
exchange 
fluctuation 

භ The Group operates in the USA and Turkey. Since 
2018 the Turkish Lira has depreciated against most 
currencies 

භ $� ODUJH� SRUWLRQ� RI� WKH� *URXS¶V� ORDQ� IDFLOLW\� LV� LQ�
EUROs and may contribute to higher principal and 
interest repayment if the Euro moves unfavourably 
against the USD 

භ The majority of the Turkish sales and purchase contracts are in 
either the EURO or USD, significantly minimising the exposure 
to the Turkish Lira. The only significant costs in Turkish Lira 
are in relation to general overheads that that is relatively 
insignificant to the production cost of the Turkish operations. 
Management continues to ensure when possible that risk is 
minimised by contracting in either the EURO or the USD to 
mitigate against the volatility of the LIRA. 

භ A large percentage of our cash inflow from operations in Turkey 
is in the EURO, any fluctuation of the EURO in relation to the 
loan facility can be met by our EURO income generated in 
Turkey.  

Local laws 
and 
regulations 

The Group operates in the UK, Turkey and the USA, 
requiring compliance with local laws and regulations 
stipulated by the 3 jurisdictions. Non-compliance would 
LPSHGH�WKH�*URXS¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�WR�RSHUDWH�RU�EH�
VXEMHFW�WR�ILQHV�DQG�SHQDOWLHV�DQG�GDPDJH�WR�WKH�*URXS¶V�
reputation or credit rating 

Specific expertise is required to ensure compliance with local laws 
and regulations. The Group ensures this by: 
භ Employing employees with the requisite experience and 

expertise  
භ Consulting with external experts where there is ambiguity or 

new laws and regulations that need to be addressed. 
භ In June 2021, management initiated a global due diligence 

project to look at its tax compliance 

Hyperinflatio
n economy 

භ Turkey has historically experienced, and continues to 
experience, substantial inflationary pressures, which 
presents one of the most significant problems faced by 
the Turkish economy. 

භ 7XUNH\¶V� HFRQRP\� KDV� EHHQ�� DQG� FRQWLQXHV� WR� EH��
subject to significant inflationary pressures in the past 
and may become subject to further significant 
pressures in the future, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

භ Our operations in Turkey contracts its sales revenue only in 
either EUR or USD, whilst our cost is split between Turkish Lira 
denominated costs and other currencies 

භ Financially, the devaluation of the Turkish Lira in the course of 
the 2021 had reduced our USD cost base in Kazan Soda and Eti 
Soda. 

භ However, Management is cautious of the effect of 
hyperinflation to the wider Turkish economy and its effect on 
the Turkish people and its socio-political implications. 
Management will continue to monitor how the economy 
progresses in 2022 

භ Hyperinflation is indicated by factors such as prices, interest and 
wages linked to a price index, and cumulative inflation over 
three years of around 100 per cent or more.       

Geopolitical / 
Political 

භ 7KH�*URXS¶V�RSHUDWLRQV�DUH� ORFDWHG� LQ�86$��7XUNH\�
and United Kingdom, whilst its customer base is 
spread across the globe. 

භ Each of the countries that the Group operate in and 
supply to have their respective internal and external 
geopolitical tension that may affect the operations of 

භ Management consider USA, Turkey and United Kingdom as 
relatively stable countries for corporations to operate in with no 
major imminent political disruption/volatility, internally or with 
its neighbouring countries. 

භ As our customer base is spread across the globe, management is 
of the opinion that any disruption to political relations amongst 
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Risk Description of risk Response to risk 
the Group. Any other geopolitical tension across the 
globe, although not directly linked to our operations, 
may still have implications to how we operate. 

භ The risk of any disruption to political relations 
DPRQJVW� QDWLRQV�PD\� LPSDFW� WKH� *URXS¶V� DELOLW\� WR�
operate in those countries or to trade with certain 
countries if the disruptions would result in unrest, 
embargos or/and sanctions. 

භ WE Soda sells its products to over 70 countries around 
the world in every region and, as a result, is exposed 
to a variety of geo-political and macro-economic 
uncertainties. 

භ The Group operates in Turkey with two entities which 
produce approximately 65% of its total production 
volume and bears the risk of operating in a country 
with higher levels of economic and political 
uncertainty. 

nations that we supply to would have short-term impact as we 
adjust to the new customer base in reallocating sales volumes to 
current/new customers. In the middle and long term, there will 
be marginal impact to our operations. 

In this respect: 
භ The Group monitors and seeks to understand changes taking 

place in Turkey and its neighbourhood although it is often hard 
to forecast the timing and impact of such political events. 

භ The Group works to the highest industry standards with local 
regulators, closely monLWRULQJ� FRPSOLDQFH� ZLWK� WKH� *URXS¶V�
license obligations. 

භ The Group maintains positive relationships with all key 
stakeholders in Turkey and the USA. 

භ Appropriate legal agreements are in place or altered, if 
QHFHVVDU\��WR�SURWHFW�WKH�*URXS¶V�LQWHUHVWV� 

s 

Additional detail on financial risks is set out in Note 4 Financial risk management to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ�ŽďũĞĐƚŝǀĞƐ�ĂƌĞ͗ 

Growth & Profitability HSEC & ESG 
භ Increase profits by increasing production and reducing unit operating costs, 

emissions and waste. 
භ Pursue sales and marketing strategies to maximise multi-year netback pricing. 
භ Expand customer network in higher-value and high growth industries (e.g., lithium 

carbonate). 
භ Identify and access additional trona resources that can be developed at attractive 

returns. 
භ Pursue commercial opportunities including optimising risk management and cost 

of logistics, shipping and distribution, extracting value from ESG-led sales and 
evaluating alternative contractual structures with core customers. 

Relentless focus on further improving: 
භ OHS performance. 
භ ESG performance, further improving emissions, 

water and waste performance, systematic 
documentation and certification. 

භ Supporting, investing in and developing our people. 
භ Supporting and investing in the communities in which 

we operate. 

 

<W/Ɛ�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ�ĂŶ�ŝůůƵƐƚƌĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ĂďŝůŝƚǇ�ƚŽ�ƐƵĐĐĞƐƐĨƵůůǇ�ĚĞůŝǀĞƌ�ĂŐĂŝŶƐƚ�ŽƵƌ�ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ�ŽďũĞĐƚŝǀĞƐ͗ 
Objective Growth & Profitability 

KPI Production Volume 
(mt per day) 

Cost of Sales 
(USD per mt) 

Logistics & Transport Expenses 
(USD per mt) 

Operating cash flow 
(USD millions) 

2020 
 

Soda ash 10,533 
Sodium bicarb 1,053 

 

 
Soda ash 95.10  
Sodium bicarb 107.29 

 

21.32 367.7 

2021 
 

Soda ash 12,212 
Sodium bicarb 1,081 

 

 
Soda ash 99.28  
Sodium bicarb 115.03 

 

27.39 295.3 

Definition 

The average daily production 
ĨƌŽŵ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐŝŶŐ�
assets. 

The average cost to produce a 
tonne of soda ash/sodium 
bicarbonate, including 
amortisation and depreciation 
expenses. 

The average logistics and 
transportation cost per mt of soda 
ash/sodium bicarbonate, including 
port expenses, to deliver product 
from our production plant to the 
delivery destination  

The total operating free 
cash flow that is 
generated from our 
operations. 

Relevance 

Production volumes is a key 
ĚƌŝǀĞƌ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ�
and its performance. 

The lower the production cost 
the greater the operating profit 
and cash flow per mt.  

The lower the logistic cost the 
greater the operating profit and 
cash flow per tonne. 

The greater the 
operating cash flow the 
more cash is available to 
fund operations. 

Risk 
Management 

Diversifying the production 
base; ensuring robust 
maintenance to ensure high 
levels of utilisation. 

Continuous focus on plant 
optimisation, extensive 
planning and cost engineering 
with experienced resources. 

The Group continues to monitor 
and optimise its delivery format to 
maximise profitability whilst 
appropriately managing risk.  

The Group continues to 
monitor its cost 
structure and sales 
prices to maximise cash 
flow. 
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Objective OHS & ESG 

KPI 
Lost Time Injuries 

(Frequency per million-
man hours) 

Carbon Emissions 
(mt CO2 per mt soda ash) 

Sustainability Certification 
(Ecovadis) 

Ethical Trading 
Membership 

(Sedex) 

2020 59 

Eti Soda 0.36 Kazan Soda Silver 

All sites were members Kazan Soda 0.34 Ciner Wyoming Silver 

Ciner Wyoming 0.55 Eti Soda Silver 

2021 40 
Eti Soda1 0.35 Eti Soda Gold 

All sites were members 
Kazan Soda1 0.33 Kazan Soda Silver 

Definition 

A work-related injury that 
results in the individual 
being unable to work. 

The quantity of CO2 that is 
produced per mt of soda ash 
production (Scope 1&2). 

Independent certification to 
measure business sustainability 

Independent certification 
to measure the ethical 
trading standards of our 
business. 

Relevance 

Metric used to provide 
guidance as to the 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�,^���
performance. 

A key measure of environmental 
impact and for benchmarking vs. 
peers. 

Increasingly important for our 
customers and other stakeholders. 

Certification increasingly 
important for our 
customers and other 
stakeholders. 

Risk 
Management 

The Group targets zero 
Lost Time Injuries every 
year and has an active 
HSEC plan to help try to 
achieve this. 

The Group aims to continually 
reduce its Scope 1, 2 & 3 Carbon 
emissions and has a plan to do 
this. 

The Group will be certified each year 
and has a plan to continually 
improve its ranking. 

The Group will be 
certified each year and 
has a plan to continually 
improve its compliance 
procedures. 

 
Note1  - unverified by British Standards Institution as at date of the signing of the financial statement. 
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Under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006, a director of a company must act in the way he or she considers, in 
good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole, 
and in doing so have regard to the:  

භ Likely consequences of any decision in the long-term, 
භ /ŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞƐ͕ 
භ EĞĞĚ�ƚŽ�ĨŽƐƚĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�ƌĞůĂƚŝŽŶƐŚŝƉƐ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƐƵƉƉůŝĞƌƐ͕�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŽƚŚĞƌƐ͕ 
භ /ŵƉĂĐƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�ĞŶǀironment, 
භ Desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and 
භ Need to act fairly as between members of the company.  

In this regard, the Directors identify: 

Strategy and consideration of the likely consequences of decisions for the long-term 
dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ� ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ�ĂŝŵƐ� ƚŽ�ŐƌŽǁ�ƚŚĞ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�ŽƌŐĂŶŝĐĂůůǇ͕� ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ� ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚ� ŝŶ�ĂŶĚ�ĞǆƉĂŶƐŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ŽƵƌ�
existing assets and through the acquisition of and development of further trona mining licences. As the Group executes 
ŝƚƐ� ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ͕� ƚŚĞ�ŶƵŵďĞƌ�ŽĨ� ƐƚĂŬĞŚŽůĚĞƌƐ� ŝƐ� ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐŝŶŐ͗� dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ƐŚĂƌĞŚŽůĚĞƌ͕� ĨŝŶĂŶĐĞ�ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ͕� ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞƐ͕� ƚŚĞ�
communities in which we operate, our distributors, suppliers and customers. As a consequence, the Directors 
acknowledge that the broader strategy must include safeguarding the interests of all stakeholders. To that end, as the 
Board of Directors, it is our intention to ensure that management and employees operate the business in a responsible 
and sustainable manner, according to the highest standards of conduct and governance. 

Key issues 
The key issues for the Group are those factors which affect the prospects and risks to the business and, in turn, the 
stakeholders. Those areas of particular significance during 2021 have been a focus on the financing of the Group      and 
ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐŽŵŵŝƚŵĞŶƚƐ�ƚŽ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ƌĞƐƉŽŶƐŝďůǇ�ǁŝƚŚ�Ă�ƉĂƌƚŝĐƵůĂƌ�ĨŽĐƵƐ�ŽŶ�ĞŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŽĐŝĂů�ŝŵƉĂĐƚ͘� 

Methods of stakeholder engagement 
Kew Soda builds positive relationships with all of its stakeholder groups, ensuring they are kept current with the 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͕�ĞŶĂďůŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞŵ�ƚŽ�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ�ĨĞĞĚďĂĐŬ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽŶ�Ă�ƌĞŐƵůĂƌ�ďĂƐŝƐ͘�dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƵƐĞƐ�ǀĂƌŝŽƵƐ�
channels and platforms such as electronic communication, its corporate website, social media, satisfaction surveys, 
visits to and audits of its facilities, engagement with employees, suppliers, distributors, customers, local government 
and the populations around its sites, public organisations and many others.  

Shareholder: The management team communicate regularly with the shareholder in face-to-face meetings, phone 
calls, via telephone messaging services and through various forms of written communication. 

Employees: The Board and management engage with employees through committee meetings, internal e-mails, notice 
ďŽĂƌĚ�ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝĐĂƚŝŽŶ͕�<ĂŝǌĞŶ�ŐƌŽƵƉƐ͕�ƐƚĂĨĨ�ƚƌĂŝŶŝŶŐ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŽĐŝĂů�ĞǀĞŶƚƐ͘��ƚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ͕�ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞ�
representatives are elected by the employees annually and the representatives are actively involved in committees 
established to deal with personnel-related matters, liaising with management on behalf of employees to communicate 
views and grievances and updating employees on the economic performance of the business. In the US, employee 
ŝŶǀŽůǀĞŵĞŶƚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ͛�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�ŝƐ�ĞŶĐŽƵƌĂŐĞĚ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ�ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞ�ŝŶĐĞŶƚŝǀĞ�ƉůĂŶƐ�ĂŶĚ�ďĞŶĞĨŝƚƐ͘�dĂůĞŶƚ�
ƌĞƚĞŶƚŝŽŶ�ĂŶĚ�ĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ�ŝƐ�ĐƌŝƚŝĐĂů�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ŝƚ�ǁŝůů�ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞ�ƚŽ�ďĞ�ƉĂƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛s core 
philosophy. 
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Methods of stakeholder engagement (continued) 
Suppliers: Annual supplier events are held at which suppliers are trained on topics such as mutual sustainable 
development goals and allows business partners to become involved in some of the key decision-making processes of 
the Group. The Group also visits suppliers, carries out audits and attends industry conferences. 

Customers: dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌ�ƌĞůĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ƚĞĂŵƐ�ĐĂƌƌǇ�ŽƵƚ�ĂŶŶƵĂů�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌ�ƐĂƚŝƐĨĂĐƚŝŽŶ�ƐƵƌǀĞǇƐ�ǁŚŝĐŚ are evaluated, 
and improvements are made where needed. Enquiries and complaints are handled promptly and effectively to ensure 
customer satisfaction. Personnel from a range of departments attend annual conferences where customers and 
manufacturers meet to discuss industry trends and give presentations on a range of topics. 

Other Stakeholder Groups: Management hold group or one-to-one meetings with leaders from government, local 
communities and public organisations. Internships, career days and conferences enable us to build links and 
relationships with future talent, universities and invite expert input from industry professionals. 

Examples of stakeholder considerations in certain key Board decisions during the year 

In discharging its duties, the Board considers the views of its stakeholders alongside information pertaining to key 
areas such as strategy, risk and legal and regulatory compliance. The Board considers the following to be the key 
decisions and considerations it has made during the year to 31 December 2021:  

Board Decision Considerations 

Finance & Treasury 
Transformation 
 

ͻ The business underwent a programme of finance transformation in 2021, with specific focus on 
implementing the recommended Treasury controls and management. 

ͻ &,'7�DFWV�DV�DQ�DJHQW�IRU�DOO�H[SRUW�VDOHV�IRU�WKH�*URXS¶V�7XUNLVK�RSHUDWLRQV��,Q�-XQH�������&,'7�DQG�
Soda World Ltd entered into a reseller agreement, appointing Soda World Ltd as exclusive reseller to 
CIDT for export distributors and export customers. In January 2022, Soda World Ltd was acquired by the 
Group, allow the Group greater oversight over its cash flow and debt collection. 

Operating 
Responsibly/ESG 
 

ͻ Environmental, social and governance �³(6*´��LPSDFW�LV�D�PDMRU�DUHD�RI�IRFXV�LPSDFWLQJ a wide range of 
stakeholders including employees, suppliers, customers, local communities and governments. 

ͻ Increasingly, our customers and other stakeholders require us to provide third party verification of our 
ESG performance and credentials. 

ͻ CommitmentV�ZHUH�PDGH�GXULQJ�������ZKLFK�IRUPDOO\�UHFRJQLVHG�WKH�*URXS¶V�VHFWRU�OHDGLQJ�
environmental position and set new goals to further improve ESG performance. 

ͻ EcoVadis, a leading global sustainability platform, assessed all three production sites and awarded each a 
silver medal, placing the Group in the top quartile of all companies in comparable sectors.  

ͻ All of our production sites are now members of Sedex, an ethical trading platform to manage and improve 
working conditions in global supply chains. 

ͻ The Group¶V�SURGXFWLRQ�VLWHV�KDYH�EHHQ�VXEMHFW�WR�YDULRXV�DXGLWV�DQG�LQVSHFWLRQV��JDLQLQJ�FHUWLILFDWLRQ�LQ�
environmental product declaration and carbon disclosure from EDP and CDP 

ͻ Eti Soda published its 2019 & 2020 sustainability report in 2021  

 
This Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Directors, and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
Ahmet Tohma   DĞŚŵĞƚ��ůŝ��ƌĚŽŒĂŶ  
Director   Director  
30 May 2022   30 May 2022  
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The Directors present their report together with the audited Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements 
of Kew Soda Ltd (the Company or Parent Company / together with its subsidiaries referred to as the Group) for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. 

Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Group, which are intended to continue into the future, are mining for and processing of 
trona to produce sodium carbonate (soda ash) and sodium bicarbonate, which are essential raw materials used in the 
manufacture of glass, dry powder soaps and detergents, chemicals, EV batteries, paper and other consumer and 
industrial products. The Company is focused on building a portfolio of assets in the global soda ash business. The Group 
operates through a number of subsidiaries, which are set out in Note 31 Group companies to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Future developments within the Group 
The Strategic report commencing on page 2 contains details of likely future developments within the Group. 

Directors 

The Directors who served in office during the financial year and subsequently to the date of signing, except as noted, 
were as follows: 

DĞŚŵĞƚ��ůŝ��ƌĚŽŒĂŶ 
7ŬďĂů��ŝĚĞŵ��ŝŶĞƌ 
'ƺƌƐĞů�hƐƚĂ   - appointed on 18 May 2022 
Alasdair John Warren - appointed on 18 May 2022 
Ahmet Tohma  - appointed on 18 May 2022 
 

Support for Directors 

The Board has adopted a policy whereby Directors may in the furtherance of their duties; seek independent 
ƉƌŽĨĞƐƐŝŽŶĂů�ĂĚǀŝĐĞ�Ăƚ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĞǆƉĞŶƐĞ͘��ĂĐŚ��ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌ�ŚĂƐ�ƚŚĞ�ďĞŶĞĨŝƚ�ŽĨ�Ă�ĚĞĞĚ�ŽĨ�ŝŶĚĞŵŶŝƚǇ�ĨƌŽŵ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ�
in respect of claims made and liabilities incurred, in either case arising out of the bona fide discharge by the Director 
of his or her duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the 
Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for 
the benefit of its directors which were made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report. 

Results and dividends 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as set out in the financial statements 
section of this report. The GƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�ĂĨƚĞƌ�ƚĂǆ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ǇĞĂƌ�ǁĂƐ�h^�356.3 million out of which USD302.8 million 
attributable to owners of the company (2020: profit of USD164.8 million out of which USD132.3 million attributable 
to owners of the company). 

During 2021, no ordinary dividends were declared and paid (2020: nil). The Directors do not recommend the payment 
of any further final dividend for the year (2020: nil). 

Disabled employees 

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the requirements of 
ƚŚĞ�ũŽď�ĐĂŶ�ďĞ�ĂĚĞƋƵĂƚĞůǇ�ĨƵůĨŝůůĞĚ�ďǇ�ƐƵĐŚ�ƉĞƌƐŽŶƐ͘�^ŚŽƵůĚ�ĂŶ�ĞǆŝƐƚŝŶŐ�ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞ�ďĞĐŽŵĞ�ĚŝƐĂďůĞĚ͕�ŝƚ�ŝƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide 
training and career development and promotion. The Group also comply with local regulations where operational 
activities conducted with regards to hiring disabled persons. The Group employs 31 disabled persons as at 31 
December 2021 (2020: 32 disabled persons).
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Donations 

During the year the Group contributed USD0.6 million (2020: USD0.7 million) to charitable causes and did not make 
any political donations. 

Branch outside the UK 

In 2018, the Group established a representative office in Beijing, China to develop relationships with the market and 
finance institutions in China. 

Statement of corporate governance arrangement  

The Board comprises the five directors that sits on the board of directors of its subsidiary, WE Soda Ltd. Leveraging on 
this relationship between Kew Soda Ltd and WE Soda Ltd, the Directors rely on the structure and expertise of the 
board of directors of WE Soda Ltd and oversee the decision making process of the subsidiaries of Kew Soda Ltd. For 
the year ended 31 December 2021, under The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, WE Soda Ltd 
has applied the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (the Wates Principles) (published 
by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) in December 2018 and available on the FRC website). For further details on 
the corporate governance arrangement adopted by WE Soda Ltd, please refer to its Annual Report and Financial 
Statements available at 23 College Hill, London, EC4R 2RP, United Kingdom. 

Auditors 

Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that as far as each Director is 
ĂǁĂƌĞ͕�ƚŚĞƌĞ�ŝƐ�ŶŽ�ƌĞůĞǀĂŶƚ�ĂƵĚŝƚ�ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂŶĚ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇΖƐ��ƵĚŝƚŽƌƐ are unaware. In addition, 
each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any 
ƌĞůĞǀĂŶƚ�ĂƵĚŝƚ�ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ�ĂŶĚ�ƚŽ�ĞƐƚĂďůŝƐŚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂŶĚ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇΖƐ��ƵĚŝƚŽƌƐ�ĂƌĞ�ĂǁĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝon. 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept reappointment. The directors 
shall propose a resolution to reappoint them subsequent to approval of the financial statements.  

Financial instruments 

Information on the use of financial instruments by the Group and its management of financial risk is disclosed in Note 
4 Financial risk management ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ͘�/Ŷ�ƉĂƌƚŝĐƵůĂƌ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƐ�ƚŽ�ƉƌŝĐĞ�ƌŝƐŬ͕�ĐƌĞĚŝƚ�ƌŝƐŬ�
and liquidity risk are separately disclosed in that note. 

Going concern 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͕�ƚŽŐĞƚŚĞƌ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�ĨĂĐƚŽƌƐ� ůŝŬĞůǇ�ƚŽ�ĂĨĨĞĐƚ� ŝƚƐ� ĨƵƚƵƌĞ�ĚĞvelopment, performance and 
position are set out above. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities 
are described in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, Note 2 Significant accounting policies, to the 
ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽďũĞĐƚŝǀĞƐ͕�ƉŽůŝĐŝĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐĞƐ�ĨŽƌ�ŵĂŶĂŐŝŶŐ�ŝƚƐ�ĐĂƉŝƚĂů͖�ŝƚƐ�
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments; and its exposure to foreign exchange, interest 
rate, credit and liquidity risks. 

The Group is funded by bank borrowings as set out in Note 26 Borrowings. 
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Going concern (continued) 

2021 was a challenging year for the Group, recovering from the initial onslaught of COVID-19 by Q3 2020, yet faced 
with depressed prices and volumes relative to pre-COVID-19 all thru 2021. To ensure that the Group would be able 
continue as a going concern, on 21 December 2021, the Company completed the sale of 60% of its controlling interest 
in wholly owned subsidiary Sisecam Chemicals Resources to Sisecam for the consideration of USD300 million. (See 
Note 2.2 Basis of preparation ʹ Going concern for full disclosure). The proceeds from the sale were used to repay USD 
157 million of the WE Soda Facilities Agreement and USD 151 million of Project Finance Loan of Kazan Soda. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash of USD14.5 million (including restricted cash of USD64.8 million), net 
current liabilities of USD305.1 million and net assets of USD532.3 million and traded profitably as at 31 December 
2021. As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group, is well placed to manage its business risks successfully. 

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
financial resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Post balance sheet events 

Original Facilities Agreement & New Senior Facilities Agreement  

KŶ�ϭϰ�&ĞďƌƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ�;ƚŚĞ�͞�ůŽƐŝŶŐ��ĂƚĞ͟Ϳ͕�ƚŚĞ�KƌŝŐŝŶĂů�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ǁĂƐ�ƌĞƐĐŝŶĚĞĚ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƉůĂĐĞĚ�ďǇ�the Senior 
Facilities Agreement dated 10 February 2022. In particular, the Original Facilities were refinanced with a senior secured 
ĂŵŽƌƚŝƐŝŶŐ�ƚĞƌŵ�ůŽĂŶ�ĨĂĐŝůŝƚǇ͕�ƐƉůŝƚ�ŝŶƚŽ�Ă�ĞƵƌŽ�ĚĞŶŽŵŝŶĂƚĞĚ�ƚƌĂŶĐŚĞ�ŽĨ�ĂŶ�ĂŐŐƌĞŐĂƚĞ�ƉƌŝŶĐŝƉĂů�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ŽĨ�ΦϳϴϮ͘ϰ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�
and a US dollar-ĚĞŶŽŵŝŶĂƚĞĚ� ƚƌĂŶĐŚĞ�ŽĨ�ĂŶ�ĂŐŐƌĞŐĂƚĞ�ƉƌŝŶĐŝƉĂů�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ŽĨ�h^�ϮϳϬ͘ϯ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ� ;ƚŽŐĞƚŚĞƌ͕� ƚŚĞ�͞dĞƌŵ�
&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ͟Ϳ͘ 

Under the Senior Facilities Agreement, quarterly principal repayment amounts range from 1.25% ʹ 2.5% as further 
detailed in the Senior Facilities Agreement, interest payments are due quarterly and any remaining aggregate 
outstanding principal amount will be repaid on termination or the maturity date, which is 54 months later than Closing 
Date.  

With the refinancing, the outstanding principal borrowing amount of USD1,155 million as of 31 December 2021 under 
the Original Facilities was partially discharged and reduced to USD 1,113 million as of 31 March 2022. 

New subsidiary - Soda World Ltd 

dŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƚƌĂŶƐĨĞƌƌĞĚ�^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ�>ƚĚ�;͚^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ͟Ϳ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŽŶ�Ϯϭ�:ĂŶƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�ĂŶĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ƐƵĐŚ�ĚĂƚĞ�
^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ�ŝƐ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�Ă�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌǇ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ͘�^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ�ǁŝůů�ďĞ�ƚŚĞ�ĚŝƌĞĐƚ�ĐŽŶƚƌĂĐƚŝŶŐ�ƉĂƌƚǇ�ǁŝƚŚ�
ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�the direct holder of certain export receivables from Eti Soda and Kazan Soda. 

EĞǁ�ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ƚƌĂĚĞ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ�;͞&d�͟Ϳ 

dŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŚĂƐ�ŝŶĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞĚ�t��7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘�;͞t/�d͟Ϳ�ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ǁĂƐ�ƚƌĂŶƐĨĞƌƌĞĚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƚŽ�
become a wholly owned subsiĚŝĂƌǇ� ŽŶ� Ϯϰ�DĂƌĐŚ� ϮϬϮϮ͕� ĂŶĚ�ǁŝůů� ĂĐƚ� ĂƐ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ƐŽůĞ� ĞǆƉŽƌƚ� ŝŶƚĞƌŵĞĚŝĂƌǇ� ĂŶĚ�
ƌĞŐŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ�&ŽƌĞŝŐŶ�dƌĂĚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ�;͞&d�͟Ϳ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐƚƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͕�ƌĞƉůŝĐĂƚŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĨůŽǁ�ĂŶĚ�s�d�
processing benefits of CIDT. It is intended that WIDT will gƌĂĚƵĂůůǇ�ƚĂŬĞ�ŽǀĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƌŽůĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�&d��ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ďǇ�
2023 year end, replacing CIDT and exporting products on behalf of Kazan Soda and Eti Soda to Soda World pursuant 
ƚŽ�Ă�ƌĞƐĂůĞ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͘�hŶĚĞƌ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƌĞŐƵůĂƚŝŽŶƐ͕�t/�d͛Ɛ�ĂƉƉůŝĐĂƚŝŽŶ�ƚŽ�ďĞĐŽŵĞ�ĂŶ�&TC can only be submitted when 
specific trading thresholds have been met (in excess of USD100 million of export sales in a calendar year). Once 
registered with the relevant Turkish authorities, the Group expects that WIDT will be granted FTC status during March 
2023. 
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Change in corporate taxation 

Standard corporation tax rate is 20% in Turkey. However, the Turkish corporation tax rate is currently set at 23% for 
income derived by corporations in the 2022 fiscal year. 

KŶ�ϮϮ�:ĂŶƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�>Ăǁ�EŽ͘�ϳϯϱϭ�;͞ƚŚĞ�>Ăǁ͟Ϳ�ǁĂƐ�ƉƵďůŝƐŚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�KĨĨŝĐŝĂů�'ĂǌĞƚƚĞ�ĂŶĚ�ĞŶƚĞƌĞĚ�ŝŶƚŽ�ĨŽƌĐĞ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĚĂƚĞ�
of publication. The Law sets forth a one point decrease in the corporation tax rate on the specified income of the 
following corporations: 

ͻ On the corporation income exclusively derived from export transactions by corporations that perform 
exportation, 

ͻ On the corporation income exclusively derived from manufacturing activities by corporations that have an 
industrial registry certificate and actually perform manufacturing activities. 

Accordingly, the corporation tax rate will be applied as 22% for the above-mentioned corporations for FY 2022. Starting 
from 2023, unless any changes occur in the legislation, the Turkish corporation tax rate will be imposed at 19% for the 
above-mentioned corporations. Since Kazan Soda and Eti Soda fulfils both of the aforementioned requirements, the 
Turkish corporation tax rate will be used by them will decrease by 1% commencing from 1 January 2022. 

Redenomination of new senior facilities agreement 

On 5 DĂǇ�ϮϬϮϮ�͕�ŝŶ�ĂĐĐŽƌĚĂŶĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƉĂƌĂŐƌĂƉŚ�;ĂͿ;ŝǀͿ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĚĞĨŝŶŝƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�͞^ƚƌƵĐƚƵƌĂů��ĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚ͟�ĂŶĚ�ƉĂƌĂŐƌĂƉŚ�;ĂͿ�
of Clause 41.4 (Other exceptions) of the Senior Facilities Agreement, EUR 180,301,402 portion of Senior Facilities 
Agreement redenominated from Euro into US Dollars in equivalent of USD 191,101,456. 

Change in the functional currency of Turkish subsidiaries 

�Ɛ�ĚĞƚĂŝůĞĚ�ŝŶ�EŽƚĞ�ϰ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ĞŶƚŝƚŝĞƐ͕��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ͕�ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĞĚ�ƚŚĞ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�>ŝƌĂ�ĂƐ�
their functional currency for all years presented.  

Towards the end of 2021, Turkey experienced unexpected fluctuations with respect to macro-economic indicators and 
the government took certain measures in order to control such fluctuations. However, after year-end 2021, despite 
the measures taken, there have been material changes affecting the economic environment in Turkey. As required 
under IAS 21, the Group has evaluated such changes as a triggering event for a reassessment of the functional currency 
of all subsidiaries which currently have Turkish Lira as their functional currency.  

The determination of the functional currency requires management to make numerous judgments. As a result of 
ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ƌĞǀŝĞǁ�ĂŶĚ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ŽĨ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ͕�ŝƚ�ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�ĐŽŶĐůƵĚĞĚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚhe US dollar is the currency 
ƚŚĂƚ�ŵŽƐƚ� ĂĐĐƵƌĂƚĞůǇ� ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐ� ƚŚĞ�ĞĐŽŶŽŵŝĐ� ĞĨĨĞĐƚƐ�ŽŶ� ďŽƚŚ� ĞŶƚŝƚŝĞƐ͘�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ� ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ǁĂƐ� ďĂƐĞĚ�ŽŶ� ƚŚĞ�
following considerations:  

ͻ Factors that determined the functional currency were always mixed, with revenues predominantly influenced 
by mainly US dollar denominated international markets and costs by both international and local Turkish Lira 
denominated factors. 

ͻ In the last year, the exchange rate of the Turkish Lira has been severely affected by devaluation against hard 
ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐŝĞƐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�h^�ĚŽůůĂƌ�ŝŶ�ƉĂƌƚŝĐƵůĂƌ͘�dŚŝƐ�ŚĂƐ�ŚĂĚ�Ă�ǀĞƌǇ�ůŝŵŝƚĞĚ�ŝŵƉĂĐƚ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƉƌŝĐĞƐ�ďƵƚ�ŝƚ�
has affected costs. The relative proportion (by value) of locally incurred input costs denominated in Turkish Lira, 
such as labour, compared to US dollar influenced input costs, such as natural gas, has decreased significantly 
mainly because the price of natural gas, which is imported and which price is ultimately set with reference to 
US dollars, has increased significantly during 2022 and in particular, following the notification of significant price 
increases on 31 March 2022. 

ͻ �Ɛ�ƉĂƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ͕�ůĞƐƐ�ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶĂů�ĂŶĚ�ŐŽǀĞƌŶĂŶĐĞ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽů�ŝƐ�ďĞŝŶŐ�ůĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ĂŶĚ�
new internal reporting initiatives are in US dollars.   
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While indicators are still mixed, it is the judgement of Management that the functional currency for Eti Soda and Kazan 
Soda has now shifted towards the US dollar, because the majority of our decisions and those of our largest suppliers 
are principally based on the US dollar as the underlying currency. This change will be applied prospectively from 1 April 
2022 and will not affect the balances as of 31 December 2021, nor results or cash flows for the year then ended. The 
figures for Eti Soda and Kazan Soda as of 30 June 2022 will be restated to US dollars in accordance with IAS 21. 

 

dŚŝƐ��ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ͛�ZĞƉŽƌƚ�ǁĂƐ�ĂƉƉƌŽǀĞĚ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ��ŽĂƌĚ�ŽĨ��ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ƐŝŐŶĞĚ�ŽŶ�ďĞŚĂůĨ�ďǇ͗ 
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulation. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have prepared the group and the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted 
international accounting standards. Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of the 
profit or loss of the group and parent company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
required to: 

භ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

භ state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

භ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

භ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
group and parent company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and parent company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
ŐƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�and parent cŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŝƐĐůŽƐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƌĞĂƐŽŶĂďůĞ�ĂĐĐƵƌĂĐǇ�Ăƚ�ĂŶǇ�ƚŝŵĞ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƉŽƐŝƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�
the group and parent company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. 

 

On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ahmet Tohma   DĞŚŵĞƚ��ůŝ��ƌĚŽŒĂŶ  
Director   Director  
30 May 2022   30 May 2022  
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Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Opinion 
,Q�RXU�RSLQLRQ��.HZ�6RGD�/WG¶V JURXS�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DQG�FRPSDQ\�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�³ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV´�� 

භ JLYH�D�WUXH�DQG�IDLU�YLHZ�RI�WKH�VWDWH�RI�WKH�JURXS¶V�DQG�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DIIDLUV�DV�DW��� December �����DQG�RI�WKH�JURXS¶V�SURILW��WKH�
FRPSDQ\¶V�ORVV�DQG�WKH�JURXS¶V�DQG�FRPSDQ\¶V�FDVK�IORZV�IRU�WKH�\HDU�WKHQ�HQGHG� 

භ have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and 
භ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated and Parent Company 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as at 31 December 2021; the Consolidated and Parent Company Statement 
of Financial Position, Changes in Equity, and Cash Flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include 
a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International StandarGV�RQ�$XGLWLQJ��8.���³,6$V��8.�´��DQG�DSSOLFDEOH�ODZ��2XU�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�
XQGHU�,6$V��8.��DUH�IXUWKHU�GHVFULEHG�LQ�WKH�$XGLWRUV¶�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�IRU�WKH�DXGLW�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�VHFWLRQ�RI�our report. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, which includes the )5&¶V�(WKLFDO�6WDQGDUG�� DQG�ZH�KDYH� IXOILOOHG� RXU� RWKHU� HWKLFDO� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV� LQ� DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK� WKHVH�
requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or 
FROOHFWLYHO\��PD\�FDVW�VLJQLILFDQW�GRXEW�RQ�WKH�JURXS
V�DQG�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�IRU�D�SHULRG of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

,Q�DXGLWLQJ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��ZH�KDYH�FRQFOXGHG�WKDW�WKH�GLUHFWRUV¶�XVH�RI�WKH�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ�LQ�Whe preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group's and the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 
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Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditRUV¶� report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures 
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 
2006 have been included. 

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as 
described below. 

Strategic Report and Directors' Report 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors' Report 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not 
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors' Report. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the 6WDWHPHQW�RI�GLUHFWRUV¶�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financiaO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�GLUHFWRUV�DUH�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DVVHVVLQJ�WKH�JURXS¶V�DQG�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

$XGLWRUV¶�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�IRU�WKH�DXGLW�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
ZKHWKHU�GXH�WR�IUDXG�RU�HUURU��DQG�WR�LVVXH�DQ�DXGLWRUV¶�UHSRUW�WKDW�LQFOXGHV�RXU�RSLQLRQ��5HDVRQDEOH�DVVXUDQFH�LV�D�KLgh level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when i t exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 
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Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations 
related to environmental laws and regulations in Turkey and the United States, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might 
have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial 
VWDWHPHQWV�VXFK�DV�WKH�&RPSDQLHV�$FW������DQG�8.�WD[�OHJLVODWLRQ��:H�HYDOXDWHG�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�LQFHQWLYHV�DQG�Rpportunities for fraudulent 
manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to 
posting inappropriate journal entries and management bias included within significant accounting judgements and estimates. Audit 
procedures performed by the engagement team included: 

භ Review of Board minutes and discussions with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations and fraud; 

භ (YDOXDWLRQ�RI�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�FRQWUROV�GHVLJQHG�WR�SUHYHQW�DQG�GHWHFW�IUDXGXOHQW�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ� 
භ Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations; and  
භ Assessing significant judgements and estimates, to ensure that there are no indications of management bias. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate 
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

$� IXUWKHU� GHVFULSWLRQ� RI� RXU� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV� IRU� WKH� DXGLW� RI� WKH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� LV� ORFDWHG� RQ� WKH� )5&¶V� ZHEVLWH� DW��
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilitiHV��7KLV�GHVFULSWLRQ�IRUPV�SDUW�RI�RXU�DXGLWRUV¶�UHSRUW� 

Use of this report 
7KLV�UHSRUW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�RSLQLRQV��KDV�EHHQ�SUHSDUHG�IRU�DQG�RQO\�IRU�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�GLUHFWRUV�DV�D�ERG\�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing. 

Other required reporting 
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

භ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 
භ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 

not visited by us; or 
භ FHUWDLQ�GLVFORVXUHV�RI�GLUHFWRUV¶�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�VSHFLILHG�E\�ODZ�DUH�QRW�PDGH��RU 
භ the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

 

  

Jason Burkitt (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
30 May 2022 
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  Note 2021 2020 
Continuing operations    
Revenue 9 892,113 805,582 
Cost of sales 10 (550,359) (488,943) 
Gross profit  341,754 316,639 
     
Administrative expenses 11 (40,966) (37,959) 
Marketing expenses 12 (5,624) (4,112) 
Other operating income 13 204,033 65,497 
Other operating expenses 13 (79,890) (60,274) 
    
Profit from operations  419,307 279,791 
     
Finance income 14 24,264 41,521 
Finance expenses 14 (228,758) (337,985) 
     
     Profit/(Loss) before tax  214,813 (16,673) 
     
Taxation 15 69,710 202,891 
     
Total profit for the financial year from continuing operations  284,523 186,218 
    
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 5 71,810 (21,393) 
    
Total profit for the financial year  356,333 164,825 
    
    
Profit for the year attributable to:    
Owners of the company  302,841 132,233 
Non-controlling interest  53,492 32,592 
  356,333 164,825 
    
Basic and diluted earnings per share ʹ continuing operations  32 1.851 1.212 
Basic and diluted earnings per share ʹ discontinued operations  32 0.467 (0.139) 
              
Total profit for the financial year  345,088 164,825 
 
Other comprehensive expense 

   

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    
- Accumulated gain / (loss) on remeasurement of defined benefit plans  20,627 (3,137) 

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    
- Foreign currency translation reserve 32 (922,882) (409,950) 
- Hedge accounting  5,424 5,472 

Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax  (896,831) (407,615) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (540,498) (242,790) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:    
Owners of the company  (490,087) (223,822) 
Non-controlling interest  (50,411) (18,968) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year   (540,498) (242,790) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:    
Continuing operations   (638,439) (223,732) 
Discontinued operations  5 97,941 (19,058) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year   (540,498) (242,790) 

 

The Notes on pages 32 to 102 form part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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 Note 2021 2020 
Assets    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 16 392,765 1,051,082 
Mining reserves 17 696,443 2,038,414 
Intangible assets 18 159 5,799 
Mining assets 19 82,066 143,998 
Inventories 25 14,523 35,046 
Prepaid expenses 20 27,541 10,492 
Other receivables 21 494,240 526,308 
Deferred tax assets 15 363,175 437,419 
Goodwill 22 14,317 54,595 
Right of use assets 39 10,397 26,162 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 34 326,667 - 
Other non-current assets 23 - 2,214 

  2,422,293 4,331,529 
     

Current assets    
Trade receivables 21 149,868 218,977 
Other receivables 21 34,971 247,499 
Cash and cash equivalents 24 14,494 21,854 
Prepaid expenses 20 7,136 5,577 
Inventories 25 23,791 52,355 
Derivative financial instruments 28 - 1,360 
Other current assets 23 76,642 30,179 

  306,902 577,801 
Total assets  2,729,195 4,909,330 
     

Non-current Liabilities    
Borrowings 26 1,388,574 727,258 
Lease liabilities 39 10,543 22,649 
Trade payables 27 - 57,686 
Other payables 27 3 304 
Derivative financial instruments 28 - 1,268 
Employee benefits 29 1,899 68,510 
Tax liability  2,065 1,596 
Mine closure provision 30 - 40,130 
Deferred tax liability 15 178,914 276,064 
Deferred income  1,742 - 
Other non-current liabilities 23 1,158 - 

  1,584,898 1,195,465 
     

Current liabilities    
Borrowings  26 422,740 1,754,743 
Lease liabilities 39 5,399 15,638 
Trade payables 27 103,326 130,175 
Other payables  27 26,880 52,240 
Tax liability  19,359 33,170 
Derivative financial instruments 28 - 895 
Provisions  1,828 2,000 
Employee benefits 29 2,252 13,542 
Deferred income (contract liabilities) 31 8,675 44,875 
Other current liabilities 23 10,300 11,386 

  600,759 2,058,664 
Total liabilities  2,185,657 3,254,129 
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 Note 2021 2020 
    
Equity    

Share capital 32 153,702 153,702 
Share premium 32 1,382,131 1,382,131 
Capital contribution in kind 6 131,038 - 
Restricted profit reserves 32 47,421 26,890 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss 

 (119) (6,365) 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss that will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss: 

 (1,771,565) (954,047) 

- Foreign currency translation reserve 32 (1,771,565) (956,238) 
- Hedge accounting  - 2,191 

Retained profit  465,932 169,225 
    
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  408,540 771,536 
    
Non-controlling interest  134,998 883,665 
    

Total equity  543,538 1,655,201  

The Notes on pages 32 to 102 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 27 to 102 were approved by the Board on 30 May 2022 and were 
signed on its behalf. 

 

 

 
 
 
Ahmet Tohma   DĞŚŵĞƚ��ůŝ��ƌĚŽŒĂŶ  
Director   Director  
30 May 2022   30 May 2022  

 
Company Number 10260126 
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Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 

Capital 
Contribution 

in kind5 

Restricted 
profit 

reserves 

Accumulated  
loss on 

remeasurement 
of defined 

benefit plans1 
Other 

Reserves2,4 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve      

Retained 
earnings 

Equity 
attributable 

to owners 
of the 

Company 

Non-
controlling 

interest3 
Total 

equity  
            

At 1 January 2020 153,702 1,382,131 - 26,373 (3,228) 413 (601,542) 37,509 995,358 920,073 1,915,431 
            
Equity-based compensation plan activity - - - - - - - - - 528 528 
Dividend distribution - - - - - - - - - (17,968) (17,968) 
Transfer - - - 517 - - - (517) - - - 
- Profit for the year - - - - - - - 132,233 132,233 32,592 164,825 

- Total other comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (3,137) 1,778 (354,696) - (356,055) (51,560)3 (407,615) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (3,137) 1,778 (354,696) 132,233 (223,822) (18,968) (242,790) 
            
At 31 December 2020 153,702 1,382,131 - 26,890 (6,365) 2,191 (956,238) 169,225 771,536 883,665 1,655,201 
            
Equity-based compensation plan activity - - - - - - - - - 286 286 
Dividend distribution - - - - - - - - - (78,130) (78,130) 
Transfer - - - 20,531 - - - (20,531) - - - 
- Profit for the year - - - - - - - 302,841 302,841 53,492 356,333 
- Total other comprehensive loss for the year - - - - 20,643 (2,191) (815,327) - (796,875) (103,903) (900,778) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - 20,643 (2,191) (815,327) 302,841 (494,034) (50,411) (544,445) 
            
- Disposal of the subsidiary  - - - - (14,397) - - 14,397 - (620,412) (620,412) 
- Acquisition of the subsidiary5 (Refer Note 6) - - 131,038 - - - - - 131,038 - 131,038 
            
At 31 December 2021  153,702 1,382,131 131,038 47,421 (119) - (1,771,565) 465,932 408,540 134,998 543,538 

 
Note 1 - Accumulated other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 
Note 2 - Accumulated other comprehensive income that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 
Note 3 - Includes USD107,555,667 (2020: USD55,254,104) of foreign currency translation loss allocated to non-controlling interest. 
Note 4 - Other comprehensive (loss)/ income for 2021 is net of USD3,947,000 recycled to the income statement on disposal of the subsidiary. 
Note 5 - Since KEW Soda Ltd. acquired more than 90% of the shares in a company (TC Soda) by issuing its own shares in return, as required by the Companies Act, 2006, the difference between the USD131.0 

million fair value of TC Soda and the nominal value of the shares issued by KEW Soda Ltd. has been credited ƚŽ�ĞƋƵŝƚǇ�ƵŶĚĞƌ�͞�ĂƉŝƚĂů�ĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƚŝŽŶ�ŝŶ�ŬŝŶĚ͘͟ 
 
The notes on pages 32 to 102 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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   Restated 
  Note 2021 2020 
Cash flow from operating activities    
Total profit for the year from continuing operations  284,523 186,218 
    
Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 16, 18 95,979 100,709 
Retirement benefit  1,525 941 
Provisions arising from penalties and legal claims  384 2,000 
Interest income  (29,090) (41,824) 
Interest expense  69,158 118,041 

    Discount expense / (income) (net)  1,481 (387) 
Bank charges  20,976 26,597 
Net foreign exchange loss  46,717 178,373 
Income tax credit 15 (72,981) (203,198) 
Increase in inventories  (17,768) (2,329) 
Increase in trade and other receivables  (37,285) (10,289) 
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables  (8,017) 11,771 
Losses / (gains) on disposals of fixed assets  30 (138) 
Compensation income  (60,065) - 
Other cash (outflows) / inflows  (222) 1,218 

Cash generated from operations  295,345 367,703 
Tax return payments  (62,139) (14,642) 
Paid retirement benefit obligation  (113) (71) 
Net cash generated from operating activities (continuing operations)   233,093 352,990 
Net cash generated from operating activities (discontinued operations)   66,047 77,609 
Total net cash generated from operating activities    299,140 430,599 
    
Cash flow from investing activities:    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 (87,311) (39,890) 
Cash received from acquisition of subsidiaries  596 - 
Cash inflows from sale of purchase of property, plant and equipment  7 493 
Interest received  524 1,165 
Dividend received from discontinued operations  1,000 12,715 
Cash inflow from related parties (*)  397,414 1,188 
Cash outflow to related parties (*)  (162,600) (225,563) 
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities (continuing operations)  149,630 (249,892) 
Net cash generated used in investing activities (discontinued operations)   272,478 (46,988) 
Total net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities  422,108 (296,880) 
    
Cash flow from financing activities:    
Cash obtained from borrowings  - 16,375 
Cash used for repayment of the borrowings  (459,914) (57,541) 
Cash outflow from lease liabilities  (6,614) (7,205) 
Interest paid  (94,955) (101,039) 
Borrowing costs incurred  (15,263) (26,597) 
Transfer from discontinued operation into continuing operations  300,000 - 
Distributions to non-controlling interest shareholder of subsidiary  (49,892) (244) 
Cash used to repay restricted bank balances  (39,295) (13,984) 
Other cash inflows  1,613 4 
Net cash used in financing activities (continuing operations)   (364,320) (190,231) 
Net cash used in financing activities (discontinued operations)   (338,663) (45,463) 
Total net cash used in financing activities  (702,983) (235,694) 
    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (11,641) 2,104 
     
Net generated / (used in) cash and cash equivalents  6,624 (99,871) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 24 7,870 107,741 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 24 14,494 7,870 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year attributable to:  2021 2020 
Continuing operations   14,494 7,732 
Discontinued operations   - 138 
Total cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  14,494 7,870 

 
(*)  dŚĞ�͞ĐĂƐŚ�ŝŶĨůŽǁ�ĨƌŽŵ�ƌĞůĂƚĞĚ�ƉĂƌƚŝĞƐ͟�ĂŶĚ�͞ĐĂƐŚ�ŽƵƚĨůŽǁ�ƚŽ�ƌĞůĂƚĞĚ�ƉĂƌƚŝĞƐ͟ amounts presented in the approved 2020 financial statements were overstated by USD512.0 million 

due to gross presentation of eliminated intra-group cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group. The overstatements offset each other and has no impact on 
ƚŚĞ�͞dŽƚĂů�ŶĞƚ�ĐĂƐŚ�ŐĞŶĞƌĂƚĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ͬ�;ƵƐĞĚ�ŝŶͿ�ŝŶǀĞƐƚŝŶŐ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͘͟ 

 
The notes on pages 32 to 102 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. General information  

Kew Soda Ltd (the Company or Parent Company) is a private company limited by shares incorporated and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom on 1 July 2016 and registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 
2006, which serves as an intermediate holding company for the Group. The address of the registered office is 23 
�ŽůůĞŐĞ�,ŝůů͕� >ŽŶĚŽŶ͕� ��ϰZ� ϮZW͕�hŶŝƚĞĚ�<ŝŶŐĚŽŵ͘� dŚĞ� ŶĂƚƵƌĞ�ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ͛� ĂŶĚ� ŝŶǀĞƐƚŵĞŶƚƐ͛�
operations and their principal activities are mining for trona and producing soda ash and sodium bicarbonate, 
which are essential raw materials in glass manufacturing, powder soaps and detergents, chemicals (including the 
production of lithium carbonate) and other consumer and industrial products.  

Until 21 December 2021 and prior to the 2ϬϮϭ�^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ�dƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ�;ĂƐ�ĚĞĨŝŶĞĚ�ďĞůŽǁͿ͕�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ƉŽƌƚĨŽůŝŽ�
ŽĨ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ŐůŽďĂů�ƐŽĚĂ�ĂƐŚ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�ĐŽŵƉƌŝƐĞĚ�ƚǁŽ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůĞĚ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐĞƐ�ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͕�ŶĂŵĞůǇ͕��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�
WĂǌĂƌůĂŵĂ�EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ� ǀĞ� �ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ� mƌĞƚŝŵ� ^ĂŶĂǇŝ� ǀĞ� dŝĐĂƌĞƚ� �͘b͘� ;͞�ƚŝ� ^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ� ĂŶĚ� <ĂǌĂŶ� ^ŽĚĂ� �ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ� mƌĞƚŝŵ��͘b͘�
;͞<ĂǌĂŶ� ^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ͕� ĂŶĚ�ŽŶĞ� ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůĞĚ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ� ŝŶ� ƚŚĞ�h^͕� ^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ� >>�� ;͞^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ͕͟� ĨŽƌŵĞƌůǇ�
named Ciner Wyoming LLC).  

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŚĂƐ�ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ�Ă�ƐĞƌŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ�ƌĞĨĞƌƌĞĚ�ƚŽ�ĂƐ�͞ϮϬϮϭ�^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ�dƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͕͟�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ�
on 21 December 2021 and consist of: 

(i) ��/͛Ɛ�ƐĂůĞ�ŽĨ�ŝƚƐ�ϲϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�ŽŶ�Ϯϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϮϭ͕�ƚŽ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ͖� 

(ii) ƚŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐĂůĞ�ŽĨ�ŝƚƐ�ϭϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�WĂĐŝĨŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ�>>��;͞WĂĐŝĨŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ͟Ϳ�ĂŶĚ�ϲϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�Atlantic Soda 
to Sisecam; and  

(iii) the acquisition by WE Soda of a 40% indirect interest in each of Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda, through an 
in-kind contribution of TC Soda to the capital of Kew Soda Ltd 

Subsequent to the 2021 Strategic Transactions, the global soda ash business of the Company comprises two 
controlled businesses in Turkey, Eti Soda and Kazan Soda, and three investments, namely an indirect investment 
in Sisecam Wyoming, and indirect investments in each of Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda, which together form the 
Pacific development project. The Company and its subsidiaries (both direct and indirect) are referred to as the 
͞'ƌŽƵƉ͘͟ 

The immediate parent and ultimate holding company of Kew Soda Ltd is Akkan Enerji ve Madencilik �͘b͘�
incorporated in Turkey and is part of the wider ͞Ciner Group͘͟�dŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƵůƚŝŵĂƚĞ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ�ƉĂƌƚǇ�ŝƐ�Dƌ͘�
Turgay Ciner. The largest parent company in the Akkan Group preparing publicly available consolidated financial 
statements is the Company. The smallest parent company in the Akkan Group preparing group financial 
statements is its directly held subsidiary, WE Soda Ltd, its registered office is 23 College Hill, London, EC4R 2RP, 
United Kingdom. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

2.1 Financial information 
dŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ�ŝƐ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�h^��ŽůůĂƌƐ�;͞h^�͟Ϳ͘�&ŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ĂĐĐŽƌĚĂŶĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�
the policies set out in this note. 

2.2 Basis of preparation 
The Company has prepared consolidated financial statements which comply with UK-adopted international 
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments. The disclosed policies have been applied consistently by the Group 
for both the current and previous financial year with the exception of the new standards adopted.
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Going concern 

The financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, as the Directors have determined that the Group has sufficient resources and liquidity to continue in 
operational existence and to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of 
ƚŚĞ� ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ͘� /Ŷ�ĂƐƐĞƐƐŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂďŝůŝƚǇ� ƚŽ�ĂĚŽƉƚ� the going concern basis, the Directors have 
ƚĞƐƚĞĚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂďŝůŝƚǇ�ƚŽ�ŵĞĞƚ�ŝƚƐ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂƐ�ƚŚĞǇ�ĨĂůů�ĚƵĞ�ŝŶ�Ă�ǀĂƌŝĞƚǇ�ŽĨ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĨůŽǁ�ƐĐĞŶĂƌŝŽƐ͕�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�Ă�ƐĞǀĞƌĞ�
but plausible downside scenario, which still results in positive operational cash flows. This scenario applies severe 
ďƵƚ�ƉůĂƵƐŝďůĞ�ĞĐŽŶŽŵŝĐ�ĚŽǁŶƐŝĚĞ�ĂƐƐƵŵƉƚŝŽŶƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďĂƐĞ�ĐĂƐĞ� ĨŽƌĞĐĂƐƚ� ƌĞƐƵůƚŝŶŐ� ĨƌŽŵ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞĚ�
economic and social uncertainty surrounding the general outlook in the global economy. The key adjustments 
made included volume sensitivity, CPI sensitivity, foreign exchange rate sensitivity, natural gas price cost sensitivity 
and interest rate sensitivity. 

On 21 December 2021 the Group completed the sale of a 60% controlling interest in its wholly owned subsidiary 
Sisecam Chemicals Resources to Sisecam. The proceeds from the sale and other available sources were used, 
together with other transactions made under or in connection with the 2021 Strategic Transactions, to repay USD 
157 million of the WE Soda Facilities Agreement and USD 151 million of Project Finance Loan of Kazan Soda. 

Post-balance sheet events impact 

On 14 February 2022, the Original Facilities Agreement (as defined below) was rescinded and replaced by a new 
ƐĞŶŝŽƌ� ĨĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ� ;ƚŚĞ�͞^ĞŶŝŽƌ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͟Ϳ͘� /Ŷ�ĂĚĚŝƚŝŽŶ� ƚŽ�ĞǆƚĞŶĚŝŶŐ� ƚŚĞ�ŵĂƚƵƌŝƚǇ� ƐĐŚĞĚƵůĞ�
under the Original Facilities Agreement, the financial covenants under the Senior Facilities Agreement have been 
amended compared to the Original Facilities Agreement. In particular, the financial covenants in the Senior 
&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ĐŽŵƉƌŝƐĞ�ŽĨ�;ŝͿ�Ă�͞ >ĞǀĞƌĂŐĞ�&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů��ŽǀĞŶĂŶƚ͟�;ĂƐ�ĚĞĨŝŶĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�̂ ĞŶŝŽƌ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚͿ�
equal to 5.50 : 1 with a first test date being 31 March 2022, and such which will decrease gradually to 4.00:1 on 
ϯϬ�:ƵŶĞ�ϮϬϮϯ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞŵĂŝŶ�Ăƚ�ƚŚŝƐ�ůĞǀĞů�ƚŚĞƌĞĂĨƚĞƌ�ĂŶĚ�;ŝŝͿ�Ă�͞�Ğďƚ�^ĞƌǀŝĐĞ��ŽǀĞƌ�ZĂƚŝŽ͟�;ĂƐ�ĚĞĨŝŶĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�^ĞŶŝŽƌ�
Facilities Agreement), on each test date starting from 31 March 2022 shall not be less than 1.20:1. In terms of the 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐĂƉŝƚĂů�ĞǆƉĞŶĚŝƚƵres, the Senior Facilities Agreement provides that the WE Soda Restricted Group shall 
ensure that the aggregate capital expenditure of the WE Soda Restricted Group in respect of any financial year 
shall not exceed 150% of the projected amount of capital expenditure for such financial year as set out in the Base 
Case Model or Budget for that financial year until Leverage Financial Covenant is equal to or lower than 4.50:1.00. 

Prices are expected to significantly exceed 2019 netback price levels during 2022 and beyond. The Group has 
already experienced significant price recovery since Q4 2021, mainly driven by tightening supply-demand 
conditions and increasing energy prices, and during Q1 2022 netback prices were (on average) up approximately 
60% versus 2021 and up 40% versus 2019 (pre-COVID) levels. The Group has continued to see this price recovery, 
with further price increases implemented in 2022 to date. This pricing trend, which has been reflected in the 
contracts agreed with customers, and the impact of inflation on key input costs, in particular natural gas prices, 
along with the offsetting impact of currency movements on the Turkish Lira cost base has been included in the 
ĂƐƐƵŵƉƚŝŽŶƐ�ƵŶĚĞƌƉŝŶŶŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďĂƐĞ�ĐĂƐĞ�ŐŽŝŶŐ�ĐŽŶĐĞƌŶ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚŝŽŶƐ͘ 

In additiŽŶ͕� ƚŚĞ��ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ� ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĞĚ� Ă� ƐĞǀĞƌĞ� ďƵƚ� ƉůĂƵƐŝďůĞ� ĚŽǁŶƐŝĚĞ� ƐĐĞŶĂƌŝŽ͕�ǁŚĞƌĞ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ďĂƐĞ� ĐĂƐĞ�
forecasts were challenged with an economic/operational downside scenario driven by the potential macro-
economic and business impact of the ongoing conflict between Ukraine and Russia. This scenario considered both 
the potential impact of higher energy prices on customers in Europe, and the potential curtailment of gas supplies 
to Turkey. Management has assumed that the sustained higher natural gas prices in Europe would result in our 
ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌƐ� ƌĞĚƵĐŝŶŐ�ĚĞŵĂŶĚ� ĨŽƌ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐƚƐ͕�ǁŝƚŚ� ĐŽŶƐĞƋƵĞŶƚŝĂů� ƐĂůĞƐ� ǀŽůƵŵĞ� ůŽƐƐĞƐ� ŝŶ� �ƵƌŽƉĞ͕� ĂŶĚ�
leading to our products being redirected to different global markets, especially Asia, at lower net back prices. 
Curtailment ŽĨ�ŐĂƐ�ƐƵƉƉůŝĞƐ� ƚŽ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ǁŽƵůĚ� ŝŵƉĂĐƚ�<ĂǌĂŶ͛Ɛ�ŐĂƐ�ĐŽ-generation capacity in the short term. The 
Directors have assumed that the reduced gas supply would still be sufficient to heat water for trona extraction, 
but supplemental electricity for processing the brine solution would need to be purchased, at higher prices, and 
co-generation revenue would be lost. 
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While the severe but plausible downside scenario based on the aggregation of all of the above elements would 
impact on ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ��/d��͕� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ǁŽƵůĚ� ƌĞƚĂŝŶ� ƐƵĨĨŝĐŝĞŶƚ� ůŝƋƵŝĚŝƚǇ� ĂŶĚ� ƌĞŵĂŝŶ� ŝŶ� ĐŽŵƉůŝĂŶĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ� Ăůů�
covenants over the forecast period. 

As a consequence of the transaction and new financing facility described above, coupled with improved trading 
conditions, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate financial resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing these consolidated financial statements for the Group. 

General 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments. 

The disclosed policies have been applied consistently by the Group for both the current and previous financial year 
with the exception of the new standards adopted. 

2.3 Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) as of each year end. Control is achieved when the Company: 

ͻ has the power over the investee. 
ͻ is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
ͻ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.  

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
appropriate.  

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
ƉŽůŝĐŝĞƐ�ŝŶƚŽ�ůŝŶĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂĐĐŽƵŶƚŝŶŐ�ƉŽůŝĐŝĞƐ͘� 

See Note 2.8 Subsidiaries for further details. 

Discontinued operations 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale 
and that represents a major line of business or geographical area of operations. The results of discontinued 
operations are presented separately in the consolidated income statement. 
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2.4 New and revised IFRSs 
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year 

(a)  IFRS 16 - ͞>ĞĂƐĞƐ�- Covid - ϭϵ�ZĞůĂƚĞĚ�ZĞŶƚ��ŽŶĐĞƐƐŝŽŶƐ�;�ŵĞŶĚŵĞŶƚƐͿ͟ 
(b)  IFRS 7, IFRS 4, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 39 - ͞/ŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ZĂƚĞ��ĞŶĐŚŵĂƌŬ�ZĞĨŽƌŵ�WŚĂƐĞ�Ϯ͟ 

dŚĞ� ĂƉƉůŝĐĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ� ;ĂͿ� ƚŽ� ;ďͿ� ŚĂƐ� ŚĂĚ�ŶŽ� ŝŵƉĂĐƚ� ŽŶ� ƚŚĞ� ĚŝƐĐůŽƐƵƌĞƐ�Žƌ� ƚŚĞ� ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ� ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞĚ� ŝŶ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
consolidated financial statements. 

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective  

Below is a list of new and revised IFRSs that are not yet mandatorily effective (but allow early application) for the 
accounting periods starting on or after 1 January 2022 that the Group has not yet adopted: 

(a) IAS 1 - ͞WƌĞƐĞŶƚĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ŽŶ��ůĂƐƐŝĨŝĐĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�>ŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�;�ŵĞŶĚŵĞŶƚƐͿ͟ 

(b) IAS ϭ�͞WƌĂĐƚŝĐĞ�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ�Ϯ͟�ĂŶĚ�ŶĂƌƌŽǁ�ƐĐŽƉĞ�ĂŵĞŶĚŵĞŶƚƐ�ŽŶ�/�^�ϴ 

(c) /�^�ϭϮ�͞�ĞĨĞƌƌĞĚ�ƚĂǆ�ƌĞůĂƚĞĚ�ƚŽ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂƌŝƐŝŶŐ�ĨƌŽŵ�Ă�ƐŝŶŐůĞ�ƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶ�;�ŵĞŶĚŵĞŶƚƐͿ͟ 

The application of (a) to (c) are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the future reporting periods 
and on foreseeable future transactions. 

LIBOR rates are being replaced by alternative risk-free rates as part of the inter-ďĂŶŬ�ŽĨĨĞƌ�ƌĂƚĞ�;͞/�KZ͟Ϳ�ƌĞĨŽƌŵ͘�
The method of calculating EURIBOR was updated in 2019 and no further amendments are expected in the near 
term. GBP LIBOR is no longer published by the FCA with effect from 31 December 2021 but this has limited impact 
on the Group as most borrowings are in USD or EUR. USD LIBOR is also being reformed and will no longer be 
published after June 2023. 

Phase 2 IBOR amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Hedge Accounting, and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 Leases were published in August 2020 and are 
effective from 1 January 2021. 

The Group is continuing preparation for transition to incorporate alternative risk-free rates where the current 
interest benchmarks used by the Group is USD LIBOR in relation to its floating rate debt facilities. The Group is 
monitoring the market and discussing the potential changes with its counterparties in order to effectively 
transition to alternative risk-free rates and does not expect any material impact on its financial position and 
performance. 

2.5 Acquisitions 
On an acquisition that qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the 
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill which is 
treated as an intangible asset. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net 
assets acquired is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year of acquisition. 

/Ĩ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞƐ�Ă�ŐƌŽƵƉ�ŽĨ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ŽĨ�ĞƋƵŝƚǇ� ŝŶ�Ă�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ� ŝƚ�ĐĂŶ�ĂƉƉůǇ�Ă� ͚ĐŽŶĐĞŶƚƌĂƚŝŽŶ�ƚĞƐƚ͛� ƚŚĂƚ͕� ŝĨ�ŵĞƚ͕�
eliminates the need for further assessment. This test is optional, and where substantially all of the fair value of 
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset (or a group of similar assets), the assets acquired 
would not represent a business. For a group of assets or equity in a company that does not constitute a business 
combination in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the cost of the acquired group of assets or equity 
is allocated to the individual identifiable assets acquired based on their relative fair value. 

The Company adopted IFRS 3 as their accounting policy regarding acquisitions under common control. 
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2.6 Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum 
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the 
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed, are recognised at their fair 
value. 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĞ͕�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞƌ͛Ɛ�ƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐůǇ�ŚĞůĚ�ĞƋƵŝƚǇ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĞ�;ŝĨ�ĂŶǇͿ�
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

Non-ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ�;͞E�/͟Ϳ�ƚŚĂƚ�ĂƌĞ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ�ŽǁŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĞŶƚŝƚůĞ�ƚŚĞŝƌ�ŚŽůĚĞƌƐ�ƚŽ�Ă�ƉƌŽƉŽƌƚŝŽŶĂƚĞ�
ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĞŶƚŝƚǇ͛Ɛ�ŶĞƚ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǀĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�ůŝƋƵŝĚĂƚŝŽŶ�ŵĂǇ�ďĞ�ŝŶŝƚŝĂůůǇ�ŵĞĂƐƵƌĞĚ�ĞŝƚŚĞƌ�Ăƚ�ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ�Žƌ�Ăƚ�ƚŚe 
non- ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ͛�ƉƌŽƉŽƌƚŝŽŶĂƚĞ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞĚ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĞ͛Ɛ�ŝĚĞŶƚŝĨŝĂďůĞ�ŶĞƚ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ͘ 

The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 
interests are measured at fair value. 

Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if 
that interest were disposed of. 

2.7 Goodwill 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for NCI over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. After 
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each 
ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐĂƐŚ�ŐĞŶĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ƵŶŝƚƐ�;͞�'hƐ͟Ϳ�ƚŚĂƚ�ĂƌĞ�ĞǆƉĞĐƚĞĚ�ƚŽ�ďĞŶĞĨŝƚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ƚŚĞ�ƐǇŶĞƌŐŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŵďŝŶĂƚŝŽŶ͕�
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Where goodwill forms 
part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of 
the operation. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually (as at 31 December) and when circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired. 

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

2.8 Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

Investments in subsidiaries represent equity holdings in subsidiaries and long-term amounts owed by subsidiaries. 
Such investments are valued at cost less any impairment provisions. Investments are reviewed for impairment if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable 
amount of the investment is the higher of fair value less cost to disposal and value in use. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising 
therefrom, are eliminated. 
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary; (ii) derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; (iii) derecognises 
the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity; (iv) recognises the fair value of the consideration 
received; (v) recognises the fair value of any investment retained; and (vi) recognises any surplus or deficit in profit 
ĂŶĚ�ůŽƐƐ͖�;ǀŝŝͿ�ƌĞĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�ƉĂƌĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ĐŽŵƉŽŶĞŶƚƐ�ƉƌĞǀŝŽƵƐůǇ�ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞĚ�ŝŶ�ŽƚŚer comprehensive income 
to profit and loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.  

2.9 Non-ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚƐ�;͞E�/͟Ϳ 
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly and indirectly, to the parent 
company and are presented separately within the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, separately from 
equity attributable to owners of the parent. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling 
interests even if that results in a deficit balance. 

2.10 Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is 
generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates 
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.11 Equity method below), after initially being 
recognised at cost, if applicable at fair value. Details of the associates are set out in Note 34 - Interests in equity 
accounted associates. 

2.11 Equity method 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter 
ƚŽ�ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƉŽƐƚ-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ŵŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ� ŝŶ�ŽƚŚer comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. 
Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying 
amount of the investment. 

tŚĞƌĞ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŽĨ�ůŽƐƐĞƐ�ŝŶ�ĂŶ�ĞƋƵŝƚy-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, 
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the 
ĞǆƚĞŶƚ� ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ� ŝŶ� ƚŚĞƐĞ� ĞŶƚŝƚŝĞƐ͘� hŶƌĞĂůŝƐĞĚ� ůŽƐƐĞƐ� ĂƌĞ� ĂůƐŽ� ĞůŝŵŝŶĂƚĞĚ� ƵŶůĞƐƐ� ƚŚĞ� ƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶ�
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ďǇ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ƚŚĞ�ĂƐƐĞƚ͛Ɛ�ĐĂƌƌǇŝŶŐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ĞǆĐĞĞĚƐ� ŝƚƐ� ƌĞĐŽǀĞƌĂďůĞ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ͘�dŚĞ�ƌĞĐŽǀĞƌĂďůĞ�ĂŵŽƵŶt is the 
ŚŝŐŚĞƌ�ŽĨ�ĂŶ�ĂƐƐĞƚ͛Ɛ�ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ůĞƐƐ�ĐŽƐƚƐ�ŽĨ�ĚŝƐƉŽƐĂů�ĂŶĚ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ŝŶ�ƵƐĞ͘�&Žƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƵƌƉŽƐĞƐ�ŽĨ�ĂƐƐĞƐƐŝŶŐ�ŝŵƉĂŝƌŵĞŶƚ͕�
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows, which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting year. 
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2.12 Changes in ownership interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or 
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Kew Soda Ltd. 

When the group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint 
control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change 
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes 
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, 
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as 
if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is 
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate. 

2.13 Revenue recognition 
ZĞǀĞŶƵĞ�ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐ�ƚŚĞ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ǀĂůƵĞ͕�ŶĞƚ�ŽĨ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ĂĚĚĞĚ�ƚĂǆ�;͞s�d͟Ϳ�ĂŶĚ�ĞƋƵŝǀĂůĞŶƚ�ƚĂǆĞƐ�ĂƉƉůŝĞĚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
sales. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
customer returns, rebates, commissions and taxes related with sales. 

The core principle of revenue recognition is that the Group should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, IFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue 
recognition: 

භ Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
භ Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
භ Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
භ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
භ Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

AccorĚŝŶŐůǇ͕�ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ�ŝƐ�ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞĚ�ǁŚĞŶ�;Žƌ�ĂƐͿ�Ă�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�ŽďůŝŐĂƚŝŽŶ�ŝƐ�ƐĂƚŝƐĨŝĞĚ͕�ŝ͘Ğ͕͘�ǁŚĞŶ�͚ĐŽŶƚƌŽů͛�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 

The Group recognises sales revenue related to the transfer of promised goods or services when control of the 
goods or services passes to the customer. The amount of revenue recognised reflects the consideration to which 
the Group is or expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  

Sales revenue is recognised on individual sales when control transfers to the customer. In most instances, control 
passes, and sales revenue is recognised when the product is delivered to the vessel or vehicle on which it will be 
transported once loaded, the ĚĞƐƚŝŶĂƚŝŽŶ�ƉŽƌƚ�Žƌ� ƚŚĞ�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌ͛Ɛ�ƉƌĞŵŝƐĞƐ͘�dŚĞƌĞ�ŵĂǇ�ďĞ�ĐŝƌĐƵŵƐƚĂŶĐĞƐ�ǁŚĞŶ�
judgment is required based on the five indicators of control below. 
භ The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership and has the ability to direct the use of, and 

obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the good or service.  
භ The customer has a present obligation to pay in accordance with the terms of the sales contract. For shipments 

ƵŶĚĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�/ŶĐŽƚĞƌŵƐ��ŽƐƚ͕�/ŶƐƵƌĂŶĐĞ�ĂŶĚ�&ƌĞŝŐŚƚ�;͞�/&͟Ϳͬ�ĂƌƌŝĂŐĞ�WĂŝĚ�ƚŽ�;͞�Wd͟Ϳͬ�ŽƐƚ�ĂŶĚ�&ƌĞŝŐŚƚ�;͞�&Z͟Ϳ�ƚŚŝƐ�
is generally when the ship is loaded, at which time the obligation for payment is for both product and freight.  
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භ The customer has accepted the asset. Sales revenue may be subject to adjustment if the product specification 
does not conform to the terms specified in the sales contract, but this does not impact the passing of control. 
Assay and specification adjustments have been immaterial historically. 

භ The customer has legal title to the asset. The Group usually retains legal title until payment is received for 
credit risk purposes only.  

භ The customer has physical possession of the asset. This indicator may be less important as the customer may 
obtain control of an asset prior to obtaining physical possession, which may be the case for goods in transit.  

The Group sells some portion of its products on CFR or CIF Incoterms. This means that the Group is responsible 
(i.e., acts as principal) for providing shipping services and, in some instances, insurance after the date at which 
control of goods passes to the customer at the loading port. The Group therefore has separate performance 
obligations for freight and insurance services that are provided solely to facilitate sale of the commodities it 
produces. Other Incoterms commonly used by the Group are Free on BŽĂƌĚ�;͞&K�͟Ϳ͕�ǁŚĞƌĞ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŚĂƐ�ŶŽ�
responsibility for freight or insurance once control of the goods has passed at the loading port, and Delivered at 
WůĂĐĞ�;͞��W͟Ϳ͕�ǁŚĞƌĞ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽů�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ŐŽŽĚƐ�ƉĂƐƐĞƐ�ǁŚĞŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐƚ�ŝƐ�ĚĞůŝǀĞƌĞĚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ĂŐƌĞĞĚ�ĚĞƐƚŝŶĂƚŝŽŶ. For 
these Incoterms there is only one performance obligation, being for provision of product at the point where 
control passes. 

2.14 Leases 

The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group was 1 January 2019. 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach which: 
භ Requires the Group to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment to the 

opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application. 
භ Does not permit restatement of comparatives, which continue to be presented under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

The Group has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess whether a 
contract is or contains a lease for lease contracts entered into prior to the adoption date. Accordingly, the definition 
of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to be applied to those leases entered or changed 
before 1 January 2019. 

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 determines whether a contract 
contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
ƉĞƌŝŽĚ�ŽĨ�ƚŝŵĞ�ŝŶ�ĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ�ĨŽƌ�ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĂƚŝŽŶ͘�dŚŝƐ�ŝƐ�ŝŶ�ĐŽŶƚƌĂƐƚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŽĐƵƐ�ŽŶ�͚ƌŝƐŬƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞǁĂƌĚƐ͛�ŝŶ�/�^�ϭϳ�ĂŶĚ�
IFRIC 4. 

The Group applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all lease contracts entered 
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). 

The Group as lessee 
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the 
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low 
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

භ fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives. 
භ variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date. 
භ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees. 
භ the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 
භ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 

terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made.  

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever: 

භ the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

භ the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

භ a lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the 
effective date of the modification.  

The Group did not make any such adjustments for the years presented. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If 
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group 
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the 
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 
ŝŵƉĂŝƌŵĞŶƚ�ůŽƐƐ�ĂƐ�ĚĞƐĐƌŝďĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�͚WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ͕�WůĂŶƚ�ĂŶĚ��ƋƵŝƉŵĞŶƚ͛�ƉŽůŝĐǇ͘ 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the year in which the event or 
condition that triggers those pĂǇŵĞŶƚƐ�ŽĐĐƵƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĂƌĞ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞĚ�ŝŶ�͚KƚŚĞƌ�ĞǆƉĞŶƐĞƐ͛�ŝŶ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�Žƌ�ůŽƐƐ�;ƐĞĞ�EŽƚĞ�ϴ 
Profit from operations). 

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for 
any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical 
expedient. For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component based on the basis 
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease 
components.  
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The Group as lessor 

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a 
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate 
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising 
from the head lease. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Amounts ĚƵĞ�ĨƌŽŵ�ůĞƐƐĞĞƐ�ƵŶĚĞƌ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐĞ�ůĞĂƐĞƐ�ĂƌĞ�ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞĚ�ĂƐ�ƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞƐ�Ăƚ�ƚŚĞ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŶĞƚ�
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting years so as to reflect a constant periodic 
ƌĂƚĞ�ŽĨ�ƌĞƚƵƌŶ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŶĞƚ�ŝŶǀĞstment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration 
under the contract to each component. 

2.15 Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

When the Group borrows funds specifically for the purpose of the qualifying assets, the amount of borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation is the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any 
investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings. 

Financial investment revenues from the temporary investing of unused portion of investment loan are deducted 
against the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recorded in the income 
statement in the year in which they are incurred. 

2.16 Foreign currencies 
For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each company in the 
group are expressed in US Dollars, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

dŚĞ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĂƚŝŽŶ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĞ�h^��ŽůůĂƌ�ďĂƐĞĚ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĂƐƐĞƐƐŵĞŶƚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ�ŵŝǆ�
will be predominantly US Dollar denominated due to nature of the industry and US Dollar presentation will 
enhance comparability with the industry peer group. 

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
ĞŶƚŝƚǇ͛Ɛ�ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶĂů�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�;ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐŝĞƐͿ�ĂƌĞ�ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝƐĞĚ�Ăƚ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĂƚĞƐ�ŽĨ�ĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ�ƉƌĞǀĂŝůŝŶŐ�Ăƚ�ƚŚĞ�ĚĂƚĞƐ�ŽĨ�
the transactions. At the end of each reporting year, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

&Žƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƵƌƉŽƐĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞƐĞ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
foreign operations are translated into USD using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting date. 
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates 
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
(and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).  
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Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they arise except for: 

භ exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings. 

භ exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see Note 
4 Financial risk management); and 

භ exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign 
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit 
or loss on repayment of the monetary items. 

2.17 Taxation 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based ŽŶ�ƚĂǆĂďůĞ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ǇĞĂƌ͘�dĂǆĂďůĞ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�ĚŝĨĨĞƌƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�͚ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�ďĞĨŽƌĞ�ƚĂǆ͛�ĂƐ�
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚ�ƚĂǆ�ŝƐ�ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚ�ƵƐŝŶŐ�ƚĂǆ�ƌĂƚĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŚĂǀĞ�ďĞĞŶ�ĞŶĂĐƚĞĚ�Žƌ�ƐƵďƐƚĂŶƚŝǀĞůǇ�ĞŶĂĐƚĞĚ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ�ĞŶĚ�
of the reporting date. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting year and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year in which the 
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting year. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting year, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.  
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Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination. 

2.18 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant, and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Land is not depreciated and carried at cost less accumulated impairment. 

Properties during construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet 
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes costs related to the acquisition 
of the mentioned asset (employee benefits, site preparation, delivery cost, instalment, and montage costs etc.) 
These assets are classified to the related type of property asset when the construction is completed, and the asset 
is ready for use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use. 

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under 
construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis. 

An item of tangible assets is derecognised upon disposal or when future economic benefits are no longer expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
tangible assets is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and is recognised in profit or loss. 

The maintenance expenses arising from changing any part of the tangible assets can be capitalised if the economic 
benefit of the asset is increased. All other expenses are recorded in the expense accounts in the income statement 
when they are realised.  

Depreciation for tangible assets are calculated based on the following: 

 Land improvements Straight line 2 - 18 years 
 Buildings Straight line 10 - 30 years 
 Plant, machinery and equipment Straight line 1 - 38 years 
 Other fixed assets Straight line  1 - 15 years 
 Leasehold improvements Straight line  1 - 8 years 
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2.19 Mining reserves 
Mining reserves includes trona reserves that can be economically and legally extracted and processed into soda 
ash or sodium bicarbonate at the time of their determination. Mining reserves are initially recognised at fair value 
when acquired. 

Subsequently mining reserves are stated at initial value, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Amortisation of mining reserves 

The Group uses a methodology based on information that is dependent on a management estimation of units of 
production and total reserve volume by independent experts. Mining reserves are amortised according to units of 
production of trona extracted during the respective periods. 

2.20 Mining assets 
dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐĞ�ƐŽĚĂ�ĂƐŚͬƐŽĚŝƵŵ�ďŝĐĂƌďŽŶĂƚĞ�ĂĨƚĞƌ�ĞǆƚƌĂĐƚŝŶŐ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ƵƐŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�
solution mining method through usage of production wells. Mining assets comprise costs to construct production 
wells and other related costs incurred for wells to become operational. 

Mining assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation, and accumulated impairment losses. 

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities is capitalised within mining 
properties, as long as the facts and circumstances indicate that the field has commercially viable reserves. 

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the asset retirement obligation, and for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs. The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any 
other consideration given to acquire the asset. 

Amortisation of mining assets 

To amortise mining assets, the Group uses a methodology based on information that is dependent on a 
management estimation of units of production. Mining assets are amortised according to units of production of 
trona extracted.  

Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures 

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources means the search for mineral resources, including minerals 
after an entity has obtained legal rights to explore in a specific area, as well as the determination of the technical 
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures are expenditures incurred in connection with the exploration and 
evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral 
resource is demonstrable. 

After the technical feasibility and commercial applicability of extracting ore from a mine resource is provable, the 
exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalised as mine preparation and development expenses. 
Therefore costs incurred before legal rights to explore have been obtained are expensed to profit or loss, while 
once technical and commercial viability has been demonstrated, exploration and evaluation assets are recognized 
and classified as either tangible or intangible assets in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 38 respectively. Exploration 
and evaluation assets are depreciated or amortized based on units of production to expected accessible mining 
reserves. 
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2.21 Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed annually at the end of each reporting year, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Internally generated intangible assets - software development costs 

The Group capitalise certain software development costs associated with creating and enhancing internally 
developed software. Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is 
incurred. An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of 
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following conditions have been demonstrated: 

ͻ the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale. 
ͻ the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it. 
ͻ the ability to use or sell the intangible asset. 
ͻ how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. 
ͻ the availability of adequate technical, financial, and other resources to complete the development and to 

use or sell the intangible asset; and 
ͻ the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally 
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year 
in which it is incurred. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired 
separately. Useful lives of software development costs are between 5 to 10 years. 

Derecognition of intangible assets  

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

2.22 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill 
At the end of each year, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease. 

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 
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2.23 Share issue expenses, share premium account and restricted profit reserves 
Costs of share issues are written off against the premium arising on the issue of share capital. 

2.24 Inventories 
Inventories of finished goods and materials are stated at lower of cost or the net realisable values. Costs, including 
an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories held by the method 
most appropriate to the particular class of inventory, with inventories being valued on the weighted average basis. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make a sale. 

2.25 Employee benefits  
a) Retirement pay obligation: 

Termination benefits for Turkish operations 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ� ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ďǇ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ� ůĂǁ�ĂŶĚ�ƵŶŝŽŶ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕� ƚŽ�ĞŶƐƵƌĞ� ƚŚĂƚ� ůƵŵƉ� ƐƵŵ�
payments are made to employees retiring or involuntarily leaving the Turkish subsidiaries. Such payments are 
considered as being part of employee benefits as per IAS 19 (Revised) - Employee Benefits. 

The retirement pay provision recognised in the financial statements represents the present value of the retirement 
pay obligation. The actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The cost of providing retirement pay is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial 
valuations being carried out annually at the end of each reporting year. 

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling and the return 
on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or 
credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the year in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or 
loss.  

Retirement pay obligations are categorised as follows: 

භ service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and 
settlements). 

භ net interest expense or income; and 
භ remeasurement. 

Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs. 

Post-retirement benefits for US operations 

Most of the employees of Sisecam Chemicals Resources, including Sisecam Wyoming, are eligible for post-
retirement benefits other than pensions if they reach retirement age while still employed by Sisecam Wyoming or 
Sisecam Chemicals Resources. 

dŚĞ�ďĞŶĞĨŝƚƐ�ĂƌĞ�ĂĐĐŽƵŶƚĞĚ�ĨŽƌ�ŽŶ�ĂŶ�ĂĐĐƌƵĂů�ďĂƐŝƐ�ŽǀĞƌ�ĂŶ�ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞ͛Ɛ�ƉĞƌŝŽĚ�ŽĨ�ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ͘�dŚĞ�ƌĞƚŝƌĞĞ�ďĞŶĞĨŝƚ�ƉůĂŶ�
is not funded, and CEI has the right to modify or terminate the plan until 21 December 2021 which was the disposal 
date of its subsidiaries. CEI uses 31 December to determine post-retirement benefit measurements and future 
costs are present valued the respective reporting date. 
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b) Defined benefit plans: 

Retirement and savings for US operations 

Up until the Strategic transactions on 21 December 2021, CEI sponsored various defined benefit plans, being: 

Retirement plans 
Benefits provided under the Ciner Pension Plan for Salaried Employees and Ciner Pension Plan for Hourly 
Employees are based upon years of service and average compensation for the highest 60 consecutive months of 
the employee's last 120 months of service, as defined. Each plan covers substantially all full-time employees 
working at Sisecam Wyoming and Sisecam Chemicals Resources hired before 1 May 2001. ��/͛Ɛ�ĨƵŶĚŝŶŐ�ƉŽůŝĐǇ�ŝƐ�
to contribute an amount within the range of the minimum required and the maximum tax-deductible contribution. 

Savings plan 
The Ciner 401(k) Retirement Plan covers all eligible salaried and hourly employees of Sisecam Chemical Resources, 
including those in Sisecam Wyoming. Eligibility is limited to all domestic residents and any foreign expatriates who 
are in the United States indefinitely. The plan permits employees to contribute specified percentages of their 
compensation, while CEI makes contributions based upon the specified percentages of employee contributions.  

The Plan was amended such that participants hired on or subsequent to 1 May 2001, will receive an additional 
contribution from CEI based on a percentage of the participanƚ͛Ɛ�ďĂƐĞ�ƉĂǇ�ƵŶƚŝů�Ϯϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϮϭ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ǁĂƐ�ƚŚĞ�
disposal date of its subsidiaries. 

c) Short-term employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
in exchange for that service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. See Note 29 Employee benefits for further details. 

2.26 Derivative financial instruments  
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract was entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value at the end of each reporting year, with changes in the 
fair value immediately recognised in the income or loss, unless the derivative is designed and effective as a hedging 
instrument. 

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract. Contracts are assessed 
for embedded derivatives when the Group becomes a party to them, including at the date of a business 
combination. 

The Group may enter into derivative contracts from time to time to manage exposure to the risk of exchange rate 
changes on its foreign currency transactions, the risk of changes in natural gas prices, and the risk of the variability 
in interest rates on borrowings. Gains and losses on derivative contracts qualifying for hedge accounting are 
reported as a component of the underlying transactions. The Group follows hedge accounting for its hedging 
activities. All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at their fair values. The accounting for 
changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting 
designation. For a derivative designated as a fair value hedge, the gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in the 
period of change together with the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributed to the risk being hedged. 
&Žƌ�Ă�ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞ�ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�Ă�ĐĂƐŚ�ĨůŽǁ�ŚĞĚŐĞ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĞĨĨĞĐƚŝǀĞ�ƉŽƌƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞ͛Ɛ�ŐĂŝŶ�Žƌ�ůŽƐƐ�ŝƐ�ŝŶŝƚŝĂůůǇ�
reported as a component of other comprehensive income / (loss) and subsequently reclassified into profit or loss 
when the hedged exposure affects profit or loss. Any significant ineffective portion of the gain or loss is reported 
in statements of profit or loss immediately. For derivatives not designated as hedges, the gain or loss is reported 
in profit or loss in the period of change. When the Group has natural gas physical forward contracts, they are 
accounted for under the normal purchases and normal sales scope exception. 
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2.27 Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value, except for trade receivables that do 
not contain significant financing component. The Group measure trade receivables at their transaction price if the 
trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component in accordance with IFRS 15 (or when the entity 
applies the practical expedient) at initial recognition.  

At initial recognition, Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset 
ŶŽƚ�Ăƚ�ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�Žƌ�ůŽƐƐ�;͞&sdW>͟Ϳ, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial asset.  

The Group reclassifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income or FVTPL on the basis of both: 

භ ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�ŵŽĚĞů�ĨŽƌ�ŵĂŶĂŐŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ 
භ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

When, and only when, the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, it reclassifies all 
affected financial assets. The Group applies the reclassification prospectively from the reclassification date. The 
Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

භ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and 

භ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Interest revenue of financial assets measured at amortised cost is calculated by using the effective interest 
method. This is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. 

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified and the renegotiation 
or modification does not result in the derecognition of that financial asset, the Group recalculates the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. 

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the following conditions 
are met: 

භ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and 

භ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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A gain or loss on a financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for impairment gains or losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until 
the financial asset is derecognised or reclassified. When the financial asset is derecognised the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment. If the financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive 
income measurement category, the Group accounts for the cumulative gain or loss that was previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income in financial statements. Interest calculated using the effective interest method is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

At initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income 
subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading. 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 
A financial asset shall be measured at FVTPL unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 

Interest income 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying 
amount on initial recognition. 

Impairment 
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The Group applies the impairment requirements for the recognition and measurement of a loss allowance for 
financial assets that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. However, the loss allowance 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in 
the statement of financial position. 

At each reporting date, the Group measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition. 
 
If, at the reporting date, the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month 
expected credit losses except for purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets.  

The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables 
and other receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, which is referred as simplified 
approach. 

The allowance for expected credit loss provision is immaterial. 

Financial liabilities 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial 
liability not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liability. 

The Group classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for: 

භ financial liabilities at FVTPL: Such liabilities, including derivatives that are liabilities, are subsequently 
measured at fair value.  
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භ financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when 
the continuing involvement approach applies. If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the Group 
has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the Group continues 
to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and recognises a financial liability for the consideration 
received. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any income on the transferred asset and any expense 
incurred on the financial liability. 

භ contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies. Such 
contingent consideration is subsequently being measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit or 
loss. 

The Group does not reclassify any financial liability. 

Recognition and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when, and only when: 

භ the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
භ it transfers the financial asset, and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 

If a transfer of financial asset does not result in derecognition because the Group has retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the Group will continue to recognise the transferred asset 
in its entirety and recognise a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the Group 
recognises any income on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability. 

The Group derecognizes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position 
when, and only when, it is extinguished Ͷ i.e., when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. 

2.28 Government grants and incentives 
Government grants are recognised at fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and the Group will comply with all the required conditions. Government grants related to costs are 
accounted as income on a consistent basis over the related periods with the matching costs. 

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred 
government grants and are credited to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected 
lives of the related assets. 

2.29 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments which their maturities are three months or less from date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The carrying 
amount of these assets approximates their fair value. 

2.30 Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker, being the geographical locations where the Group operates. The chief operating 
decision-makers have been identified as the Board of Directors. 
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2.31 Provisions, contingent liabilities, contingent assets 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting year, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination 

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 
At the end of subsequent reporting years, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount 
that would be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation recognised. 

Environmental liabilities - mine closure provision 

The Group is subject to environmental controls aŶĚ�ƌĞŐƵůĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ĂŶĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�h^�͘�dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�
may lead as a result of the discharge of materials and contaminants into the environment, to a disturbance of land 
and thereby create a negative impact on the flora and fauna. 

However, environmental laws and regulations continue to evolve. The Group is unable to predict the timing or 
extent to which those environmental laws and regulations may change. Such change, if it occurs, may require that 
the Group modernize technology to meet standards that are more stringent. Within the scope of various laws, 
mining licences and use of mineral rights agreements, the Group decommissions mine facilities on cessation of its 
mining operations and restores the environment. 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ďĞůŝĞǀĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ its environmental obligations mainly include the following: 

ͻ rehabilitation of land and other types of on-going rehabilitation, 

ͻ decommissioning of mining assets and bringing mine sites into a condition that ensures the safety of 
population, protection of environment, building and facilities. 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽďůŝŐĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƐƐŽĐŝĂƚĞĚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĞƚŝƌĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�Ă�ƚĂŶŐŝďůĞ�ůŽŶŐ-lived asset are recorded as a liability 
when those obligations are incurred, with the amount of the liability initially measured at fair value. Upon initially 
recognizing a liability for its land reclamation obligations, the Group increases the carrying amount of the related 
long-lived asset by the same amount. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each year, and the 
capitalised cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, 
an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement. 

2.32 Critical accounting judgements and key source of estimation uncertainty  
/Ŷ� ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐ�ŽĨ� ĂƉƉůǇŝŶŐ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ĂĐĐŽƵŶƚŝŶŐ�ƉŽůŝĐŝĞƐ�ĚĞƐĐƌŝďĞĚ� ŝŶ� ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ� ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů� ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕�
management has made judgements and estimates that may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. 
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Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

COVID-19 

The COVID-19 pandemic brought unexpected challenges to the Group during 2020. The well-ďĞŝŶŐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
employees and contractors was prioritised, and the measures were rapidly and successfully implemented across 
the Group to mitigate the threat to employees and contractors. Operations in Turkey, USA and the UK were 
granted autonomy to take the appropriate actions to satisfy local regulations and government-recommended 
guidelines. The Group continues to monitor and update all COVID-19 related health and safety measures in order 
to adhere to all applicable local, state, federal, and international regulations and guidelines and to ensure the 
safety of ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĞŵƉůŽǇĞĞƐ͘ 

The COVID-ϭϵ�ƉĂŶĚĞŵŝĐ�ĂĚǀĞƌƐĞůǇ�ŝŵƉĂĐƚĞĚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ�ĨƌŽŵ��Ɖƌŝů�ϮϬϮϬ͕�ǁŝƚŚ�ĂĚǀĞƌƐĞ�ŝŵƉĂĐƚƐ�ŽŶ�ƐŽĚĂ�
ash demand, production volumes, price per tonne, global logistics costs and supply chain being most significant 
during Q2 and Q3. During Q3, global supply demand balances for soda ash improved, allowing an increase in 
production volume, though there was still a decline during Q3 2020 relative to Q3 2019. By Q4, all production 
plants were operating at full capacity with strong demand and improved soda ash pricing returning to the market, 
albeit still below pre-COVID-19 levels. The cost advantages, which natural soda ash production and solution mining 
ĞŶũŽǇ�ŽǀĞƌ�ƐǇŶƚŚĞƚŝĐĂůůǇ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐĞĚ�ƐŽĚĂ�ĂƐŚ͕�ŚĂǀĞ�ďĞĞŶ�ĐƌŝƚŝĐĂů�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞůative financial performance during 
2020.  

The residual impacts of COVID-ϭϵ� ĨƌŽŵ�ϮϬϮϬ� ƚŚĂƚ�ǁŝůů� ĐŽŶƚŝŶƵĞ� ƚŽ� ŝŵƉĂĐƚ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ� ŝŶ� ƚŚĞ� ĨƵƚƵƌĞ�
include: (i) extended credit terms for its customers, impacting its working capital; and (ii) depressed prices, which 
continued into 2021 but recovered during 2022. Management remains confident that in the medium and long 
term, global demand for soda ash will continue to grow, prices will strengthen, and Kew Soda Ltd will be able to 
ƉƌŽĨŝƚĂďůǇ�ĚĞůŝǀĞƌ�ŝƚƐ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐĞĚ�ǀŽůƵŵĞƐ�ŝŶƚŽ�ŝƚƐ�ƚĂƌŐĞƚĞĚ�ŵĂƌŬĞƚƐ͘��Ɛ�ƐƵĐŚ͕�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ũƵĚŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƐŽĚĂ�
ash demand, production volumes, price per tonne and global logistical costs will not be significantly affected by 
COVID-19 in the medium and long term. 

Identification of functional currencies 

The functional currency for each subsidiary is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it 
operates. Determination of functional currency involves significant judgement and other companies may make 
ĚŝĨĨĞƌĞŶƚ�ũƵĚŐĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ďĂƐĞĚ�ŽŶ�ƐŝŵŝůĂƌ�ĨĂĐƚƐ͘�&Žƌ�ŵĂŶǇ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐĞƐ͕�ƚŚĞŝƌ�ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶĂů�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĞ�
currency of the country in which they operate. The Group reconsiders the functional currency of its businesses if 
there is a change in the underlying transactions, events or conditions, which determine their primary economic 
environment. The determination of functional currency is a key judgement, which affects the measurement of 
non-current assets included in the statement of financial position, and, as a consequence, the depreciation and 
amortisation of those assets included in the statement of profit or loss. It also impacts exchange gains and losses 
included in the staƚĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�Žƌ�ůŽƐƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŝŶ�ĞƋƵŝƚǇ͘�dŚĞ�ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶĂů�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ�
was determined to be Turkish Lira during the years presented in the consolidated financial statements. 

License ʹ judgement in continuation of operations beyond licence and lease terms 

�ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�ŐƌĂŶƚĞĚ�ƚŚĞ�ƌŝŐŚƚ�ƚŽ�ŵŝŶĞ�ĨŽƌ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ��ŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ�ďǇ�ǁĂǇ�ŽĨ�ĂŶ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�
�ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ� ŝƚƐ�ŵŝŶŽƌŝƚǇ�ƐŚĂƌĞŚŽůĚĞƌ��ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ͕�ǁŚŽ�ŽǁŶƐ�ƚŚĞ� ůŝĐĞŶĐĞ�ƚŽ�ĞǆƚƌĂĐƚ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ŵŝŶĞ� ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ�
District. The existing agreement between Eti Soda and Eti Maden allows Eti Soda to mine for trona for 24 years, 
ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�ƚŚĞ�ǇĞĂƌƐ�ϮϬϬϭ�ƚŽ�ϮϬϮϱ͘�KŶ�ϭϵ�EŽǀĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϮϭ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ǁĂƐ�ĞǆƚĞŶĚĞĚ�ƚŽ�ϮϬϰϱ͘�/ƚ�ŝƐ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�
judgement that the licence will be renewed until current known reserves are depleted and hence depreciation is 
being charged over the expected life of the mine rather than the term of the licence. 

Kazan Soda has a mining licence for the Kazan District, which allows for mining activities in the region. The licence 
ƉĞƌŝŽĚ�ĞǆƉŝƌĞƐ�ŝŶ�ϮϬϰϯ�ĂŶĚ�ŝƚ�ŝƐ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ũƵĚŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�ůŝĐĞŶĐĞ�ǁŝůů�ďĞ�ƌĞŶĞǁĞĚ�ƵŶƚŝů�ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚ�ŬŶŽǁŶ�
trona reserves are depleted. 
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Sisecam Wyoming holds several mining leases and one licence. Mining leases expire in the range of 2021 ʹ 2029 
ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�ůŝĐĞŶĐĞ�ĞǆƉŝƌĞƐ�ŝŶ�ϮϬϲϭ͘�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ũƵĚŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�ůĞĂƐĞƐ�ǁŝůů�ƌĞŶĞǁ�ƐŽ�ůŽŶŐ�ĂƐ�ƚŚĞ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌǇ�
files an application for renewal with the Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, within 90 days 
of expiration of the leases and that the license will also be renew beyond 2061 so long as the subsidiary 
continuously conducts mining operations and removes commercial quantities of sodium minerals from the 
licensed premises. 

Close-down, restoration and environmental obligations 

Provision is made for close-down, restoration and environmental costs when the obligation occurs, based on the 
net present value of estimated future costs required to satisfy the obligation. Management uses its judgement 
and experience to deterŵŝŶĞ�ƚŚĞ�ƉŽƚĞŶƚŝĂů�ƐĐŽƉĞ�ŽĨ�ĐůŽƐƵƌĞ�ƌĞŚĂďŝůŝƚĂƚŝŽŶ�ǁŽƌŬ�ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ƚŽ�ŵĞĞƚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ůĞŐĂů͕�
statutory and constructive obligations, and any other commitments made to stakeholders, and the options and 
techniques available to meet those obligations and estimate the associated costs and the likely timing of those 
costs. Significant judgement is also required to determine both the costs associated with that work and the other 
assumptions (i.e., long-term discount rates) used to calculate the provision. External experts support the cost 
estimation process where appropriate but there remains significant estimation uncertainty. The key judgement in 
applying this accounting policy is determining when an estimate is sufficiently reliable to make or adjust a closure 
provision. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Mining reserves ʹ estimation of mining reserves 

Mining reserves are estimates of the amount of trona that can be economically and legally extracted from the 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚŝĞƐ͘�̂ ƵĐŚ�ƌĞƐĞƌǀĞƐ�ĞƐƚŝŵĂƚĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞƐĞ�ŵĂǇ�ĂĨĨĞĐƚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞƉŽƌƚĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�
position and results, in the following way: 

භ The carrying value of property, plant and equipment, mining reserves, mining assets and goodwill may be 
affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows. 

භ Depreciation and amortisation charges in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
may change where such charges are determined using the unit of production method, or where the useful life 
of the related assets change. 

භ The recognition and carrying value of deferred income tax assets may change due to changes in the 
judgements regarding the existence of such assets and in estimates of the likely recovery of such assets. 

භ The timing of the closure of the mines and calculation and discounting of asset retirement obligations. 

The Group estimates its mining reserves based on information compiled by external appropriately qualified 
persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the trona and suitable 
production techniques and recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological judgements to interpret 
the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, 
commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs, along with geological assumptions and 
judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the trona. 

As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is produced during the 
operation of a mine, estimates of mining reserves may change. The carrying amount of mining reserves as at 31 
December 2021 was USD696.4 million (2020: USD2,038.4 million). 

Recoverability of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
in the foreseeable future. The recoverable amount of deferred tax assets, partially or fully, is estimated under the 
current conditions. During the assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets, future taxable profit 
forecasts and expiration dates of government grants, carry forward tax losses and other tax advantages were 
considered (Note 15).  
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Annual impairment review 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŶŽŶ-current assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In making assessments for impairment, assets that do not 
generate independent cash flows are allocated to an appropriate CGU. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ďǇ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ƚŚĞ�ĂƐƐĞƚ͛Ɛ�ĐĂƌƌǇŝŶŐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ĞǆĐĞĞĚƐ� ŝƚƐ� ƌĞĐŽǀĞƌĂďůĞ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ͘�dhe recoverable amount is the 
ŚŝŐŚĞƌ�ŽĨ�ĂŶ�ĂƐƐĞƚ͛Ɛ�ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ůĞƐƐ�ĐŽƐƚƐ�ŽĨ�ĚŝƐƉŽƐĂů�ĂŶĚ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ŝŶ�ƵƐĞ͘�'ŽŽĚǁŝůů�ŝƐ�ƐƵďũĞĐƚ�ƚŽ�ŝŵƉĂŝƌŵĞŶƚ�ƚĞƐƚ�ĞǀĞƌǇ�
year. The recoverable amount of those assets, or CGU, is measured at the higher of their fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. Our assessment is that no reasonably possible change in assumptions would result in 
ƚŚĞ�ĐĂƌƌǇŝŶŐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ĞǆĐĞĞĚŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĞĐŽǀĞƌĂďůĞ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ͕�ĨŽƌ�ĞŝƚŚĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŶŽŶ-current assets or goodwill.  

Indicative impairment models are prepared based on life-of-mine models, for which the most significant is the 
estimate of mining reserves. This has been included in the section above within note 2.19. 

Estimation of obligations for post-employment costs  

dŚĞ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽďůŝŐĂƚions for post-employment benefits is dependent on the amount of benefits that 
are expected to be paid out, discounted to the reporting date. The discount rate is a key assumption and is based 
upon the yields on high quality corporate bonds in the relevant currency, which have durations consistent with 
the term of the obligations. The discount rate will vary from one period to another in line with movements in 
corporate bond yields, but at any given measurement date there is relatively little estimation uncertainty. This 
rate is also used to calculate the interest cost on obligations and interest income on plan assets. 

The following key assumptions are used to calculate the estimated benefit: future pay increases to be received by 
members of final pay plans, the level of inflation (for those benefits that are subject to some form of inflation 
protection), current mortality rates and future improvements in mortality rates. The assumption regarding future 
inflation is based on market yields on inflation-linked instruments, where possible, combined with consensus 
views. The Group reviews the actual mortality rates of retirees in its major pension plans on a regular basis and 
uses these rates to set its current mortality assumptions. It also uses its judgment with respect to allowances for 
future improvements in longevity having regard to standard improvement scales in each relevant country and 
after taking external actuarial advice. Details of the key assumptions, how they have moved since the previous 
balance sheet date and the sensitivity of the carrying value to changes in the assumptions are set out in Note 29. 

Amortisation of mining assets ʹ estimate on basis for amortisation 

As discussed in Note 2.20 Mining assets, management is required to use a methodology based on information that 
ŝƐ� ĚĞƉĞŶĚĞŶƚ� ŽŶ� ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ� ĞƐƚŝŵĂƚŝŽŶ� ŝ͘Ğ͘� ĞƐƚŝŵĂƚŝŽŶ� ŽĨ� ŵŝŶŝŶŐ� ƌĞƐĞƌǀĞƐ� ǁŚĞƌĞ� ƚŚĞ� ŵŝŶŝŶŐ� ĂƐƐĞƚƐ� ĂƌĞ�
deployed. See Note 2.20 Mining assets for further details and below for estimation of mining reserves. The carrying 
amount of mining assets as at 31 December 2021 is USD82.1 million (2020: USD144.0 million). 

2.33 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
Non-current assets held for sale (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction, not through continuing use. These assets may be a component 
of an entity, a disposal group or an individual non-current asset. The sale of assets held for sale is expected to 
occur within the following 12 months from the reporting date. Events or circumstances may extend the period to 
complete the sale beyond one year. An extension of the period required to complete a sale does not preclude an 
asset (or disposal group) from being classified as held for sale if the delay is caused by events or circumstances 
ďĞǇŽŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽů�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞƌĞ�ŝƐ�ƐƵĨĨŝĐŝĞŶƚ�ĞǀŝĚĞŶĐĞ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƌĞŵĂŝŶƐ�ĐŽŵŵitted to its plan to sell 
the asset (or disposal group). A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed 
of, or that is classified as held for sale, and that:  

(a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; 

(b) is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area of 
operations; or  
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(c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying 
amount or fair value. If fair value is below the carrying value of asset, the related impairment is accounted for 
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

2.34 Capital management 
The Group determine the appropriate capital structure of the Group specifically, how much is raised from 
ƐŚĂƌĞŚŽůĚĞƌƐ�;ĞƋƵŝƚǇͿ�ĂŶĚ�ŚŽǁ�ŵƵĐŚ�ŝƐ�ďŽƌƌŽǁĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ŝŶƐƚŝƚƵƚŝŽŶƐ�;ĚĞďƚͿ�ŝŶ�ŽƌĚĞƌ�ƚŽ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐĞ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
business strategy. See Note 4 Financial risk management, section Capital risk management for further details on 
how the Group manages its capital related risks. 

3. Segmental analysis 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
opeƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ĚĞĐŝƐŝŽŶ�ŵĂŬĞƌƐ�;͞�K�D͟Ϳ͘�dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�<Ğǁ�^ŽĚĂ Ltd.͛Ɛ��ŽĂƌĚ�ŽĨ��ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĞ��K�D͕�
which is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞƉŽƌƚĂďůĞ�ƐĞŐŵĞŶƚƐ�ǁĞƌĞ��ƚŝ Soda, Kazan Soda, USA and Corporate both for entities in the UK and 
Turkey for financial year 2020. The Group considers a combination of factors to determine their reportable 
segments, such as products and services and geographical areas. Subsequent to 2021 Strategic Transactions, the 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ƌĞƉŽƌƚĂďůĞ� ƐĞŐŵĞŶƚƐ� ĂƌĞ� �ƚŝ� ^ŽĚĂ͕� <ĂǌĂŶ� ^ŽĚĂ� ĂŶĚ� �ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ� ĂŶĚ� ŽƚŚĞƌ� ;ǁŚŝĐŚ� ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
corporate headquarters in London, UK, WE Soda Kimya, Ciner Kimya, TC Soda and its subsidiaries, CEI and 
discontinued operations in the USA (which consists of Sisecam Chemicals Resources and its subsidiaries). Eti Soda 
ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂƌĞ�ƌĞƉŽƌƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ĨŽƌ�ŐĞŽŐƌĂƉŚŝĐĂů�ƌĞƉŽƌƚŝŶŐ͘�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ�ƌĞŐĂƌĚŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�
segments is reported below. 

Segment revenues and results 

dŚĞ� ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ� ŝƐ� ĂŶ� ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ� ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ͕� ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ͕� ĂƐƐĞƚƐ� and liabilities by reportable segment (as 
reviewed by the Board of Directors): 

 Turkey   

2021 Eti Soda Kazan Soda 
Corporate and 

other Total 
      
Domestic sales 100,715 110,585 - 211,300 
Export sales 246,257 434,556 - 680,813 
Segment revenue and other income 346,972 545,141 - 892,113 
      
Finance income 19,634 1,775 2,855 24,264 
Finance expense1 (51,645) (432,685) 255,5721 (228,758) 
     
Profit/(loss) before taxation  112,174 (133,233) 235,872 214,813 
Taxation (24,979) 113,212 (18,523) 69,710 
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations 87,195 (20,021) 217,349 284,523 
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations - - 71,810 71,810 
Net (Loss)/profit for the year 87,195 (20,021) 289,159 356,333 
      
Current assets 42,867 201,633 62,402 306,902 
Non-current assets 565,670 1,086,916 769,707 2,422,293 
Total liabilities 254,025 712,521 1,219,111 2,185,657 
Capital expenditure 14,661 64,222 28,787 107,670 
Taxes paid 51,134 - 11,005 62,139 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  53,379 42,054 68,094 163,527 

Note 1 - By considering offsetting guidance IAS 1, foreign exchange gains and losses are presented on a net basis in finance expense. The foreign exchange gain in corporate and 
other segment has not been presented in finance income for simplicity purposes. 
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 Turkey   

2020 Eti Soda Kazan Soda 
Corporate and 

other Total 
      
Domestic sales 87,056 101,989 - 189,045 
Export sales 237,999 378,538 - 616,537 
Segment revenue and other income 325,055 480,527 - 805,582 
      
Finance income 25,826 820 14,875 41,521 
Finance expense (16,665) (212,384) (108,936) (337,985) 
     
Profit/(loss) before taxation  165,265 (64,369) (117,569) (16,673) 
Taxation (22,907) 224,532 1,266 202,891 
(Loss)/profit for the year 142,358 160,163 (116,303) 186,218 
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations - - (21,393) (21,393) 
Net (Loss)/profit for the year 142,358 160,163 (137,696) 164,825 
      
Current assets 68,603 115,626 393,572 577,801 
Non-current assets 1,015,170 1,637,630 1,678,729 4,331,529 
Total liabilities 440,651 933,287 1,880,191 3,254,129 
Capital expenditure 10,507 21,108 38,074 69,689 
Taxes paid 9,220 - 5,422 14,642 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation  53,784 46,539 78,859 179,182 

 

The accounting policies used for the reportable segments are the ƐĂŵĞ�ĂƐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂĐĐŽƵŶƚŝŶŐ�ƉŽůŝĐŝĞƐ͘ 

The Group currently operates in Turkey and the US in addition to its corporate activities in the UK and immediate 
parent in Turkey. The operations of the Group comprise one class of business, being the extraction of trona and 
production of soda ash and sodium bicarbonate. 

&Žƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƵƌƉŽƐĞƐ�ŽĨ�ŵŽŶŝƚŽƌŝŶŐ�ƐĞŐŵĞŶƚ�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�ĂŶĚ�ĂůůŽĐĂƚŝŶŐ�ƌĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�ƐĞŐŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
Directors monitor the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each segment. Segment revenue 
reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter- segment sales in 
the current year (2020: USD nil). Substantially all of the tax charge in 2020 arises in United Kingdom and Turkey. 

Information about major customers 
dŚĞƌĞ�ǁĞƌĞ�ŽŶůǇ�ƚǁŽ�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌƐ͕��ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘�ĂŶĚ��ŵĞƌŝĐĂŶ�EĂƚƵƌĂů�̂ ŽĚĂ��ƐŚ��ŽƌƉ͕͘�ƚŚĂƚ�ĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƚĞĚ�
to 10% or more of the Group total sales revenue for 2021, being USD779.8 million (2020: USD685.9 million) and 
USD nil1 million (2020: USD177.9 million) to total sales for the year respectively. See Note 35 Related party 
transactions. 

Note 1 - ANSAC and the members thereof entered into an agreement, effective as of 24 July 2020 that, among other things, terminated CiŶĞƌ��ŽƌƉ͛Ɛ�
membership in ANSAC effective 31 December 2020. As of 1 January 2021, Ciner Corporation began managing its own export sales and marketing, 
leveraging the regional distributor network established by Kew Soda Ltd Group also while independently reviewing current and potential 
dŝƐƚƌŝďƵƚŝŽŶ�ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ�ƚŽ�ŽƉƚŝŵŝƐĞ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂĐĐĞƐƐ�ŝŶƚŽ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƚƵƌŶƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĞĂĐŚ�ŵĂƌŬĞƚ͘ 

4. Financial risk management 

The primary financial instruments of the Group consist of bank loans, cash and short-term time deposits. The main 
objective of the mentioned fiŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ŝŶƐƚƌƵŵĞŶƚƐ�ŝƐ�ƚŽ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐĞ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶĂů�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͘�dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŚĂƐ�
other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables arising from direct business operations. 

a) Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the 
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity structure. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity, debt, which includes the borrowings and leases disclosed in   
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Note 26 ʹ Borrowings and Note 39 ʹ Lease liabilities and right of use of assets, cash and cash equivalents and 
working capital. 

dŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ĐĂƉŝƚĂů� ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ� ŝƐ� ƐƵďũĞĐƚ� ƚŽ� ĐŽǀĞŶĂŶƚ� ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞŵĞŶƚƐ� ƐĞƚ� ŽƵƚ� ďǇ� ƚŚĞ� ŶĞǁ� ^ĞŶŝŽƌ� &ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�
Agreement entered into on 10 February 2022; see Note 26 ʹ Borrowings and Note 40 ʹ Post-balance sheet events 
for further details. 

The Group monitors its capital using net debt/total capital ratio. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
(including current and non-current borrowings and lease liabilities as shown in the Consolidated Statement of 
&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů� WŽƐŝƚŝŽŶͿ� ůĞƐƐ� ĐĂƐŚ�ĂŶĚ� ĐĂƐŚ�ĞƋƵŝǀĂůĞŶƚƐ� ĂŶĚ� ƌĞƐƚƌŝĐƚĞĚ� ĐĂƐŚ͘�dŽƚĂů� ĐĂƉŝƚĂů� ŝƐ� ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚ�ĂƐ� ͚ĞƋƵŝƚǇ͛� ĂƐ�
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position plus net debt. 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐĂƉŝƚĂů�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ� ŝƐ�ƐƵďũĞĐƚ� ƚŽ�ĐŽǀĞŶĂŶƚ� ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ƐĞƚ�ŽƵƚ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ� ůŽĂŶ�ĨĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂƐ�ĚĞƚĂŝůĞĚ�
ďĞůŽǁ�ĨŽƌ�ĨƵƌƚŚĞƌ�ĚĞƚĂŝůƐ�ĂŶĚ�EŽƚĞ�ϯϳ�ĨŽƌ�ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ďŽƌƌŽǁŝŶŐ�ƐƚƌƵĐƚƵƌĞ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŽǀĞŶĂŶƚ�ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞŵĞŶƚƐ�
subsequent to period end. 

The Group monitors its capital using net debt/total capital ratio. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
;ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�͚ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ŶŽŶ-ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚ�ďŽƌƌŽǁŝŶŐƐ͛�ĂƐ�ƐŚŽǁŶ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�&ŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�WŽƐŝƚŝŽŶͿ�ůĞƐƐ�
cash and cash ĞƋƵŝǀĂůĞŶƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƐƚƌŝĐƚĞĚ�ĐĂƐŚ͘�dŽƚĂů�ĐĂƉŝƚĂů�ŝƐ�ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�͚ĞƋƵŝƚǇ͛�ĂƐ�ƐŚŽǁŶ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�
Statement of Financial Position plus net debt. 

  2021 2020 
Borrowings (see Note26) 1,841,952 2,531,874 
Lease Liabilities (see Note 39) 15,942 38,287 
Total financial liabilities 1,857,894 2,570,161 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (see Note24) (14,494) (21,854) 
Less: Restricted cash (see Note23) (64,799) (15,565) 
Net debt 1,778,601 2,532,742 
Total equity 543,538 1,655,201 
Total capital 2,322,139 4,187,943 
Net debt ratio 77% 60% 

b) Financial risk factors 

dŚĞ�ƌŝƐŬƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͕�ƌĞƐƵůƚĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ͕�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�ŵĂƌŬĞƚ�ƌŝƐŬ͕�ĐƌĞĚŝƚ�ƌŝƐŬ�ĂŶĚ�ůŝƋƵŝĚŝƚǇ�ƌŝƐŬ͘�dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌŝƐŬ�
management program generally seeks to minimise the effects of uncertainty in financial market on financial 
performance of the Group. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to financial instruments fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks, as well 
as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. Sales to related 
parties was 90% of total sales (2020: 74%) due to using an export intermediary company, which is a related party. 
Trade receivables from related parties constitute 93% (2020: 69%) of total trade receivables. 

The Group assesses the credit quality of the customers, including related parties, by assessing the financial position 
of the customers, past experiences and other factors as a part of its credit risk management program. Historically, 
the Group has not been faced with any significant problem related to collections of third party receivables. 
However, due to lack of collateral for its receivables the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

The Group appropriately classifies its financial instruments considering common risk factors (such as the type of 
the instrument, credit risk rating, guarantees, time to maturity and sector) to determine whether the credit risk 
on a financial instrument has increased significantly and to account appropriate amount of credit losses in the 
consolidated financial statements. The Group does not have any overdue trade receivables at the reporting date.  
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The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date is: 

 Trade receivables 
Other 

receivables  

As at 31 December 2021 
Related 

party1 
Third 

party1 
Related 

party1 
Third 

party1 
Bank 

deposit 
      

Maximum net credit risk as of balance sheet date (A+B+C+D+E) 139,396 10,472 527,643 1,568 13,888 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - 29 - - - 
A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired 139,396 10,472 527,643 1,568 13,888 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - 29 - - - 
B. Net book value of financial assets whose terms are renegotiated, 
otherwise overdue or impaired 

- - - - - 

The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - - - - - 
C. Net book value of assets that are due but not impaired - - - - - 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - - - - - 
D. Net book value of impaired asset  - - - - - 
Overdue (gross book value) - 925 - - - 
Impairment (-) - (925) - - - 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - - - - - 
Not due (gross book value) - - - - - 
Impairment (-) - - - - - 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - - - - - 
E. Off-balance sheet items bearing credit risk - - - - - 

Note 1 - The Management considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their fair value. 

 Trade receivables 
 Other 

receivables   

As at 31 December 2020 
Related 

party1 
Third 

party1 
 Related 

party1 
Third 

party1  
Bank 

deposit 
        

Maximum net credit risk as of balance sheet date 
(A+B+C+D+E) 151,332 67,645 

 
768,979 4,828  21,839 

The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - -  - -  - 
A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due 
nor impaired 151,332 63,295 

 
768,979 4,828  21,839 

The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - -  - -  - 
B. Net book value of financial assets whose terms are 
renegotiated, otherwise overdue or impaired - - 

 
- -  - 

The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - -  - -  - 
C. Net book value of assets that are due but not impaired - 4,350  - -  - 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - -  - -  - 
D. Net book value of impaired asset - -  - -  - 
Overdue (gross book value) - 965  - -  - 
Impairment (-) - (965)  - -  - 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - -  - -  - 
Not due (gross book value) - -  - -  - 
Impairment (-) - -  - -  - 
The part of maximum risk under guarantee with collateral etc. - -  - -  - 
E. Off-balance sheet items bearing credit risk - -  - -  - 

Note 1 - Management considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their fair value. 

The Group has not secured (2020: USD nil million) its exposure to credit risk with the guarantee letters received 
from its customers. The Directors believe that the total trade receivable and other receivables are recoverable. 

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its loan receivables from related parties of USD527.6 million 
(2020: USD768.7 million) (see Note 35 Related party transactions) to the extent that the related parties fail to 
meet their contractual obligations.  
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Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. This risk 
ƌĞůĂƚĞƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂďŝůŝƚǇ�ƚŽ�ŐĞŶĞƌĂƚĞ�Žƌ�ŽďƚĂŝŶ�ƐƵĨĨŝĐŝĞŶƚ�ĐĂƐŚ�Žƌ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĞƋƵŝǀĂůĞŶƚƐ�ƚŽ�ƐĂƚŝƐĨǇ�ƚŚĞƐĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�
obligations as they become due. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Directors, 
ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŚĂƐ�ďƵŝůƚ�ĂŶ�ĂƉƉƌŽƉƌŝĂƚĞ�ůŝƋƵŝĚŝƚǇ�ƌŝƐŬ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ĨƌĂŵĞǁŽƌŬ�Žƌ�ƚŚĞ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŚŽƌƚ͕�
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The following tables present the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of derivative and non-derivative 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash flows. 

As at 31 December 2021 
Carrying 

value 
Contractual 

cash flows Less than 1 year 1-5 years 5+ Years 
Borrowings 1,811,314 2,024,495 476,372 1,493,873 54,250 
Lease liabilities 15,942 16,928 5,607 8,321 3,000 
Trade payables 79,224 79,224 79,224 - - 
Trade payables to related parties 24,102 24,102 24,102 - - 
Other payables 781 781 781 - - 
Other payables to related parties 26,102 26,102 26,099 3 - 
Total liabilities 1,957,465 2,171,632 612,185 1,502,197 57,250 

 

As at 31 December 2020 
Carrying 

value 
Contractual 

cash flows Less than 1 year 1-5 years 5+ Years 
Borrowings 2,482,001 2,827,902 449,487 2,200,102 178,313 
Lease liabilities 38,287 41,146 16,822 23,846 478 
Trade payables 123,466 123,466 90,709 32,757 - 
Trade payables to related parties 64,395 64,395 39,466 24,929 - 
Other payables 5,853 5,853 5,853 - - 
Other payables to related parties 46,691 46,770 46,466 304 - 
Derivative financial instrument 2,163 2,163 2,163 - - 
Total liabilities 2,762,856 3,111,695 650,966 2,281,938 178,791 

 

As at 31 December 2020 there was a default relating to the USD380 million and a EUR1,100 million loan facility 
;ƚŚĞ�͞KƌŝŐŝŶĂů�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ͟Ϳ͕�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ�ƵŶĚĞƌ�Ă� ĨĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ͕�ĂŵŽŶŐ�ŽƚŚĞƌƐ͕�t��^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�ĐĞƌƚĂŝŶ�
ůĞŶĚĞƌƐ�;ƚŚĞ�͞ KƌŝŐŝŶĂů�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͟Ϳ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŚĂƐ�ƐŝŶĐĞ�ďĞĞŶ�ƌĞƐŽůǀĞĚ͘�dŚĞ�ŵĂƚƵƌŝƚǇ�ƐĐŚĞĚƵůĞ�ĂďŽǀĞ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐ�
cash outflows based on the latest amendments to contractual cash flows and waiver letters obtained with respect 
to the Original Facilities. In this respect, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity schedule 
could occur significantly earlier or at significantly different amounts. 

The Group was subject to cash flow cover and leverage financial covenants under the Original Facilities Agreement. 
Following amendments agreed during July 2020, the Group complied with its financial covenant requirements 
until the Original Facilities were repaid in February 2022.  

LIBOR rates are being replaced by alternative risk-free rates as part of the inter-ďĂŶŬ�ŽĨĨĞƌ�ƌĂƚĞ�;͞/�KZ͟Ϳ�ƌĞĨŽƌŵ͘�
The method of calculating EURIBOR was updated in 2019 and no further amendments are expected in the near 
term. GBP LIBOR is no longer published by the FCA with effect from 31 December 2021 but this has limited impact 
on the Group, as most borrowings are in USD or EUR. USD LIBOR is also being reformed and will no longer be 
published after June 2023. 

Phase 2 IBOR amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Hedge Accounting, and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 Leases were published in August 2020 and are 
effective from 1 January 2021.  
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The Group is continuing preparation for transition to incorporate alternative risk-free rates where the current 
interest benchmarks used by the Group is USD LIBOR in relation to its floating rate debt facilities. The Group is 
monitoring the market and discussing the potential changes with its counterparties in order to effectively 
transition to alternative risk-free rates and does not expect any material impact on its financial position and 
performance. 

As at the date of this consolidated financial statement, none of the US Dollar denominated borrowings have been 
amended as a result of IBOR reform. However, as detailed in Note 40 - Post-balance sheet events, with New Senior 
Facilities Agreement dated 10 February 2022, benchmark reference rate for US Dollar denominated portion of the 
facility has been replaced with Secured Overnight Funding ZĂƚĞ�;͞^K&Z͟Ϳ͘͟ 

Significant restrictions 

As detailed in Note 26 Borrowings and Note 40 Post balance sheet events, the Group completed the refinancing 
ŽĨ�ŝƚƐ�KƌŝŐŝŶĂů�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�dĞƌŵ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ŽŶ�ϭϰ�&ĞďƌƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ͘�ZĞĨĞƌĞŶĐĞƐ�ƚŽ�͞t��^ŽĚĂ�ZĞƐƚƌŝĐƚĞĚ�'ƌŽƵƉ͟�
are to WE Soda and its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement). 

The new Senior Facilities Agreement entered into by the WE Soda Restricted Group mentioned above stipulates 
ǀĂƌŝŽƵƐ�ĐŽǀĞŶĂŶƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƐƚƌŝĐƚŝǀĞ�ƉƌŽǀŝƐŝŽŶƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ůŝŵŝƚ�;ƐƵďũĞĐƚ�ƚŽ�ĐĞƌƚĂŝŶ�ĞǆĐĞƉƚŝŽŶƐͿ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂďŝůŝƚǇ�ƚŽ͗ 

භ Make distributions on or redeem or repurchase units; 
භ Incur or guarantee additional debt; 
භ Make certain investments and acquisitions; 
භ Incur certain liens or permit them to exist; 
භ Enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates of Group; 
භ Merge or consolidate with another company; and 
භ Transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of assets. 
 
In terms of financial covenants under the Senior Facilities Agreement, these comprise (i) the Leverage Financial 
Covenant equal to 5.50:1, with a first test date being 31 March 2022, and which will decrease gradually to 4.00:1 
ŽŶ�ϯϬ�:ƵŶĞ�ϮϬϮϯ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞŵĂŝŶ�Ăƚ�ƚŚŝƐ�ůĞǀĞů�ƚŚĞƌĞĂĨƚĞƌ�ĂŶĚ�;ŝŝͿ�͞�Ğďƚ�^ĞƌǀŝĐĞ��ŽǀĞƌ�ZĂƚŝŽ͟�;ĂƐ�ĚĞĨŝŶĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�^ĞŶŝŽƌ�
Facilities Agreement), which, on each test date starting from 31 March 2022, shall not be less than 1.20:1. In terms 
ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�capital expenditures, the Senior Facilities Agreement provides that the WE Soda Restricted Group 
shall ensure that the aggregate capital expenditure of the WE Soda Restricted Group in respect of any financial 
year shall not exceed 150% of the projected amount of capital expenditure for such financial year as set out in the 
Base Case Model or Budget for that financial year until Leverage Financial Covenant is equal to or lower than 
4.50:1.00.  

CEI, TC Soda and Imperial Natural Resources Trona Mining Inc. have been designated as Unrestricted Subsidiaries 
under the Senior Facilities Agreement and, therefore, do not form part of the WE Soda Restricted Group (as 
defined in the new Senior Facilities Agreement). 

 
Market risk 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ�ĞǆƉŽƐĞ�ŝƚ�ƉƌŝŵĂƌŝůǇ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƌŝƐŬƐ�ŽĨ�ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ�ŝŶ�ĐŽŵŵŽĚŝƚǇ�ƉƌŝĐĞƐ͕�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ƌĂƚĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�
foreign currency exchange rates.  

(i) Commodity price risk 

Soda ash is a globally traded commodity with many manufacturers and consumers worldwide. It is an essential 
raw material in many industries, especially in the glass industry. Soda ash can be produced by natural or synthetic 
methods (Solvay and Hou methods). Around the world soda ash market prices are determined by reference to the 
production costs of synthetic producers.  
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Commodity price risk arises from the effect of fluctuations in future commodity prices on the price received for 
the sale of soda ash. The marketability and price of soda ash produced by the Group will be affected by many 
factors that are beyond the control of the Group. 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in market interest 
rates. 

The Group borrows fund at both fixed and variable interest rates, so the Group is exposed to interest rate risk. The 
Group manages this risk by balancing the repricing terms of interest-bearing assets and liabilities with 
fixed/floating interest and short-long term nature of borrowings as well as using derivative instruments where 
necessary for hedging purposes. 

Interest rates of financial assets and liabilities are indicated in related notes. 

Interest rate sensitivity: 

If interest rates had been 5 basis poŝŶƚƐ�ŚŝŐŚĞƌͬůŽǁĞƌ�ĂŶĚ�Ăůů�ŽƚŚĞƌ�ǀĂƌŝĂďůĞƐ�ǁĞƌĞ�ŚĞůĚ�ĐŽŶƐƚĂŶƚ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌŽĨŝƚ�
before taxes and equity of the Group would increase/decrease by USD916,000 (2020: USD1,255,000). 5 basis 
ƉŽŝŶƚƐ�ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ĂƐƐĞƐƐŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƉŽƐƐŝďůĞ�ĐŚĂŶŐĞ�ŝŶ�ŝŶterest rates that could apply to the Group. 

(iii) Foreign exchange risk 

The Group consists of three principle operating entities: Ciner Wyoming LLC (USD functional currency), Eti Soda 
mƌĞƚŝŵ�WĂǌĂƌůĂŵĂ�EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ�ǀĞ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘�;dƵƌkish Lira functional currency) and Kazan 
^ŽĚĂ� �ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ��͘b͘� ;dƵƌŬŝƐŚ� >ŝƌĂ� ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶĂů� ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇͿ͘� �Ɛ� ƐƵĐŚ͕� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ� ŝƐ� ƉƌŝŶĐŝƉĂůůǇ� ĞǆƉŽƐĞĚ� ƚŽ� ƌŝƐŬƐ�
ƌĞƐƵůƚŝŶŐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŝŶ�ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�ĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ�ƌĂƚĞ�ƚŽ�h^��;ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĂƚŝŽŶĂů�ĐƵƌƌĞncy) and 
EUR (due to EUR denominated borrowings). 

With respect to the information presented herein and prior to the 2021 Strategic Transactions, the Group 
consisted of three principal operating entities: Sisecam Wyoming (USD functional currency), Eti Soda (Turkish Lira 
functional currency) and Kazan Soda (Turkish Lira functional currency). As of the date of this consolidated financial 
statements, the Group consists of two principal operating entities: Eti Soda (Turkish Lira functional currency) and 
Kazan Soda (Turkish Lira functional currency). As such, the Group is principally exposed to risks resulting from 
ĨůƵĐƚƵĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŝŶ�ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�ĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ�ƌĂƚĞ�ƚŽ�h^��;ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĂƚŝŽŶĂů�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇͿ�ĂŶĚ��hZ�;ĚƵĞ�ƚŽ��hZ�
denominated borrowings). 

The carrying ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŝŐŶŝĨŝĐĂŶƚ�ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�ĚĞŶŽŵŝŶĂƚĞĚ�ŵŽŶĞƚĂƌǇ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�Ăƚ�
the reporting dates are as follows: 

In USD equivalent as at 31 December 2021 Total USD EUR GBP CNY TRY 
Trade receivables 124,663 52,692 71,971 - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 8,630 3,674 4,411 529 16 - 
Other receivables and assets 365,137 96,917 267,796 424 - - 
Trade payables (42,093) (13,230) (21,592) (7,246) - (25) 
Borrowings  (1,545,756) (575,014) (970,742) - - - 
Lease liabilities (5,364) - (5,364) - - - 
Other payables and liabilities (14,581) (4,247) (8,711) (1,623) - - 
Net exposure (1,109,364) (439,208) (662,231) (7,916) 16 (25) 
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In USD equivalent as at 31 December 2020 Total USD EUR GBP CNY 
Trade receivables 100,151 72,194 27,954 3 - 
Cash and cash equivalents 15,223 14,310 863 36 14 
Other receivables and assets 675,972 167,853 506,638 1,481 - 
Trade payables (55,588) (47,263) (8,325) - - 
Borrowings  (2,015,312) (715,442) (1,299,870) - - 
Lease liabilities (12,093) (2,323) (9,042) (728) - 
Other payables and liabilities (51,143) (8,555) (42,251) (337) - 
Net exposure (1,342,790) (519,226) (824,033) 455 14 

 
Foreign exchange sensitivity: 

dŚĞ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ�ƚĂďůĞ�ĚĞƚĂŝůƐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐĞŶƐŝƚŝǀŝƚǇ�ƚŽ�Ă�ϭϬй�ŵŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ�ĂŐĂŝŶƐƚ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĞƐƉĞĐƚŝǀĞ�ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�currencies, 
ǁŚŝĐŚ� ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐ� ƚŚĞ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ� ĂƐƐĞƐƐŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�Ă� ƌĞĂƐŽŶĂďůǇ� ůŝŬĞůǇ� ĐŚĂŶŐĞ� ŝŶ� ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ� ƌĂƚĞƐ͘� dŚĞ�
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 
translation at the year-end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. 

h^�͛ϬϬϬ 2021 2020 
Effect to profit or (loss) before tax   
USD (43,921) (51,923) 
EUR (66,223) (82,403) 
GBP (792) 46 
TRY (3) - 
CNY 2 1 
Total (110,937) (134,279) 
   
Effect to equity due to currency translation reserve   
TRY (134,453) (206,221) 

A 10% strengthening of the currencies above at 31 December 2021 would have had an equal but opposite effect 
on the amounts shown above, assuming all other variables remained constant. 

c) Fair value categories 

Fair values and categories of financial instruments: 

As at 31 December 2021 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost 

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

Financial assets 
that are 

measured at  
FVTPL 

Financial 
liabilities that are 

measured at 
FVTPL 

Carrying 
value 

      
Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents - 14,494 - - 14,494 
Other current assets - 64,799 - - 64,799 
Trade receivables - 10,472 - - 10,472 
Trade receivables from related parties - 139,396 - - 139,396 
Other receivables - 1,568 - - 1,568 
Other receivables from related parties - 527,643 - - 527,643 
  - 758,372 - - 758,372 
      
Financial liabilities      
Borrowings 1,811,314 - - - 1,811,314 
Lease Liabilities 15,942 - - - 15,942 
Trade payables 79,224 - - - 79,224 
Trade payables to related parties 24,102 - - - 24,102 
Other payables to related parties 26,102 - - - 26,102 
Other payables 781 - - - 781 
  1,957,465 - - - 1,957,465 
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As at 31 December 2020 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost 

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

Financial assets 
that are 

measured at  
FVTPL 

Financial 
liabilities that are 

measured at 
FVTPL 

Carrying 
value 

      
Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents - 21,854 - - 21,854 
Other current assets - 15,565 - - 15,565 
Trade receivables - 67,645 - - 67,645 
Trade receivables from related parties - 151,332 - - 151,332 
Other receivables - 4,828 - - 4,828 
Other receivables from related parties - 768,979 - - 768,979 
Derivative financial instruments - - 1,360 - 1,360 
  - 1,030,203 1,360 - 1,031,563 
      
Financial liabilities      
Borrowings 2,482,001 - - - 2,482,001 
Lease Liabilities 38,287 - - - 38,287 
Trade payables 123,466 - - - 123,466 
Trade payables to related parties 64,395 - - - 64,395 
Other payables to related parties 46,691 - - - 46,691 
Other payables 5,853 - - - 5,853 
Derivative financial instruments - - - 2,163 2,163 

  2,760,693 - - 2,163 2,762,856 
 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost 

The Management consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost 
in the financial statements approximate to their fair values. 

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

භ the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on 
active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and  

භ the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis 
using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

Fair value by hierarchy 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

භ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets and liabilities. 

භ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); and 

භ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset 
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  

�ůů�ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ� ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ� ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�Ăre deemed to be Level 2. There were no transfers 
between Level 1 and 2 during the year. 
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5. Discontinued operations - assets disposal - transaction with Sisecam 

KŶ�Ϯϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ� ϮϬϮϭ͕� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ� ƚŚĞ� ƐĂůĞ�ŽĨ�ϲϬй�ŽĨ� ŝƚƐ� ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ� ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ� ŝŶ�ǁŚŽůůǇ�owned 
subsidiary, Sisecam Chemicals Resources to Sisecam for consideration of USD300 million. Prior to the transaction, 
Sisecam Chemicals Resources was a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and owned 100% of the shares of 
^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ�>>��;͞^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ͟Ϳ�;ƌĞŶĂŵĞĚ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŽŶǀĞƌƚĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ��ŝŶĞƌ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ�
Holding Corporation on 21 December 2021). Sisecam Chemicals Wyoming in turn owned an approximately 72% 
ůŝŵŝƚĞĚ�ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌ� ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ� ŝŶ� ^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ� >W� ;Ez^�͗� ^/Z�Ϳ� ;͞^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ͟Ϳ͕� ĂƐ�ǁĞůů� ĂƐ� Ă�Ϯй� ŐĞŶĞƌĂů�
partner interest and related incentive distribution rights. Sisecam Resources has a controlling 51% interest in 
Sisecam Wyoming, the operating company located near Green River, Wyoming, US. The remaining non-controlling 
49% interest in Sisecam Wyoming is owned by NRP Trona LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Natural Resource 
Partners LP. 

As the decision to dispose part of Sisecam Chemicals Resources was made in late 2021, Sisecam Chemicals 
Resources was not classified as held for sale as of 31 December 2020. However, the financial information has been 
prepared on the basis that Sisecam Chemicals Resources is a discontinued operation. 

Following the ƐĂůĞ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŶŽ�ůŽŶŐĞƌ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽůƐ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ��ŚĞŵŝĐĂůƐ�ZĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ϰϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�
Sisecam Chemicals Resources has been accounted for as an equity accounted investment with effect from 21 
December 2021. Financial information relating to the disposal for the period to the date of the disposal is set out 
below. 

5a. Financial performance and cash flow information 

The financial performance and cash flow information of Sisecam Chemicals Resources presented are for the 12 
months ended 31 December 2021 and the year ended 31 December 2020: 

  2021 2020 
   

Discontinued operations    
Revenue  540,039 392,231 
Cost of sales  (490,136) (375,613) 
Gross profit  49,903 16,618 
Administrative expenses  (22,048) (20,043) 
Marketing expenses  (2,395) (816) 
Other operating income  1,273 57 
Other operating expenses  (1,931) (3,360) 
Profit from operations  24,802 (7,544) 
Finance income  4 110 
Finance expenses  (4,803) (8,074) 
(Loss)/profit before tax  20,003 (15,508) 
Taxation  (3,271) (5,885) 
Profit / (loss) for the financial year from discontinued operations  16,732 (21,393) 
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (5.b) 55,078 - 
Tax on gain on disposal of discontinued operations (*) - - 
Total profit for the financial year from discontinued operations  71,810 (21,393) 

   
Profit for the year attributable to:   
Owners of the company  59,280 (12,539) 
Non-controlling interest  12,530 (8,854) 
  71,810 (21,393) 
 
(*) As detailed in IFRS 10.25 Consolidated Financial Statements/ Loss of Control, the Group lost control of Sisecam Chemicals ResRXUFHV�DV�D�UHVXOW�RI�³�����
6WUDWHJLF�7UDQVDFWLRQV´��&RQVHTXHQWO\��WKH�*URXS�GHUHFRJQLVHG�WKH�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�RI�WKH�IRUPHU�subsidiary and recognised retained investment in the former 
subsidiary and remeasured retained investment at its fair value. Since the majority of gain on disposal of discontinued operations is related to portion of gain (fair 
value difference) or fair value of retained investment, which forms a part of continuing operations, taxation of USD10.4 million related to disposal is presented 
within taxation of continuing operations. 
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 2021 2020 
Other comprehensive (expense)/income   
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   
- Accumulated gain / (loss) on remeasurement of defined benefit plans 20,707 (3,137) 
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   
- Foreign currency translation reserve - - 
- Hedge accounting 5,424 5,472 
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax 26,131 2,335 
 2021 2020 
Total comprehensive loss for the year 97,941 (19,058) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:   
Owners of the company 81,743 (13,898) 
Non-controlling interest 16,198 (5,160) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  97,941 (19,058) 

 
Summarised statement of cash flow 2021 2020 

   

Cash flow from operating activities   
Total (loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations  71,810 (21,393) 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  67,597 78,473 
Interest income  (4) (111) 
Interest expense  3,941 15,862 
Discount income and expenses  855 2,129 
Net foreign exchange loss  - 27 
Income tax credit  3,271 6,192 
Gain from sale of subsidiaries  (55,078) - 
Increase in inventories  302 (9,757) 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  (33,826) 10,913 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  5,165 (5,684) 
Losses on disposals of fixed assets  966 885 
Equity-based compensation expense  451 738 
Other cash inflows/ (outflows)  597 (665) 
Cash generated from operations  66,047 77,609 
Net cash generated from operating activities  66,047 77,609 
   

Cash flow from investing activities:   
Cash inflow from sale of subsidiary 297,364 - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (25,695) (42,272) 
Movement in borrowings in related parties  - (4,716) 
Other cash inflows  809 - 
Net cash used in investing activities  272,478 (46,988) 
   

Cash flow from financing activities:   
Cash obtained from borrowings  113,500 242,500 
Cash used for repayment of the borrowings  (121,013) (240,716) 
Cash outflow from lease liabilities  (10,312) (10,515) 
Interest paid  (5,256) (6,224) 
Bank charges  (1,394) (559) 
Transfer from discontinued operation into continuing operations (300,000) - 
Distributions to non-controlling interest shareholder of subsidiary  (14,044) (30,439) 
Other cash inflows/(outflows)  (144) 490 
Net cash used in financing activities  (338,663) (45,463) 

   

Net used in cash and cash equivalents  (138) (14,842) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  138 14,980 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  - 138 
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5b. Details of the sales of the subsidiary 

Consideration received or receivable: 2021 
Cash  300,000 
Fair value of retained non-controlling interest 200,000 
Costs associated with the sales (994) 
Reclassification of other reserve (hedge accounting) 3,947 
Carrying amount of net assets sold (excluding NCI) (447,875) 
Gain on sales before income tax  55,078 
Income tax expense on gain  (10,434) 
Gain on sales after income tax  44,644 

 
Cash flows of the transaction 2021 
Cash consideration received 300,000 
Cash on hand of the subsidiary sold (2,636) 
Net cash flows from the transaction (297,364) 

 
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal (21 December 2021) were: 

Description 31 December 
2021 

Property, plant and equipment  381,391 
Mining reserves  741,912 
Intangible assets  5,691 
Right of use assets 20,346 
Goodwill 29,284 
Other non-current assets  28,547 
Prepaid expenses  3,072 
Trade and other receivables  120,216 
Cash  2,636 
Inventories  27,589 
Other assets  8,380 
Total assets  1,369,064 
  

Borrowings  (122,403) 
Lease liabilities (21,165) 
Provision  (41,280) 
Derivatives (2,441) 
Trade and other payables  (49,148) 
Employee benefit obligations  (55,691) 
Other liabilities  (8,649) 
Total liabilities  (300,777) 
  

Non-controlling interest (620,412) 
  

Net assets disposed 447,875 

6. Business combination and acquisition of controlling interest ʹTC Soda. 

On 21 December 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the shares of TC Soda. TC Soda is registered and operates in 
the USA as a holding company and it owns 40% interest in Pacific Soda LLC and Atlantic Soda LLC. dŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�
interest in TC Soda was obtained through an in-kind contribution from Mr. Turgay Ciner.  

The Group consolidated TC Soda and, since it does not have control or joint control of the investments in Pacific 
Soda and Atlantic Soda, has accounted for the interest in Pacific and Atlantic as equity accounted investees from 
21 December 2021. 

The acquired business did not contribute any revenue and or losses to profit after tax of the Group. Consideration 
of the acquisition was in the form of the issuance of ordinary shares to the Company, in exchange for shares in TC 
Soda. The net cash effect from the acquisition was an increase to cash and cash equivalents of USD595,943 on the 
acquisition date, being the total cash and cash equivalents held by TC Soda.  
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Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 Acquisition 
Purchase consideration ʹ capital contribution in kind 131,038* 
Fair value of net assets at acquisition 131, 038 
Goodwill - 

(*) This is net of $10 of shares issued. 

The allocation of purchase consideration to assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of 21 December 2021 arising 
from the acquisition of TC Soda is set forth in the table below: 

Description Fair value at acquisition  
Right of use assets 3,210 
Other receivables 32,500 
Investments 126,667 
Prepaid expenses  145 
Cash  596 
Total assets  163,118 
Lease liabilities (3,210) 
Deferred and current taxes (27,694) 
Trade and other payables  (1,176) 
Total liabilities  (32,080) 
Net assets acquired  131,038 
Goodwill arising from acquisition - 
Total consideration 131,038 

TC Soda holds investments in associates which are currently in the exploration stage. The comparable transaction   
method was used for determination of mineral interests of these associates and the resultant fair value of the 
investments. 

Deferred tax liabilities mainly comprises the tax effect of fair value allocation on investment through determining 
fair values of relevant asset groups based on the tax structure of the Group. 

7. Employee number and costs 

The average monthly number of employees including the Directors employed was as follows: 

  2021 2020 
  Number Number 

Professional 735 961 
Administration/operational 552 253 
Total average number of employees of continuing operations 1,287 1,214 
Total average number of employees of discontinued operations 497 489 
Total average number of employees 1,784 1,703 

The aggregate remuneration was as follows: 

  2021 2020 
Wages and salaries 26,669 24,704 
Social security costs 3,513 2,587 
Other pension costs 1,845 997 
Total aggregate remuneration from continuing operations 32,027 28,288 
Total aggregate remuneration from discontinued operations 86,525 79,934 
Total aggregate remuneration 118,552 108,222 
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8. Profit from operations 

Profit from operations is stated after charging: 

  2021 2020 
Depreciation and amortization 163,527 100,709 
Losses on disposals of fixed assets  996 - 
Movement in finished goods inventories 9,842 5,250 
Lease payments 13,658 1,999 
Exchange difference (71,840) (11,355) 

 

�ƵĚŝƚŽƌƐ͛�ƌĞŵƵŶĞƌĂƚŝŽŶ 
/Ŷ�ƌĞƐƉĞĐƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĂƵĚŝƚ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ�ĐŽƐƚƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ��ƵĚŝƚŽƌƐ͕�WƌŝĐĞǁĂƚĞƌŚŽƵƐĞ�ŽŽƉĞƌƐ�>>W�ĂŶĚ�
Deloitte LLP, have been allocated to the Group: 
 

  2021  2020 

 (Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers LLP) 

(Deloitte 
LLP)  

(Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers LLP) 

(Deloitte 
LLP)2 

&ĞĞƐ�ƉĂǇĂďůĞ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ��ƵĚŝƚŽƌƐ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ĂƵĚŝƚ�ŽĨ�
ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĂŶŶƵĂů�report and consolidated financial 
statements1 

 

343 -  54 - 

&ĞĞƐ� ƉĂǇĂďůĞ� ƚŽ� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� �ƵĚŝƚŽƌs for the for 
other services: 

     

- dŚĞ� ĂƵĚŝƚ� ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ� ƉƵƌƐƵĂŶƚ� ƚŽ�
legislation  171 1,264  391 1,276 

Total audit fees 514 1,264  445 1,276 
- Audit related assurance services: Interim reviews 398 -  - 321 
- Tax advisory and compliance services - 395  - 758 
Total non-audit fees 398 395  - 1,079 

 
Note 1 ʹ &ĞĞƐ�ƉĂǇĂďůĞ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĂƵĚŝƚŽƌs in 2020 and 2021 for the audit of the parent company were borne by subsidiary company WE Soda Ltd. 
Note 2 ʹ Fees payable to Deloitte LLP in 2021 relates to the audit of the discontinued operations. 

9. Revenue 

Revenue, excluding interest revenue, comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Domestic sales 211,300 189,045 
Export sales 680,813 616,537 
Segment revenue 892,113 805,582 

The Group recognised net sales amounting to USD892.1 million (2020: USD805.6 million) with respect to the 
performance obligations satisfied at a point in time for the year ended 31 December 2021. Segment information 
is disclosed in Note 3 Segmental analysis. Revenue and other income for 2021 consists of USD827.1 million (2020: 
USD749.5 million) soda ash/sodium bicarbonate sales, USD63.5 million (2020: USD55.7 million) electricity sales 
and USD1.5 million (2020: USD0.4 million) other income. 

10. Cost of sales 

Cost of sales comprises: 
  2021 2020 
Raw material costs 200,501 186,165 
Personnel expenses 16,040 16,082 
Production overheads 111,100 90,083 
Transportation expenses 89,930 55,877 
Export expenses 42,521 36,180 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 93,781 99,306 
Change in finished goods inventories (3,514) 5,250 
 550,359 488,943 
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11. Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses comprise: 
  2021 2020 
Consultancy expenses 17,949 13,074 
Personnel expenses 14,487 11,071 
Transportation expenses 323 255 
Outsourced benefits and services 711 6,087 
Donations 396 638 
Travel expenses 130 497 
Rent expenses 496 567 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 1,960 1,326 
Office expenses 839 2,567 
Other expenses 3,675 1,877 
 40,966 37,959 
   

12. Marketing expenses 

Marketing expenses comprise: 

  2021 2020 
Personnel expenses 1,500 1,135 
Transportation expenses 87 45 
Amortisation and depreciation expenses 238 77 
Outsourced services and benefits 357 148 
Rent expenses 225 395 
Other sales and marketing expenses 3,217 2,312 
 5,624 4,112 

13. Other operating income and expenses 

Other income from operating activities comprises: 

Other income from operating activities 2021 2020 
Foreign exchange gain 139,640 62,612 
Interest income 2,040 819 
Discount interest income 200 466 
Compensation income1 60,065 - 
Other income 2,088 1,600 
 204,033 65,497 

 
Note 1 ʹ The compensation income represents settlement compensation attributable to the current year after deducting previously recognised 

compensation income. Kazan Soda and its EPC Contractor signed a settlement agreement on 22 March 2021 with respect to the final acceptance 
of the fixed price ʹ turnkey execution works of its dense soda ash and sodium bicarbonate process plant, trona field solution mining project and 
cogeneration power plant in Kazan, Turkey. Both parties agreed on settlement amounts of USD60,362,120 and USD8,500,000 for the process plant 
and power plant, respectively. Additionally, the EPC Contractor has accepted and undertaken construction of extension project units for 
decahydrate and caustic soda in lieu of consideration of USD42,000,000. This non-cash consideration is deducted from the settlement amount and 
recognised as order advances given for fixed assets and presented in non-current prepaid expenses. The parties agreed on payment method for 
the settlement amounts by netting off total settlement amount receivable of Kazan Soda (by USD68,862,120) against total outstanding payables 
of Eti Soda and Kazan Soda (by USD34,223,060) to EPC Contractor and payables (USD42,000,000) to be incurred as result of construction of the 
extension project units. The difference of USD7,360,940 shall be satisfied by Kazan Soda supplying the EPC Contractor with dense soda ash against 
ƚŚĞ�ĨƵůĨŝůŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ��W���ŽŶƚƌĂĐƚŽƌ͛Ɛ�ĐŽŶƚƌĂĐƚƵĂů�ŽďůŝŐĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĨŽƌ�ĞǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚ�ƵŶŝƚƐ͘� 

Please refer below for the reconciliation of the settlement amount to compensation income recognised: 

Compensation income 68,862 
Less: Previously recognised income (6,500) 
Transaction related and other miscellaneous expenses including foreign exchange translations (2,297) 
Income recognised during the year 60,065 
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Other expenses from operating activities comprises: 

Other expense from operating activities 2021 2020 
Foreign exchange losses 67,800 51,257 
Interest expense 4,959 5,175 
Discount interest expense 1,681 216 
Provision for legal claims 384 2,000 
Other expenses 5,066 1,626 
 79,890 60,274 

 

14. Finance income and finance expense 

Finance income comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Interest income 24,162 40,942 
Other financial income 102 579 
  24,264 41,521 

Finance expense comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Interest expense related to financial activities  (94,412) (106,484) 
Foreign exchange losses, net  (102,655) (192,022) 
Interest expenses related to the lease obligations  (698) (907) 
Bank charges related to financial activities1 (20,976) (26,597) 
Interest expense related to funding activities with related parties, net (927) (5,460) 
Other financial expenses (9,090) (6,515) 
  (228,758) (337,985) 

Note 1 - Bank charges related to financial activities consist of various commissions by banks or financial institutions within the context of term loan agreement 
and certain transaction costs 

15. Taxation 

Current and deferred tax 

Taxation credit comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Tax (charge)/credit:   
Income tax credit/(charge) ʹ UK entities (2,839) 1,210 
Income tax charge ʹ foreign entities (48,686) (34,821) 
Deferred tax credit 121,236 236,502 
Tax credit from continuing operations 69,710 202,891 
Tax charge from discontinued operations (3,271) (5,885) 
Total tax credit 66,439 197,006 

The 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�ĂƌĞ�ƐƵďũĞĐƚ�ƚŽ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�ƚĂǆĞƐ͘�WƌŽǀŝƐŝŽŶ�ŝƐ�ŵĂĚĞ in the accompanying 
ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ĞƐƚŝŵĂƚĞĚ�ĐŚĂƌŐĞ�ďĂƐĞĚ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ǇĞĂƌ͘ 

Corporate tax is applied on taxable corporate income, which is calculated from the statutory accounting profit by 
adding back non-deductible expenses, and deducting exempt income, non-taxable income and other incentives.  
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Reconciliation of total tax credit to (loss)/profit before taxation 
The Group is domiciled in the United Kingdom, but its operations are primarily in Turkey and US.  

Effective corporate tax rate in 2021 is 25% (2020: 22%) for Turkey, 21% (2020: 21%) for US and 19% (2020: 19%) 
for United Kingdom respectively. The provision for income taxes is different from the expected provision for 
income taxes for the following reasons: 

  2021 2020 
Profit/(loss) before tax  289,894 (32,181) 
Profit/(loss) before the tax from continuing operations  214,813 (16,673) 
Profit/(loss) before the tax from discontinued operations  75,081 (15,508) 
Applicable rate of tax  19% 19% 
Tax at applicable rate  (55,080) 6,114 
Tax effect of:    
Disallowable expenses  (18,474) (2,655) 
Other tax incentives (patent1 and capital increases)  16,700 13,610 
Investment incentives   143,931 213,800 
Effect of tax rates in different jurisdictions  (5,816) (4,353) 
Non-controlling interest   2,631 (1,859) 
Carry forward tax losses (recognised) or written off as deferred tax asset  2,737 (19,707) 
Previous year losses  4,224 - 
Corporate interest restriction in UK  (10,406) (10,270) 
Disregarded foreign exchange gains 33,439 - 
Loss on translation  (40,027) 1,350 
Other (7,420) 976 
Total tax credit  66,439 197,006 
ʹ Tax charge from discontinued operations  (3,271) (5,885) 
ʹ Tax credit from continuing operations  69,710 202,891 

Note 1 -  The Company has obtained a patent document, which has been examined by the Turkish Patent Institute for the invention entitleĚ�͞WƌŽĚƵĐƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ŚĞĂǀǇ�ƐŽĚĂ�ĨƌŽŵ�

ďŝĐĂƌďŽŶĂƚĞ�ĐŽŶƚĂŝŶŝŶŐ�ƐŽůƵƚŝŽŶƐ͕�ƐŽĚŝƵŵ�ďŝĐĂƌďŽŶĂƚĞ͕�ůŝŐŚƚ�ƐŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŽĚŝƵŵ�ƐŝůŝĐĂƚĞ͟�ĂƐ�ŽĨ�ϭϭ�EŽǀember 2004, and the 20 years protection period for the patent is 

ŐƌĂŶƚĞĚ�ďǇ�dW/͘�tŝƚŚŝŶ� ƚŚĞ�ƐĐŽƉĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƉĂƚĞŶƚ�ĚŽĐƵŵĞŶƚ�ĞǆĂŵŝŶĞĚ�ĚƵƌŝŶŐ� ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƚĞĐƚŝŽŶ�ƉĞƌŝŽĚ�ĂŶĚ� ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƐĐŽƉĞ�ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ�͞�ǆĐĞƉƚ ŝŽŶ� ŝŶ�/ŶĚƵƐƚƌŝĂů�WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ�ZŝŐŚƚƐ͟�

provisions of article 5/B of the Taxation Law No.5520, the exemption income amount for the year 2019 has been determined. For the 2021 accounting period the  

amount of corporation tax exemption that is benefited is USD53.3 million (2020: USD61.9 million).  

Investment incentives -investment discount application 

Under Turkish local legislation, Eti Soda and Kazan Soda come under the ruling of the Council of Ministers on 
Government Grants with respect of their status in obtaining central Turkish government investment incentive 
grants. 

The decision of the Council of Ministers on Government Grants and Incentives no. 2012/3305 regulating 
investment incentives became effective after being published in the Official Gazette on 19 June 2012. Within the 
scope of that decision, Eti Soda has received an Investment Incentive Certificate numbered A129108, which is 
located in Region 1 and has a contribution rate of 40% for their investments. As of the reporting date, within the 
scope of this certificate, Eti Soda recognised a USD1.4 million (2020: USD3.8 million) deferred tax asset to reduce 
corporate tax. In the same manner, Kazan Soda has received an Investment Incentive Certificate numbered 
�ϭϬϵϯϵϯ� ĂŶĚ� /ϭϬϵϯϵϯ͕� ǁŚŝĐŚ� ŝƐ� ůŽĐĂƚĞĚ� ŝŶ� ZĞŐŝŽŶ� ϭ� ĂŶĚ� ŚĂƐ� Ă� ĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƚŝŽŶ� ƌĂƚĞ� ŽĨ� ϱϬй� ĨŽƌ� <ĂǌĂŶ� ^ŽĚĂ͛Ɛ�
investments. As of the reporting date, within the scope of the certificate, Kazan Soda recognised USD369.5 million 
(2020: USD479.7 million only for certificate numbered E109393) deferred tax asset to reduce corporate tax. 
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Deferred tax 

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between its 
financial statements as reported for IFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. These differences 
usually result in the recognition of revenue and expenses in different reporting periods for IFRSs and tax purposes 
and they are given below.  

Deferred tax assets comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Deferred tax assets 363,175 437,419 
Deferred tax liabilities (178,914) (276,064) 
Net deferred tax asset 184,261 161,355 

 

This may be analysed as follows: 
  2021 2020 
Differences on carrying values of PP&E, mining assets and reserves  (161,507) (348,894) 
Retirement pay provision  380 403 
Unused annual leave  173 180 
Previous year losses to be deducted from tax  54,065 101,541 
Discount on trade receivables  292 84 
Discount on trade payables  (159) (384) 
Investment incentives  322,703 388,281 
Revenue recognition according to IFRS 15  1,911 1,735 
Effect of purchase of subsidiary  (18,429) - 
Pension and post-retirement benefits  - 11,497 
Tax on goodwill  - 2,995 
Effect of disposal of subsidiary  (19,769) - 
Other  4,601 3,917 
Closing balance at 31 December  184,261 161,355 

 

Movement of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

  2021 2020 
At 1 January  161,355 (82,286) 
Credited to statement of profit or loss for the financial year 126,011 230,296 
Effect of purchase of subsidiary (18,429) - 
Credited to other comprehensive income or loss - 434 
Presentation currency translation effect (84,676) 12,911 
Closing balance at 31 December 184,261 161,355 

 

At 31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of USD250.6 million (2020: USD500.4 million) available 
for offset against future profits and USD50.1 million (2020: USD101.5 million,) deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of these losses. 
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Expiration schedule of carry forward tax losses is as follows: 
  2021 2020 
   
   
Will be expired in 2022 -  56,928 
Will be expired in 2023 84,237 148,925 
Will be expired in 2024 45,123 79,702 
Will be expired in 2025 38,772 68,546 
Will be expired in 2026 82,492 - 
Will be expired after 20261 - 146,292 
Total  250,624 500,393 

Note 1 ʹ At 31 December 2021, the Group does not have unused tax losses (2020: USD146.3 million) with no expiry date 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward only to the extent that realisation of the related 
tax benefit is probable. 

Deferred tax assets, which are recognised for tax losses carried forward, arise in entities, primarily domiciled in 
Turkey and related to tax losses during the investment period in 2018 and net operating losses in subsequent 
periods. In this respect, the Group expects to utilize USD82 million in 2022 and USD169 million in 2023. 

In evaluating whether it is probable that taxable profits will be earned in future accounting periods prior to any 
tax loss expiry as may be the case, all available evidence was considered, including approved budgets, forecasts 
and business plans and, in certain cases, analysis of historical operating results. These forecasts are consistent 
with those prepared and used internally for business planning and impairment testing purposes. Following this 
evaluation, it was determined there would be sufficient taxable income generated to realise the benefit of the 
deferred tax assets and that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would result in a 
material reduction in forecast headroom of tax profits so that the recognised deferred tax asset would not be 
realised. 
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16. Property, plant and equipment 

2021 Land 
Land 

improvements Buildings 

Plant, 
machinery and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Construction 

in progress 

Other 
fixed 

assets1 Total 
Cost:         

As at 1 January 2021 6,037 131,300 142,239 921,009 456 61,710 5,149 1,267,900 
Additions 928 387 62 13,532 443 90,667 617 106,636 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see 

Note 5 (440) (65,513) (119,814) (320,884) - (59,667) (2,546) (568,864) 

Remeasurement of asset retirement obligations ʹ see Note 30  - (52) - - - - - (52) 
Disposals  - - (25) (1,257) - - (53) (1,335) 
Transfers to mine development costs  - - - - - (26,106) - (26,106) 
Transfers from construction in progress  - 905 278 7,357 - (8,914) 374 - 
Presentation currency translation effect  (2,799) (29,259) (9,870) (261,905) (162) (16,647) (1,360) (322,002) 
At 31 December 2021 3,726 37,768 12,870 357,852 737 41,043 2,181 456,177 

          
Accumulated depreciation:         

As at 1 January 2021 - (21,951) (18,448) (173,819) (169) - (2,431) (216,818) 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see 
Note 5 - (6,760) (7,399) (53,113) (94) - (1,033) (68,399) 

Charge for the year  - 14,404 23,335 148,133 - - 1,601 187,473 
Disposals - - 25 255 - - 43 323 
Presentation currency translation effect - 5,961 1,007 26,223 82 - 736 34,009 
At 31 December 2021 - (8,346) (1,480) (52,321) (181) - (1,084) (63,412) 

          
Net book value as of 31 December 2021 3,726 29,422 11,390 305,531 556 41,043 1,097 392,765 

Note 1 -Includes vehicles and furniture and fixtures 
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2020 Land 
Land 

improvements Buildings 

Plant, 
machinery and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Construction 

in progress 

Other 
fixed 

assets1 Total 
Cost:         

As at 1 January 2020 5,412 192,121 119,290 1,003,171 481 102,985 4,433 1,427,893 
Additions 1,604 328 98 4,081 63 62,288 808 69,270 
Remeasurement of asset retirement obligations (Note 28) - (48,228) - - - - - (48,228) 
Disposals (45) - (153) (4,145) - - (180) (4,523) 
Transfers to mine development costs - - - - - (8,268) - (8,268) 
Transfers from construction in progress - 2,738 27,576 61,902 - (92,863) 647 - 
Presentation currency translation effect  (934) (15,659) (4,572) (144,000) (88) (2,432) (559) (168,244) 
Closing balance as of 31 December 2020 6,037 131,300 142,239 921,009 456 61,710 5,149 1,267,900 

          
Accumulated depreciation:         

As at 1 January 2020 - (14,329) (11,833) (120,113) (137) - (1,845) (148,257) 
Charge for the year  - (9,313) (6,921) (68,677) (60) - (1,008) (85,979) 
Disposals - - 53 3,022 - - 178 3,253 
Presentation currency translation effect - 1,691 253 11,949 28 - 244 14,165 
Closing balance as of 31 December 2020 - (21,951) (18,448) (173,819) (169) - (2,431) (216,818) 

          
Net book value as of 31 December 2020 6,037 109,349 123,791 747,190 287 61,710 2,718 1,051,082 

Note 1 -Includes vehicles and furniture and fixtures 
 

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of USD586.7 million (2020: USD736.8 million) have been pledged under a commercial enterprise pledge, to 
secure borrowings of the Group (see Note 26 Borrowings). The said pledged assets cannot be re-pledged as security for other new borrowings or to be divested to 
another party. 

As of 31 December 2021, the net carrying amounts of vehicles and plant, machinery, and equipment acquired through financial leasing agreement (see Note 39 Lease 
liabilities) are USD8.2 million (2020: USD15.5 million) in total. 
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17. Mining reserves 

  Cost  Accumulated 
amortisation  Total 

    
At 1 January 2020 2,561,808 (153,074) 2,408,734 
Charge for the year - (60,421) (60,421) 
Presentation currency translation effect  (337,454) 27,555 (309,899) 
At 31 December 2020 2,224,354 (185,940) 2,038,414 
Charge for the year -  (57,432) (57,432) 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ 
see Note 5 (793,000) 51,088 (741,912) 

Presentation currency translation effect  (621,801) 79,174 (542,627) 
At 31 December 2021 809,553 (113,110) 696,443 

Mining reserves include trona reserves that can be economically and legally extracted and processed into soda 
ĂƐŚ�Žƌ�ƐŽĚŝƵŵ�ďŝĐĂƌďŽŶĂƚĞ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶŝĞƐ͘ 

The acquisition of Kazan Soda and CEI in February 2018 included the allocation of purchase price to mining reserves 
based on its fair value as at the date of the respective acquisitions which was approximately USD1,105 million and 
USD793 million respectively. Similarly mining reserves of Eti Soda was USD1,619 million based on its fair value as 
at the acquisition date in November 2017. 

18. Intangible assets 

Movement of intangibles assets: 

  Cost Accumulated 
amortisation Total 

    
At 1 January 2020 6,743 (559) 6,184 
Additions 419 - 419 
Charge for the year  - (786) (786) 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 832 (832) - 
Disposal (8) 8 - 
Presentation currency translation effect  (26) 8 (18) 
At 31 December 2020 7,960 (2,161) 5,799 
Additions 1,034 - 1,034 
Charge for the year  - (914) (914) 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (8,610) 2,919 (5,691) 
Presentation currency translation effect  (116) 47 (69) 
At 31 December 2021 268 (109) 159 

The Group capitalises certain internal use software development costs associated with internally developed 
software primarily related to enterprise resource planning system that was implemented in 2018 and went live in 
2019 for its US operations. Costs incurred in the application and infrastructure development stage, including 
significant enhancements and upgrades, are capitalised. These software development costs are recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of five to ten years and presented under depreciation and 
amortization expense which is included in the cost of products sold financial statement line item of the 
consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company amortised 
internal use software development costs of USD0.9 million (2020: USD0.8 million). 
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19. Mining assets 

  Cost Accumulated 
amortisation Total 

    
At 1 January 2020 233,959 (41,252) 192,707 
Transfers to construction in progress 8,268 - 8,268 
Charge for the year - (20,902) (20,902) 
Presentation currency translation effect (45,868) 9,793 (36,075) 
At 31 December 2020 196,359 (52,361) 143,998 
Transfers from construction in progress 26,106 - 26,106 
Charge for the year - (25,569) (25,569) 
Presentation currency translation effect (95,525) 33,056 (62,469) 
At 31 December 2021 126,940 (44,874) 82,066 

20. Prepaid expenses 

Prepaid expenses comprise of: 

  2021 2020 
Non-current assets   
Prepaid expenses 866 892 
Order advances given for plant, property and equipment 26,675 9,600 
  27,541 10,492 
Current assets   
Prepaid expenses 2,022 4,509 
Order advances given for inventory purchases 5,114 1,068 
  7,136 5,577 
   
  34,677 16,069 

 

21. Trade and other receivables 
 2021 2020 

   

Trade receivables   
Current:   
Trade receivables 10,510  69,051 
Discount on trade receivable (38) (441) 
Trade receivables from related parties (Note 35) 139,396  151,332 
Notes receivables1 - - 
Provision for doubtful receivables - (965) 
Total trade receivables 149,868 218,977 

   
Other receivables   

Current:   
Other sundry receivables 35 581 
Deposits given 1,381 4,082 
Other receivables from related parties (Note 35) 33,555 242,836 

 34,971 247,499 
Non-current:   
Deposits given 152 165 
Other receivables from related parties (Note 35) 494,088 526,143 
 494,240 526,308 
Total other receivables 529,211 773,807 

   
Total trade and other receivables 679,079 992,784 

Note 1 ʹ Note receivables represent promissory notes received in Turkey with respect to trading activities. 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐƌĞĚŝƚ�ƚĞƌŵƐ�ĨŽƌ�ŝƚƐ�ƚƌĂĚĞ�ƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞƐ�ǀĂƌǇ�ĨƌŽŵ�ϯϬ�ƚŽ�ϭϮϬ�ĚĂǇƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƚƌĂĚĞ�ƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞƐ�ĂƌĞ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ�ĚƵĞ�
from customers for goods sold performed in the ordinary course of business. As of the reporting date, trade 
receivables are generally due for settlement within 75 days (2020: 73 days) and therefore are all classified as 
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current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 
contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade 
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

22. Goodwill 

  2021 2020 
As of 1 January 54,595 60,561 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (29,284) - 
Presentation currency translation effect (10,994) (5,966) 
As of 31 December 14,317 54,595 

 

The goodwill recognised by the Group is a result of: 

භ acquisition of Eti Soda on 24 November 2017 originally amounting to USD31.4 million (USD16.8 million and 
USD9.5 million net of presentation currency translation effect as of 31 December 2020 and 2021 respectively) 
and allocated to the Turkish soda ash business; 

භ acquisition of Kazan Soda on 5 February 2018 originally amounting to USD16.6 million (USD8.5 million and 
USD4.8 million net of presentation currency translation effect as of 31 December 2020 and 2021 respectively) 
and allocated to the Turkish soda ash business; and 

භ acquisition of Sisecam Resources with its parent CEI on 22 February 2018 amounting to USD29.3 million and 
allocated to the United States soda ash business. As of 31 December 2021, the Group has no goodwill amount 
from Sisecam Resources due to the disposal of the subsidiaries on 21 December 2021 (see Note 5 Discontinued 
operations - assets disposal - transaction with Sisecam). 

Goodwill is subject to impairment test every year, where no impairment was recognised in 2021 (2020: USD nil). 
In making assessments for impairment, assets that do not generate independent cash flows are allocated to an 
appropriate CGU. The recoverable amount of those assets, or CGU, is measured at the higher of their fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use. 

Management applies its judgement in allocating assets to CGUs, in estimating the probability, timing and value of 
underlying cash flows and in selecting appropriate discount rates to be applied within the recoverable value 
calculation. Subsequent changes to CGU allocation or estimates and assumptions in the recoverable value 
calculation could impact the carrying value of the respective assets. The key assumptions set out below were used 
in the calculation of the recoverable value as of 31 December 2021. 

The projection period for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing is 5 years for US operations and the 
estimated useful lives of mining reserves for Turkish subsidiaries, which is 43 years for Kazan Soda, and 21 years 
for Eti Soda. For its Turkish subsidiaries, the Group expects to use available reserves of trona until the depletion 
of such reserves with the existing capacity of the facilities. Considering the unique solution mining method used 
by Turkish subsidiaries and limited estimated useful lives of mining reserves the management team decided to use 
useful lives of mining reserves for impairment testing. Until 31 December 2020, cash flows for further periods (the 
remaining mine life) for US operations were extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 2%, which does not 
exceed the estimated average growth rate of economy of the country. The average growth rate of cash flows for 
further periods (after 5 years) for Turkish operations is 2%. 

Management has performed a sensitivity analysis in relation to budgeted / projected EBITDAs (5% decrease) and 
discount rate (200 bps increase), which are considered to be reasonable changes in assumptions based on COVID-
19 and market related risks. Based on these sensitivities, their assessment is that no reasonably possible change 
in key assumptions would result in the recoverable amount being determined as lower than the carrying amount. 
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A range of weighted average cost of capital rates between 14.3% - 15.0% (2020: 9% - 10.5%) were used as post-
tax discount rates in order to calculate the recoverable amount for each of the CGUs individually. The post-tax rate 
was adjusted by considering tax effects of the tax cash outflows and other future tax cash flows and differences 
between the cost of the assets and their tax bases. 

23. Other assets and liabilities 

Other assets and liabilities comprise: 
Other Assets 2021 2020 

Current:   
VAT carried forward 8,057 5,103 
VAT other 1,883 5,049 
Restricted cash 64,799 15,565 
Other 1,903 4,462 
 76,642 30,179 
Non-current:   
Other sundry receivables - 2,214 
 - 2,214 
Total other assets 76,642 32,393 

   
   
Other Liabilities 2021 2020 

Current:   
Taxes and funds payable 9,619 8,379 
Other sundry payables 681 3,007 
 10,300 11,386 
Non-current:   
Taxes and funds payables 1,158 - 
 1,158 - 
Total other liabilities 11,458 11,386 

Restricted cash comprises deposits held in United Kingdom, Turkey and USA that have been placed to satisfy 
covenant requirements in respect of bank borrowings, see Note 26 Borrowings. The restricted cash is not under 
ƚŚĞ� ĞǆĐůƵƐŝǀĞ� ĐŽŶƚƌŽů� ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ� ĂŶĚ� ƚŚĞƌĞĨŽƌĞ� ŝƐ� ĚŝƐĐůŽƐĞĚ� ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞůǇ� ĨƌŽŵ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ĐĂƐŚ� ĂŶĚ� ĐĂƐŚ�
equivalents. 

24. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprises of: 
  2021 2020 
Cash 606 14 
   
Cash in bank comprises: 13,888 21,840 
- Demand deposits 13,886 7,856 
- Time deposits with maturities less than three months 2 13,984 
 14,494 21,854 

 

The details of the cash and cash equivalents of the Group are as follows: 

  2021 2020 
Cash and cash equivalents  14,494 21,854 
Less: Restricted cash (time deposit)  - (13,984) 
Cash and cash equivalents provided in statement of cash flows  14,494 7,870 

As at 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalents did not include any restricted cash (31 December 2020: 
USD13,984). 
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25. Inventories 

Inventories comprise: 
  2021 2020 
Raw materials and supplies 9,534 19,737 
Work in progress - 8,519 
Finished goods 14,257 24,099 
 23,791 52,355 

No inventories written off nor written down to profit and loss in 2021 and 2020. 

Raw materials and supplies comprise: 
  2021 2020 
Packaging 2,397 1,465 
Raw materials 2,835 11,616 
Spare parts 4,302 6,656 
  9,534 19,737 
 
Non-current inventories are comprised of long-term store inventories by USD14,523 (31 December 2020: 
USD35,046). 

26. Borrowings 

  2021 2020 
Non-current:   

Bank borrowings ʹ long term portion of the long-term borrowings 1,411,442 745,253 
(Less): Transaction costs (22,868) (17,995) 

 1,388,574 727,258 
Current:   

Bank borrowings due within one year 101,322 109,598 
Bank borrowings ʹ short term portion of the long-term borrowings 329,188 1,677,023 
(Less): Transaction costs (7,770) (31,878) 

 422,740 1,754,743 
  1,811,314 2,482,001 

In 2020, USD1,370.3 million was classified from non-current to current in relation to bank borrowings as a result 
of a change to terms and conditions in relation to the previous loan facility.  

For further details, please see Note 40 Post balance sheet events. 

Bank borrowings comprise: 
 2021  2020 
Currency WAEIR1 Short-term Long-term  WAEIR1 Short-term Long-term 
USD 3.86% 171,878 683,614  5.00% 573,935 745,253 
EUR 3.99% 258,632 727,828  3.75% 1,212,686 - 
Total USD equivalent   430,510 1,411,442   1,786,621 745,253 
(Less): Transaction costs2        
USD  (3,297) (11,686)   (9,394) (17,995) 
EUR  (4,473) (11,182)   (22,484) - 
Total Transaction costs (-)  (7,770) (22,868)   (31,878) (17,995) 
Net USD equivalent  422,740 1,388,574   1,754,743 727,258 

Note 1 ʹ Weighted average effective interest rate 

Note 2 ʹ  USD30.6 million (2020: USD49.9 million) are related to transaction costs of borrowings and they are capitalised and amortised as finances costs on 
a straight-line basis in the profit or loss. 
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�ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĞŶƚĞƌĞĚ�ŝŶƚŽ�ĞŝŐŚƚ�ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞ�ƵŶƐĞĐƵƌĞĚ��ǆƉŽƌƚ�KƌŝĞŶƚĞĚ�>ŽĂŶ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ǁŝƚŚ��ĞŶŝǌďĂŶŬ��͘b͘�ĂƐ�ůĞŶĚĞƌ�
;͞�ĞŶŝǌďĂŶŬ͟Ϳ�ƌĞůĂƚŝŶŐ�ƚŽ�ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ�ĐĂƉŝƚĂů�ĨĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƵƉ�ƚŽ�ΨϴϬ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�ĨŽƌ�ϱ�ĚŝĨĨĞƌĞŶƚ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�Φϭϴ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�
for two different agreements ;ƚŚĞ�͞�ǆƉŽƌƚ�KƌŝĞŶƚĞĚ�>ŽĂŶ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ͟Ϳ͕�ƌĞƐƉĞĐƚŝǀĞůǇ͘��ůů�ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ�ĚƌĂǁŶ�ƵŶĚĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�
Eti Soda Working Capital Facilities are for working capital purposes. As of 31 December 2021, the amounts 
outstanding under the Eti Soda Working Capital Facilities amounted to USD101.3 million. 

The Eti Soda Working Capital Facilities are revolving loan facility arrangements between Denizbank and Eti Soda 
with each individual loan having a term of six months. In practice, Eti Soda generally rolls over accrued interest 
and principal on each loan to the next six month period. The Export Oriented Loan Facilities granted pursuant to 
the Export Oriented Loan Agreements each accrue interest at a fixed rate per year. 

On 1 August 2018, the Group secured a USD380 million and a EUR1,100 million loan facility (which are referred to 
as Original Facilities) under the Original Facilities Agreement. The maturity date of the Original Facilities Agreement 
was 1 August 2025. Interest payments were due on a quarterly basis. WE Soda and CEI were borrowers of the loan, 
with the Company, WE Soda Kimya, Ciner Kimya, Sisecam Resources Corporation and Sisecam Chemical Holdings 
acting as guarantors to the loan. The Original Facilities were secured, with share pledges of CEI, Sisecam Chemicals 
Resources, Sisecam Chemical Holdings, Sisecam Resources, Ciner Kimya, WE Soda Kimya and Eti Soda. The Interest 
rate of the loan was 3-month LIBOR rate plus a fixed margin of 4.25% for USD and 3-month LIBOR rate plus a fixed 
margin of 3.75% for EUR denominated portions. As at 31 December 2021, the Group was in full compliance with 
the requirements stipulated by the Original Facilities Agreement. 

On 22 December 2021, CEI settled in full its drawings under the Original Facilities with its lenders for a value equal 
to USD142.7 million comprising of USD111.2 million and EUR16.9 million and, on the same date, WE Soda entered 
into an amendment to the Original Facilities Agreement, increasing its portion of the Original Facilities with its 
lenders for an additional USD142.7 million comprising of USD111.2 million and EUR16.9 million.  

On 14 February 2022, the Original Facilities Agreement was rescinded and replaced by the Senior Facilities 
Agreement. See Note 40. Post-Balance Sheet Events. 

<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�ĐĞƌƚĂŝŶ�ůĞŶĚĞƌƐ͕�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�/ŶĚƵƐƚƌŝĂů�ĂŶĚ��ŽŵŵĞƌĐŝĂů��ĂŶŬ�ŽĨ��ŚŝŶĂ�;͞/���͟Ϳ͕�ďǇ�ǁĂǇ�ŽĨ�ĂĐƚŝŶŐ�ĂůƐŽ�
as agent for other lenders, entered into a facilities agreement dated 25 March 2014 in relation to a soda ash project 
located in Kazan, providŝŶŐ�ĨŽƌ�ĐĞƌƚĂŝŶ�ůŽĂŶ�ĨĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�;ƚŚĞ�͞<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ͟�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĞůĞǀĂŶƚ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͕�ƚŚĞ�
͞<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͟Ϳ͘��Ɛ�Ăƚ�ϯϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϮϭ͕�ƚŚĞ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚĞĚ�ƚŽ�h^�ϱϴϲ͘ϳ�
million (2020: USD736.8 million). Repayment of the loan commenced on 20 December 2018 and will continue until 
20 June 2027. The Interest rate of the loan is 6-ŵŽŶƚŚ�>/�KZ�ƌĂƚĞ�ƉůƵƐ�Ă�ĨŝǆĞĚ�ŵĂƌŐŝŶ�ŽĨ�ϯ͘ϰϱй͘�WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ��͘b͘�
;͞WĂƌŬ� ,ŽůĚŝŶŐ͟Ϳ͕�t�� ^ŽĚĂ� <ŝŵǇĂ� zĂƚŦƌŦŵůĂƌŦ� �͘b͘� ;͞t�� ^ŽĚĂ� <ŝŵǇĂ͟Ϳ� ĂŶĚ� �ŝŶĞƌ� <ŝŵǇĂ� zĂƚŦƌŦŵůĂƌŦ� �͘b͘� ;͞�ŝŶĞƌ�
<ŝŵǇĂ͟Ϳ�ĂƌĞ�ƉĂƌƚŝĞƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ĂƐ�ŐƵĂƌĂŶƚŽƌƐ͘� 

See Note 4(b). Significant Restrictions with respect to the various covenants and restrictive provisions applicable 
to (subject to certain exceptions) the WE Soda Restricted Group under the Senior Facilities Agreement. 

The Group has not capitalised any borrowing cost during the year (2020: USD nil).  

The carrying value of bank borrowings held at amortised cost approximates the fair value. 

The bank borrowings repayment schedule is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
Within 1 year 430,510 394,420 
1 - 2 years 326,330 539,713 
2 - 3 years 320,731 442,380 
3 - 4 years 622,961 491,713 
4 - 5 years 87,416 555,534 
5 + years 54,004 108,114 

  1,841,952 2,531,874 
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27. Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables comprises of: 
 2021 2020 
Trade payables   
Current:   
Trade payables 79,224 90,709 
Trade payables to related parties (Note 35) 24,102 39,466 
 103,326 130,175 
Non-current:   
Trade payables - 32,757 
Trade payables to related parties (Note 35) - 24,929 
 - 57,686 
   
Total trade payables 103,326 187,861 
   
Other payables   
Current:   
Other payables to related parties (Note 35) 26,099 46,387 
Deposits received 102 117 
Other sundry payables 679 5,736 
 26,880 52,240 
Non-current:   
Other payables to related parties (Note 35) 3 304 
 3 304 
   
Total other payables 26,883 52,544 
   
Total trade and other payables 130,209 240,405 

The average credit period for trade purchases is 53 days (2020: 61 days). The Directors consider the carrying value 
of trade and other payables (on which no interest is incurred) approximates to their fair value. 

28. Derivative financial instruments 

The Group may enter into derivative contracts from time to time to manage exposure to the risk of exchange rate 
changes on its foreign currency transactions, the risk of changes in natural gas prices, and the risk of the variability 
in interest rates on borrowings. Gains and losses on derivative contracts are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing 
of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group follows hedge 
accounting for its hedging activities. All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at their fair 
values. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative 
and the resulting designation. The Group designates its derivatives based upon criteria established for hedge 
accounting under IFRS. For a derivative designated as a fair value hedge, the gain or loss is recognised in earnings 
in the year of change together with the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributed to the risk being 
hedged. 

&Žƌ�Ă�ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞ�ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�Ă�ĐĂƐŚ�ĨůŽǁ�ŚĞĚŐĞ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĞĨĨĞĐƚŝǀĞ�ƉŽƌƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĚĞƌŝǀĂƚŝǀĞ͛Ɛ�ŐĂŝŶ�Žƌ�ůŽƐƐ�ŝƐ�ŝŶŝƚŝĂůůǇ�
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently reclassified into 
earnings when the hedged exposure affects earnings. Any significant ineffective portion of the gain or loss is 
reported in earnings immediately. For derivatives not designated as hedges, the gain or loss is reported in earnings 
in the year of change. Until 21 December 2021, the Group had the following 2 derivative financial instruments, 
interest rate swap contracts and gas forward contracts. 
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a) Interest rate swap contracts 

The Group does not have any swap contract as of 31 December 2021. In prior years, Sisecam Wyoming had interest 
rate swap contracts, designated as cash flow hedges, to mitigate its exposure to possible increases in interest 
rates. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the swap contracts consisted of three individual USD12.5 million, 
four individual USD12.5 million swaps with an aggregate notional value of USD37.5 million and USD50.0 million 
and had various maturities through 2023. 

b) Gas forward contracts 

The Group does not have any gas forward contracts as of 31 December 2021. In prior years, Sisecam Wyoming 
entered into natural gas financial forward contracts, designated as cash flow hedges, to mitigate volatility in the 
price of natural gas related to a portion of the natural gas it consumes. These contracts generally had various 
maturities through 2024. The aggregate notional value of financial gas forward purchase contracts as of 31 
December 2020 was USD25.9 million and net fair value asset of USD0.4 million. 

29. Employee benefits 

Employee benefits comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Current:   
Due to personnel 874 9,647 
Social security premiums payable 616 421 
Provision for annual leave(a) 762 1,644 
Provision for post-employment benefit(c) - 1,789 
Other payables - 41 
 2,252 13,542 
Non-current:   
Provision for retirement pay obligation ʹ Turkish operations(b) 1,899 2,013 
Provision for retirement pay obligation ʹ US operations (b) - 55,157 
Provision for post-employment benefit(c) - 11,340 
 1,899 68,510 
   
Total  4,151 82,052 

Retirement pay obligations for US operations comprise total benefit obligations net off fair value of plan assets 
as shown below: 

  2021 2020 
Benefit obligation 205,806 215,048 
Fair value of plan assets (172,963) (159,891) 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (32,843) - 
At 31 December - 55,157 

The above balances form part of the discontinued operations and hence nil balance as at 31 December 2021 (see 
Note 5). 

a) Provision for unused annual leave 

Movement of provision for unused annual leave is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
At 1 January  1,644 1,405 
Additions 444 561 
Payment/reversal of provision (66) (127) 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (736) - 
Exchange loss on translation to presentation currency (524) (195) 
At 31 December 762 1,644 
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Unused annual leave is recognised for the monetary value of the unused annual leave remuneration to be paid to 
employees upon the termination of their employment contract for any reason, at the wage rate prevailing on the 
date of termination. The liability represents the undiscounted amount of remuneration to be paid assuming the 
termination occurs at the reporting date. 

b) Provision for retirement pay obligation 

Movement of provision for defined retirement benefit liability for the Turkish operations is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
At 1 January  2,013 1,709 
Actuarial loss 26 - 
Service cost 1,052 660 
Interest cost 68 59 
Termination benefits paid (113) (71) 
Exchange gain on translation to presentation currency (1,147) (344) 
At 31 December 1,899 2,013 

 

Movement of provision for defined retirement benefit liability for the US operations is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
At 1 January 55,157 54,800 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (32,843) - 
Actuarial loss (6,674) 22,705 
Service cost 2,522 2,113 
Interest cost 1,276 1,723 
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income (18,181) (19,435) 
Contribution by employer (1,257) (6,749) 
At 31 December - 55,157 

The above balances form part of the discontinued operations and hence nil balance as at 31 December 2021 (see 
Note 5). 

Sensitivity 

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined retirement benefit for the US operations 
are discount rate and the rate of compensation increase. Based on the gross obligation of USD200.8 million, a 1% 
change, in isolation, the plans obligation would have the effect shown in the table below: 

Change  +1% -1% 
Discount rate (Decrease)/increase in obligation (21,815) 26,397 
Rate of compensation increase Increase/(decrease) in obligation 1,910 (1,547) 

 

c) Provision for other post-employment 

Movement for provision for other post-employment benefit is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
At 1 January  13,129 13,757 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (10,579) - 
Actuarial loss (1,242) 864 
Service cost 242 200 
Interest cost 207 346 
Contribution by employer (1,757) (2,038) 
At 31 December - 13,129 

The above balances form part of the discontinued operations and hence nil balance as at 31 December 2021 (see Note 5). 
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Sensitivity 

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the other post-employment benefit are health cost 
trend rate and discount rate. A 1% change, in isolation, the obligation would have the effect shown in the table 
below: 

Change  +1% -1% 
Health cost trend rate Increase/(decrease) in obligation 166 (155) 
Discount rate (Decrease)/increase in obligation (752) 878 

In relation to the above sensitives, a change in a single assumption while all other assumption remain constant is 
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of 
the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined 
benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting year) has been 
applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the statement of financial position. 

Turkey 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŵĂŝŶƚĂŝŶƐ�Ă�ƌĞƚŝƌĞŵĞŶƚ�ƉĂǇ�ŽďůŝŐĂƚŝŽŶ�ƉƌŽǀŝƐŝŽŶ�ĂƐ�ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ďǇ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ůĂǁ�ĂŶĚ�
union agreements, to ensure that lump sum payments are made to employees retiring or involuntarily leaving the 
Turkish subsidiaries. Such payments are considered as being part of employee benefit plan as per IAS 19 (Revised) 
- Employee Benefits. 

The retirement pay provision recognised in the financial statements represents the present value of the retirement 
pay obligation. The actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. The level of benefits 
ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ�ĚĞƉĞŶĚƐ�ŽŶ�ŵĞŵďĞƌƐ͛�ůĞŶŐƚŚ�ŽĨ�ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞŝƌ�ƐĂůĂƌǇ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�Ĩŝnal years leading up to retirement. 

Ceiling amount of USD836, which is declared by government and in effect since 1 January 2021, is used in the 
ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƉƌŽǀŝƐŝŽŶ� ĨŽƌ� ƌĞƚŝƌĞŵĞŶƚ�ƉĂǇ� ůŝĂďŝůŝƚǇ͘��ĞŝůŝŶŐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ĚĞƚĞƌŵŝŶĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�ƵƉƉĞƌ� ůŝŵŝƚ� ĨŽƌ� ƚŚĞ�
retirement pay provision liability for a 1 month of service length. 

Turkish companies are not required by local law to set up a fund to meet their retirement pay obligations. Provision 
for retirement pay obligation is calculated by estimating the present value of probable liability amount arising due 
to retirement of employees IAS 19 (Revised) - Employee Benefits stipulates the deǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ� Ă� ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�
liabilities by using actuarial valuation methods. In this direction, actuarial assumptions used in calculation of total 
liabilities are described as follows: 

භ Liability for each year of service will move in correlation with Turkish national inflation rate. To reflect this 
correlation, the discount rate applied takes into account the anticipated effects of future inflation; 

භ Provision for retirement pay obligation is calculated as the present value of the future probable obligation of 
the company arising from the retirement of the employees by applying 3.96% real discount rate;  

භ Management assumes that due to voluntarily leave, 3.35% of liability for Eti Soda and 10.8% of liability for 
Kazan Soda will not be paid out to employees with 0 - 15 years of service. It is assumed that full payment will 
be made for those with 16 or more years of service and  

භ �ĞŝůŝŶŐ�ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ŽĨ�h^�ϴϯϲ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŝƐ�ŝŶ�ĞĨĨĞĐƚ�ƐŝŶĐĞ�ϭ�:ĂŶƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ�ŝƐ�ƵƐĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĐĂůĐƵůĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�'ƌŽƵƉƐ͛�ƉƌŽǀŝƐŝŽŶ�
for retirement pay liability (1 January 2021: USD1,041, 1 January 2020: USD1,133). 
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30. Mine closure provision 

Mine closure provision amount (2021: USD nil, 2020: USD40.1 million) primarily represents the discounted future 
cash flow expenditure required for the closure of mines of Ciner Wyoming. The amount is based on the estimated 
remaining useful life of the mine and on external and internal estimates as to the cost to restore the land in the 
future and state regulatory requirements. During 2021, the remaining life was 61 years (2020: 62 years). The 
liability was discounted using a risk-free rate of approximately 2% (2020: 2%) per annum. 

Movement of the provision may be analysed as follows: 

 2021 2020 
At 1 January 40,130 86,229 
Accretion/Interest expense 855 2,129 
Additions (349) - 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see Note 5 (41,280) - 
Remeasurement1 (Note 14) 644 (48,228) 
At 31 December  - 40,130 

Note 1 - While the discount rates as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 had decreased due to current market conditions (when compared to 31 
December 2019), the forecast US inflation rate used in the calculation of the provision valuation had increased resulting in an overall increase in the 
free risk rate applied. The net effect of the changes in the current financial year was a downward adjustment of USD644.000 (2020: USD48,228,000) 
to the carrying value of provision for closure of the property. 

The above balances form part of the discontinued operations and hence nil balance as at 31 December 2021 (see 
Note 5). 

The Group is subject to environmental controls and regulations in Turkey which are closely monitored by 
DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͘�tŝƚŚŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƐĐŽƉĞ�ŽĨ�ǀĂƌŝŽƵƐ�ůĂǁƐ͕�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ůŝĐĞŶĐĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�͚ƵƐĞ�ŽĨ�ŵŝŶĞƌĂů�ƌŝŐŚƚƐ͛�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�
decommissions mine facilities on cessation of its mineral extraction operations and restores the surrounding 
ĞŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚ͘�dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ďĞůŝĞǀĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŝƚƐ�ĞŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚĂů�ŽďůŝŐĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ŵĂŝŶůǇ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ͗ 

භ rehabilitation of land and other types of on-going rehabilitation; 

භ decommissioning of mining assets and bringing mine sites into a condition that ensures the safety of the 
population and the protection of the environment, building and facilities. 

As aforementioned environmental laws and regulations continue to evolve, Management continuously monitors 
and measures potential net cash outflows and inflows to be incurred due to decommissioning activities and 
currently does not expect any significant cash outflow. In this respect, the Group has not recognised any mine 
closure provision with respect to its investments in Turkey. 

31. Deferred income (contract liabilities) 

USD7.8 million (2020: USD43.0 million) of the deferred income consists of short-term advances received from 
ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ��ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͕͘�ǁŚŝůĞ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĞŵĂŝŶŝŶŐ�h^�Ϭ͘ϵ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�;ϮϬϮϬ͗�h^�ϭ͘ϵ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶͿ�ĐŽŶƐŝƐƚƐ�
of advances received from other customers for soda ash and sodium bicarbonate sales of Turkish operating 
entities. Deferred income represents undelivered goods, which will be recognized as revenue upon delivery of 
such goods, which is consistent with the prior year. Movement in contract liabilities relates to timing differences. 
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32. Share capital and other reserves 

Issued and fully paid ordinary share capital as at 31 December 2021 amounted to USD153.7 million (2020: 
USD153.7 million). 

Ordinary equity share capital       

Authorised, allotted and fully paid Number 
Share Capital 

Ψ͛ϬϬϬ 
Share Premium 

Ψ͛ϬϬϬ 
At 1 January 2020 153,702,471 153,702 1,382,131 
At 31 December 2020 153,702,471 153,702 1,382,131 
At 31 December 2021 153,702,481 153,702 1,382,131 

 
50,000 shares were issued at GBP1.00 per share at incorporation and were denominated to USD1.32 per share 
in 2017. All other ordinary shares were issued at USD1.00. 
 
Class of shares Class A1 Class B2 Total 
    
At 1 January 2020 n/a n/a 153,702,471 
At 31 December 2020 153,692,471 10,000 153,702,471 
At 31 December 2021 153,692,471 10,010 153,702,481 

Notes: 
1 ʹ  Ordinary shares with regular voting rights 
2 ʹ  Ordinary shares with conferring enhanced voting rights pursuant to Article 13 set out in the Article of Association. 

 
Restricted profit reserve for Turkish operations 

The Turkish Commercial Code stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the 
rate of 5% per annum, until the total reserve reaches 20% of the �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ƉĂŝĚ-in share capital. The second legal 
reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash distributions in excess of 5% of the paid-in share 
ĐĂƉŝƚĂů͘� �Ɛ� ŽĨ� ϯϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ� ϮϬϮϭ͕� dƵƌŬŝƐŚ� ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ͛� ƌĞƐƚƌŝĐƚĞĚ� ƉƌŽĨŝƚ� ƌĞƐĞƌǀĞƐ� ĐŽŶƐŝƐƚ� ŽĨ legal reserves. The 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ůĞŐĂů�ƌĞƐĞƌǀĞ�ŝƐ�h^�ϰϳ͘ϰ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�;ϮϬϮϬ͗�h^�Ϯϲ͘ϵ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶͿ͘ 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

As detailed in Note 2.13 Foreign currencies and 2.29 Identification of functional currencies, the functional currency 
for each subsidiary is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates. The presentation 
ĐƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ� ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ� ŝƐ� ƚŚĞ� h^� �ŽůůĂƌ� ďĂƐĞĚ� ŽŶ� ƚŚĞ� ĂƐƐĞƐƐŵĞŶƚ� ƚŚĂƚ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ƌĞǀĞŶƵĞ� ŵŝǆ� ǁŝůů� ďĞ�
predominantly US Dollar denominated due to nature of the industry and US Dollar presentation will enhance 
comparability with industry peer group. 
 
&Žƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƵƌƉŽƐĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞƐĞ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ƚŚĞ�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�
foreign operations (mainly reportable segments in Turkey) are translated into USD using exchange rates prevailing 
at the end of each reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that year, in which case the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 
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Please refer below ĨŽƌ�͞&ŽƌĞŝŐŶ��ƵƌƌĞŶĐǇ�dƌĂŶƐůĂƚŝŽŶ�ZĞƐĞƌǀĞ͟�ŵŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ŝŶ�ƌĞƐƉĞĐƚŝǀĞ�ǇĞĂƌƐ͘ 
 

  

Equity 
attributable to 
owners of the 

Company 
Non-controlling 

interest Total 
    

Opening balance as of 1 January 2020 (601,542) (143,524) (745,066) 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (354,696) (55,254) (409,950) 
Closing balance as of 31 December 2020 (956,238) (198,778) (1,155,016) 
    
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (815,327) (107,555) (922,882) 
Closing balance as of 31 December 2021 (1,771,565) (306,333) (2,077,898) 

 
Earnings per ordinary share 

  Weighted average 
number of shares Earnings 

Per share 
amount 

Continuing operations:    
At 31 December 2020  153,702,471 186,218 1.212 
At 31 December 2021  153,702,481 284,523 1.851 
    

Discontinued operations:    
At 31 December 2020  153,702,471 (21,393) (0.139) 
At 31 December 2021  153,702,481 71,810 0.467 

33. Group companies 

The subsidiaries of the Group, the activity of which relates to the extraction and production of soda ash, at the 
reporting date were as follows: 

Nature of 
relationshi
p 

Company 
Country of 
Incorporation
4 

Principal activity Registered address 
Effective 

percentage 
holding 

Subsidiary Ciner Enterprises Inc. USA Holding company 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2500, 
Atlanta GA 30328 

100%1, 6 

Associate  Sisecam Chemicals Resources USA Holding company As above  40%1,6 
Subsidiary �ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�WĂǌĂƌůĂŵĂ�

EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ�ǀĞ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�
^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 

Turkey Mining for natural 
resources 

zĞƔŝůĂŒĂĕ�DĂŚĂůůĞƐŝ�'ƺƌĂŒĂĕ�
<ƺŵĞĞǀůĞƌ No: 47/A 06730 
�ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ͕��ŶŬĂƌĂ͕�dƵƌŬĞǇ 

74%2,6 

Subsidiary <ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ��͘b͘ Turkey Mining for natural 
resources 

^ƂŒƺƚƂǌƺ��ĂĚĚĞƐŝ�^ŝŵ�^ƂŒƺƚƂǌƺ�7Ɣ�
DĞƌŬĞǌŝ�EŽ͗ϭϰͬ���ĞƔƚĞƉĞůĞƌ͕�
Yenimahalle, Ankara, Turkey 

100%1, 6 

Subsidiary Ciner Kimya zĂƚŝƌŝŵůĂƌŝ��͘b͘ Turkey Holding company ^ƵůƚĂŶƚĞƉĞ�DĂŚĂůůĞƐŝ�WĂƔĂůŝŵĂŶŦ�
�ĂĚĚĞƐŝ�EŽ͗ϰϭ͕�mƐŬƺĚĂƌ͕�7ƐƚĂŶďƵů͕�
Turkey 

100%1, 6 

Subsidiary WE Soda Ltd1 United 
Kingdom 

Holding company 23 College Hill, London, EC4R 2RP, 
United Kingdom  

100%1,5 

Subsidiary We Soda <ŝŵǇĂ�zĂƚŝƌŝŵůĂƌŝ��͘b͘ Turkey Holding company As above 100%1, 6 
Subsidiary TC Soda Holdings Inc. USA Holding company 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2500, 

Atlanta GA 30328 
100%1, 5 

Subsidiary Imperial Natural Resources 
Trona Mining Inc.  

USA Holding company As above 100%1, 5 

 WE Soda Investments Holding 
Plc 

United 
Kingdom 

Holding company  23 College Hill, London, EC4R 2RP, 
United Kingdom  

100%1, 5 

Associate Pacific Soda LLC USA Development project 
for natural resources 

20 Shoshone Ave., Green River, WY 
82935 

40%1,5 

Associate Atlantic Soda LLC USA Development project 
for natural resources 

5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2500, 
Atlanta GA 30328 

40%1,5 

 
Note 1 - Ordinary shares 
Note 2 - Preference shares (the right to appoint 6 members of Board of Directors out of 8) 
Note 3 - General partner units which has incentive distribution rights and control rights over Ciner Resources LP 
Note 4 - Principal place of business for all subsidiaries is same with the country of incorporation 
Note 5 - Held directly by Kew Soda Ltd.  
Note 6 - Held indirectly through subsidiary undertakings. 
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Subsidiaries before 21 December 2021, prior to the completion of the 2021 Strategic Transactions: 

Company 
Country of 
Incorporation4 Principal activity Registered address 

Effective 
percentage 

holding 
Ciner Enterprises Inc. USA Holding company 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2500, Atlanta GA 

30328 
100%1,5 

Ciner Resource Partners LLC (GP) 
(renamed to Sisecam Resource 
Partners LLC) 

USA Holding company As above 100%3,6 

Ciner Resources Corporation 
(renamed to Sisecam Chemicals 
Resources LLC) 

USA Holding company As above  100%1,6 

Ciner Resources LP (renamed to 
Sisecam Resources LP) 

USA Holding company As above  74%1,6 

Ciner Wyoming Holding Co. 
(Sisecam Chemicals Wyoming 
LLC) 

USA Holding company As above  100%1,6 

Ciner Resource Partners LLC (GP) 
(renamed to Sisecam Resource 
Partners LLC) 

USA Mining for natural 
resources 

254 County Road 4-6, Green River, WY 82935 38%1,6 

�ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�WĂǌĂƌůĂŵĂ�
EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ�ǀĞ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�
^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 

Turkey Mining for natural 
resources 

zĞƔŝůĂŒĂĕ�DĂŚĂůůĞƐŝ�'ƺƌĂŒĂĕ�<ƺŵĞĞǀůĞƌ�EŽ͗�
ϰϳͬ��ϬϲϳϯϬ��ĞǇƉĂǌĂƌŦ͕��ŶŬĂƌĂ͕�dƵƌŬĞǇ 

74%2,5 

<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ��͘b͘ Turkey Mining for natural 
resources 

^ƂŒƺƚƂǌƺ��ĂĚĚĞƐŝ�^ŝŵ�^ƂŒƺƚƂǌƺ�7Ɣ�DĞƌŬĞǌŝ�
EŽ͗ϭϰͬ���ĞƔƚĞƉĞůĞƌ͕�zĞŶŝŵĂŚĂůůĞ͕��ŶŬĂƌĂ͕�
Turkey 

100%1,5 

�ŝŶĞƌ�<ŝŵǇĂ�zĂƚŝƌŝŵůĂƌŝ��͘b͘ Turkey Holding company ^ƵůƚĂŶƚĞƉĞ�DĂŚĂůůĞƐŝ�WĂƔĂůŝŵĂŶŦ��ĂĚĚĞƐŝ�EŽ͗ϰϭ͕�
mƐŬƺĚĂƌ͕�7ƐƚĂŶďƵů͕�dƵƌŬĞǇ 

100%1,5 

WE ^ŽĚĂ�<ŝŵǇĂ�zĂƚŝƌŝŵůĂƌŝ��͘b͘ Turkey Holding company As above 100%1,5 
 

Note 1 - Ordinary shares 
Note 2 - Preference shares (the right to appoint 6 members of Board of Directors out of 8) 
Note 3 - General partner units, which has incentive distribution rights and control rights over Ciner Resources LP 
Note 4 - Principal place of business for all subsidiaries is same with the country of incorporation 
Note 5 - Held directly by WE Soda Ltd.  
Note 6 - Held indirectly through subsidiary undertakings. 

Non-controlling interest 

NRP Trona LLC 

Prior to the 2021 Strategic Transactions, NRP Trona LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Natural Resource Partners 
L.P., was deemed a non-controlling interest of the Group as it owned a 49% membership interest in Sisecam 
Wyoming. However, following the 2021 Strategic Transactions, which completed on 21 December 2021, NRP Trona 
LLC is no longer deemed a non-controlling interest given that the Group no longer controls Sisecam Wyoming as 
the Group sold 60% of its interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources. 

Eti Maden 

Eti Maden currently owns a 26% membership interest in Eti Soda. This non-controlling interest of Eti Maden has 
protective rights as follows;  
ͻ Eti Maden has certain blocking rights over change in ownership of existing shares and capital increases, 
ͻ Eti Maden has certain approval rights for budget, additional borrowings, capital expenditure and merger 

transactions. 
With respect to the former US subsidiaries of the Group prior to the 2021 Strategic Transactions, non-controlling 
interests existed for Sisecam Wyoming and Sisecam Resources. 

Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the Group. For the avoidance of doubt, as of the reporting date of this consolidated financial 
statements, NRP Trona LLC is no longer deemed to have non-controlling interests in Sisecam Wyoming and 
Sisecam Resources, as the Group sold 60% of its interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources following the 2021 
Strategic transactions, and therefore the presentation below with respect to CEI is not relevant for any year 
following the 2021 Strategic Transactions. 

The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations: 
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Amongst the US subsidiaries of the Group, non-controlling interests exist for Ciner Wyoming LLC and Ciner 
Resources LP. 

2021 Eti Soda Ciner Enterprises Inc.  
   
Summarised balance sheet   
Current assets 274,643 n/a 
Non-current assets 565,662 n/a 
Current liabilities 237,659 n/a 
Non-current liabilities 83,406 n/a 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 384,242 n/a 
Non-controlling interest 134,998 n/a 

   
Summarised statement of comprehensive income   
Revenue 350,382 - 
Expenses (192,835) (30,928) 
Gain from sale of subsidiary  - 55,078 
Discontinued operations  - 16,732 
Total profit for the year 157,547 40,882 

   
Profit for the year attributable to:   
Shareholders 116,585 28,352 
Non-controlling interest 40,962 12,530 
Total profit for the year 157,547 40,882 
   
Summarised statement of cash flow   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 380 1,230 
Net cash generated from operating activities 120,765 64,626 
Net cash used from investing activities (16,145) 272,478 
Net cash used from financing activities (109,283) (334,429) 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 5,008 - 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 725 3,905 
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2020 Eti Soda Ciner Enterprises Inc.  
   
Summarised balance sheet   
Current assets 451,249 130,477 
Non-current assets 1,015,170 1,264,422 
Current liabilities 262,730 231,554 
Non-current liabilities 177,921 422,142 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 759,068 124,230 
Non-controlling interest 266,700 616,973 

   
Summarised statement of comprehensive income   
Revenue 325,269 419,799 
Expenses (165,860) (455,560) 
Total profit for the year 159,409 (35,761) 

   
Profit for the year attributable to:   
Shareholders 117,963 (26,907) 
Non-controlling interest 41,446 (8,854) 
Total profit for the year 159,409 (35,761) 
   
Summarised statement of cash flow   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 87,054 15,364 
Net cash generated from operating activities 282,412 67,559 
Net cash used from investing activities (11,288) (42,272) 
Net cash used from financing activities (353,315) (39,421) 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4,483) - 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 380 1,230 
 

34. Interest in equity accounted associates 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŚĂƐ�ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ�Ă�ƐĞƌŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƚƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ�ƌĞĨĞƌƌĞĚ�ƚŽ�ĂƐ�͞ϮϬϮϭ�^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ�dƌĂŶƐĂĐƚŝŽŶƐ͕͟�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ�
on 21 December 2021 and consist of:  

(i) CEI sale of its 60% interest in Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021, to Sisecam;  

(ii) ƚŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐĂůĞ�ŽĨ�ŝƚƐ�ϭϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�WĂĐŝĨŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�ϲϬй�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ��ƚůĂŶƚŝĐ�^ŽĚĂ�ƚŽ�^ŝƐĞĐĂŵ͖�ĂŶĚ� 

(iii) the acquisition by WE Soda of a 40% indirect interest in each of Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda, through an 
in-kind contribution of TC Soda to the capital of Kew Soda Ltd. 

Following the 2021 Strategic Transactions, the Group owns a 40% interests in each of Sisecam Chemicals Resources, 
Pacific Soda and Atlantic Soda, which the Group have recognised as equity accounted associates as at 31 December 
2021 and with effect from 21 December 2021.  
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Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2021 which, in the opinion of the directors, are 
material to the Group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are 
held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation is also their principal place of business, and the proportion 
of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.  

Company 
Country of 
Incorporation Principal activity 

Measurement 
method 

Effective 
percentage 

holding 2021 
Sisecam Chemicals Resources LLC 
(formerly Ciner Resources 
Corporation) 

USA Holding company Equity method 40% 200,000 

Pacific Soda LLC USA Mining for natural resources Equity method 40% 92,000 
Atlantic Soda LLC USA Mining for natural resources Equity method 40% 34,667 
Total equity accounted investments      326,667 

Summarised financial information for associates 

The tables below provide summarised financial information for those joint ventures and associates that are 
material to the Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of 
the relevant associates ĂŶĚ� ŶŽƚ� ƚŚĞ� 'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ƐŚĂƌĞ� ŽĨ� ƚŚŽƐĞ� ĂŵŽƵŶƚƐ͘� dŚĞǇ� ŚĂǀĞ� ďĞĞŶ� ĂŵĞŶĚĞĚ� ƚŽ� ƌĞĨůĞĐƚ�
adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications 
for differences in accounting policy. 

 
Sisecam 

Chemicals 
Resources 

Pacific 
Soda 

Atlantic 
Soda 

Summarised balance sheet    
Current assets  170,573 36,600 - 
Non-current assets  1,335,705 247,229 120,627 
Current liabilities  (89,720) (14,351) (33,960) 
Non-current liabilities  (179,275) (39,478) - 
Minority interests  (737,283) - - 
Net assets  500,000 230,000 86,667 

    
Reconciliation to carrying amounts:    
Opening net assets at 21 December  500,000 230,000 86,667 
Profit for the period  - - - 
Other comprehensive income  - - - 
Dividend paid  - - - 
Net assets  500,000 230,000 86,667 

    
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŝŶ�й� 40% 40% 40% 
'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŚĂƌĞ�ŝŶ�h^�ΖϬϬϬ� 200,000 92,000 34,667 
Goodwill  - - - 
Carrying amount  200,000 92,000 34,667 
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35. Related party transactions 

dŚĞ�ŝŵŵĞĚŝĂƚĞ�ƉĂƌĞŶƚ�ƵŶĚĞƌƚĂŬŝŶŐ�ŝƐ��ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘�dŚĞ�ƵůƚŝŵĂƚĞ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ�ƉĂƌƚǇ�ŝƐ�Dƌ͘�dƵƌŐĂǇ��ŝŶĞƌ͘�dŚĞ�'roup entered into transactions with 
related parties for the rendering of services, which amounts, depending on their nature, have either been charged to the income statement or capitalised as non-
current assets as follows:  

2021 Sales  Purchase  Financial income Financial expense Other income Other expense 
Parent company:       
�ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘� - - 17,973 - - - 
Other related parties:       
�ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘1 779,819 4,866 88,865 7,704 - - 
�ĞŶŵĂƌ��ĞƉŽĐƵůƵŬ�EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ��͘b͘� 33 20,526 549 105 - - 
�ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ�7ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�'ĞŶĞů�DƺĚƺƌůƺŒƺ� 1,596 15,260 - 709 - - 
Mineral Minings Commodity Trading LLC  - 27,848 - - 1,265 - 
WĂƌŬ��Ăŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘� 18,701 1 1,486 - - - 
WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ��͘b͘� - 27,527 44,195 3,832 - 2,209 
Park dŽƉƚĂŶ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ��ŶĞƌũŝƐŝ�^ĂƚŦƔ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘� - 41,577 1,589 2,809 - - 
�ŝŶĞƌ�dĂŶŬĞƌ�/ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�^ĂŶ͘�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘� - 13,857 398 - - 139 
Konya - /ůŐŦŶ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘� - 4,641 - 54 - - 
Other 356 1,056 272 19 18 - 
Total 800,505 157,159 155,327 15,232 1,283 2,348 
 
Note 1 -  dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵƐ�ŵĂũŽƌŝƚǇ�ŽĨ�ŝƚƐ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŽŵĞƐƚŝĐ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ��ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘^͘�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŝƐ�ĂŶ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ŝŶƚĞƌŵĞĚiary company established for this purpose in 

Turkey. 
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2020 Sales  Purchase  Financial income Financial expense Other income Other expense 
Other related parties:       
�ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘ - - 14,834 - - - 
American Natural Soda Ash Corporation 177,891 1,362 - - - - 
�ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 1 685,909 2,972 35,117 26,001 - - 
�ŝŶĞƌ�dĂŶŬĞƌ�/ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�^ĂŶ͘�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ - 2,903 - 14 - - 
�ĞŶŵĂƌ��ĞƉŽĐƵůƵŬ�EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ��͘b͘ 2 18,263 - 76 - - 
�ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ�7ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�'ĞŶĞů�DƺĚƺƌůƺŒƺ 1,436 16,276 - 1,296 - - 
Konya - /ůŐŦŶ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�mƌĞƚŝŵ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 2 3,295 - 20 - - 
Mineral Minings Commodity Trading LLC - 24,841 - - 1,235 - 
WĂƌŬ��Ăŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 22,516 5 198 - - - 
WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ��͘b͘ - 24,874 12,954 311 - 2,025 
WĂƌŬ�dŽƉƚĂŶ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ��ŶĞƌũŝƐŝ�^ĂƚŦƔ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ - 22,426 - 384 - - 
Regnum Solicitors - 559 - - - - 
Other 146 1,142 28 143 - - 
Total 887,902 118,918 63,131 28,245 1,235 2,025 
 
Note 1 -  dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵƐ�ŵĂũŽƌŝƚǇ�ŽĨ�ŝƚƐ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŽŵĞƐƚŝĐ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ��ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ A.S. which is an export intermediary company established for this purpose in 

Turkey. 

 

Goods are sold based on price lists in force and terms that would be available to third parties. Goods and services are bought from associates on normal commercial 
terms and conditions.
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Year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services: 

 Receivables  Payables 

 Current Non-current 

 

Current Non-current Order Advances 
Received 

As at 31 December 2021 Trade Non trade Trade Non 
trade Trade Non trade Trade Non trade Short term 

Parent company:           
Akkan Enerji MadenĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘ - - - 254,858 

 

- - - - - 
Other related parties:          
�ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 134,983 - - - 806 - - - 7,778 
�ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ�7ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�'ĞŶĞů�DƺĚƺƌůƺŒƺ - - - - 15,138 23,555 - - - 
WĂƌŬ��Ăŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 4,374 - - - - - - - - 
WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ��͘b͘ - 856 - 76,627 291 2,088 - - - 
WĂƌŬ�dŽƉƚĂŶ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ��ŶĞƌũŝƐŝ�^ĂƚŦƔ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ - - - -  6,455 - - - - 
Turgay Ciner - 32,602 - 162,600  - - - - - 
Other 39 97 - 3 1,412 456 - 3 - 

           
Total  139,396 33,555 - 494,088  24,102 26,099 - 3 7,778 
 
Note 1 -  dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵƐ�ŵĂũŽƌŝƚǇ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞŝƌ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŽŵĞƐƚŝĐ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ��ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ A.S. which is an export intermediary company established for this purpose. For US operations, ANSAC performs the same 

function for export sales. 
Note 2 -  �ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ��ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ�7ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�'ĞŶĞů�DƺĚƺƌůƺŒƺ�ƐƚŝƉƵůĂƚĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ŝƐ�ƚŽ�pay royalty fee of USD6.1 million or the amount greater than 6% of freight expenses deducted from revenue amount on an annual basis. 
Note 3 -  Long-term non-trade receivables amounting USD76.6 million is due to the financing purposes transactions made with WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ͘�/ƚ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĞ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ŝŶƚĞŶƚŝŽŶ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚŝƐ�ƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞ�ǁŝůů�ŶŽƚ�ďĞ�ĐŽůůĞĐƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ůĞƐƐ�ƚŚĂŶ�ŽŶĞ�ǇĞĂƌ͘  
Note 4 -  Interest bearing 
Note 5 -  The existing non-trade receivable of the Company from Park Holding as of 31 December 2018, is novated to Kew Soda Ltd and Akkan Enerji respectively with the same terms for the simplification purpose of intergroup transactions between 

Akkan Group and rest of the Ciner Group companies. 

Receivables and payables from/to related parties are unsecured and are repayable on demand. 
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Year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services: 

 Receivables   Payables 

 
Current Non-current 

 

Current Non-current 
Order 

Advances 
Received 

As at 31 December 2020 Trade Non trade Trade Non trade Trade Non trade Trade Non trade Short term 
Parent company:          
Akkan Enerji MadensĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘ - - - 415,965 

 

- - - - - 
Other related parties:          
American Natural Soda Ash Corporation1 41,948 - - - 183 - - - - 
�ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘1 99,970 16,365 - - 77 7,089 - - 42,971 
�ĞŶŵĂƌ��ĞƉŽĐƵůƵŬ�EĂŬůŝǇĂƚ��͘b͘ - - - - 2,091 - - - - 
�ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ�7ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�'ĞŶĞů�DƺĚƺƌůƺŒƺ2 

- - - - 
34,20

2 26,163 - - - 
Mineral Minings Commodity Trading LLC - 1,244 - -  - 8,264 - - - 
WĂƌŬ��Ăŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ 9,016 - - -  

 
- - - - - 

WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ��͘b͘ 3, 4,5 - 224,856 - 110,174 1,064 4,559 24,929 - - 
WĂƌŬ�dĞŬŶŝŬ��ůĞŬƚƌŝŬ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ�dƵƌŝǌŵ�^ĂŶĂǇŝ�ǀĞ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ��͘b͘ - - - -  770 312 - 304 - 
Other 398 371 - 4 

 

1,079 - - - - 
Total 

151,332 242,836 - 526,143 
39,46

6 46,387 24,929 304 42,971 
 
Note 1 -  dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ�ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵƐ�ŵĂũŽƌŝƚǇ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞŝƌ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŽŵĞƐƚŝĐ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ��ŝŶĞƌ�7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ A.S. which is an export intermediary company established for this purpose. For US operations, ANSAC performs the same 

function for export sales. 
Note 2 -  �ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ��ƚŝ�DĂĚĞŶ�7ƔůĞƚŵĞůĞƌŝ�'ĞŶĞů�DƺĚƺƌůƺŒƺ�ƐƚŝƉƵůĂƚĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ŝƐ�ƚŽ�pay royalty fee of USD6.1 million or the amount greater than 6% of freight expenses deducted from revenue amount on an annual basis. 
Note 3 -  Long-term non-trade receivables amounting USD110.2 million is due to the financing purposes transactions made witŚ�WĂƌŬ�,ŽůĚŝŶŐ͘�/ƚ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĞ�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ŝŶƚĞŶƚŝŽŶ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚŝƐ�ƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞ�ǁŝůů�ŶŽƚ�ďĞ�ĐŽůůĞĐƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ůĞƐƐ�ƚŚĂŶ�ŽŶĞ�ǇĞĂƌ͘  
Note 4 -  Interest bearing 
Note 5 -  As of 31 December 2020, the Group was not in compliance with certain clauses of loan agreement related with transactions with its affiliates due to certain transfers and loans from the Group to its affiliates. Short-term non-trade receivables 

amounting USD224.9 million represents such transfers and fully collected until 8 June 2021 and a waiver granted on 18 June 2021 to waive of all defaults, breaches, and events of default, which occurred or may have occurred due to this affiliate 
transaction. 

 

Receivables and payables from/to related parties are unsecured and are repayable on demand. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has no payable (2020: USD0.6 million) for services provided, to a company that a director has interest in. 
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Compensation and transactions with key management personnel 

Key management personnel are considered to comprise only the Directors. The compensation of Directors 
of the Group may be analysed as such: 

 2021  2020 
 Directors  Highest paid 

director  
 Directors  Highest paid 

director  
Short term employee benefits - Salary 4,815 1,654  3,554 1,666 
Short term employee benefits - Health insurance 14 2  6 2 
 4,829 1,656  3,560 1,668 
      
Post employment benefits - Benefits under money purchase 
schemes  178 

-  71 2 

Aggregate emoluments 5,007 1,656  3,631 1,670 
      

Sums paid to third ƉĂƌƚŝĞƐ�ĨŽƌ�ĚŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ͛�ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ 32 -  559 - 
 

The Directors are not entitled to participate in any defined benefit pension schemes or granted any long-term 
benefits.  

36. Commitments 

Guarantee letters given 

As at 31 December 2021, subsidiaries of the Group had provided bank guarantee letters to the value of USD12.5 
million (2020: USD16.3 million) mainly in respect of its financial borrowings from Export Credit Bank of Turkey and 
purchases from vendors. 

Pledged assets 

Property, plant and equipment assets with a net book value amounting USD586.7 million (2020: USD736.8 million) 
ǁĂƐ�ƉůĞĚŐĞĚ�ƵƐŝŶŐ��ŽŵŵĞƌĐŝĂů��ŶƚĞƌƉƌŝƐĞ�WůĞĚŐĞƐ�;͞��W͟Ϳ�ŝŶ�ĂĐĐŽƌĚĂŶĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ůŽĐĂů�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƌĞŐƵůĂƚŝŽŶ͘ 

CEP is form of security that allows banks and financial institutions to create a pledge on all movable assets and 
certain intangible rights of a borrower without receiving the possession of the pledged asset, and with the 
possibility of the borrower continuing its business operations by using the pledged assets. 

Guarantee letters received  

As at 31 December 2021, subsidiaries of the Group, Eti Soda and Kazan Soda, had received bank guarantee letters 
to the value of USD4.4 million (2020: USD2.8 million) as a guarantee from third parties. 

Firm commitments 

dŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ�ůĞĂƐĞƐ�ƚƌŽŶĂ�ŵŝŶŝŶŐ�ƌŝŐŚƚƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĞŝƚŚĞƌ�ůŽĐĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞ�Žƌ�ƉƌŝǀĂƚĞ�ĞŶƚŝƚŝĞƐ͘��ůů�ŽĨ�ƐĂŝĚ�
lease agreements stipulates for a royalty to be paid by the lessees to the lessors based upon production volume 
generated from the trona mines. For Eti Soda, this royalty clause also includes a minimum threshold of USD6.180 
million per year of royalty, regardless of production volume generated. 

Ciner Wyoming LLC, entered into 10 years rail yard switching and maintenance agreement with a third party, 
tĂƚĐŽ��ŽŵƉĂŶŝĞƐ͕� >>�� ;͞tĂƚĐŽ͟Ϳ͕� ŽŶ� ϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϭϭ͘�hŶĚĞƌ� ƚŚĞ� ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͕�tĂƚĐŽ� ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƐ� ƌĂŝů-switching 
ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ�Ăƚ��ŝŶĞƌ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ�>>�͛Ɛ�ƌĂŝů�ǇĂƌĚ͘��ŝŶĞƌ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ�>>�͛Ɛ�ƌĂŝů�ǇĂƌĚ�ŝƐ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚĞĚ�ŽŶ�ůĂŶĚ�ůĞĂƐĞĚ�ďǇ�tĂƚĐŽ�
from Rock Springs Grazing Association and Anadarko Land Corp; the Rock Springs Grazing Association land lease 
is renewable every 5 years for a total period of 30 years, while the Anadarko Land Corp. lease is perpetual. Ciner 
Wyoming LLC has an option agreement with Watco to assign these leases to Ciner Wyoming LLC at any time during 
the land lease term. 
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Ciner Wyoming LLC entered into two track lease agreements, collectively, not to exceed 10 years with Union Pacific 
Company for certain rail track used in connection with the rail yard. 

Ciner Resources Corporation, another US subsidiary of the Group, has lease contracts with various lessors for rail 
cars to transport product to customer locations and warehouses. Rail car leases under these contractual 
commitments range for periods from 1 to 10 years. 

Ciner Wyoming LLC has a self-ďŽŶĚ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�tǇŽŵŝŶŐ��ĞƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ��ŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚĂů�YƵĂůŝƚǇ�;͞t��Y͟Ϳ�
under which the subsidiary commits to pay directly for reclamation costs at our Green River, Wyoming plant site. 
The amount of the bond was USD36.2 million as of 31 December 2020. In May 2019, the State of Wyoming enacted 
ůĞŐŝƐůĂƚŝŽŶ�ƚŚĂƚ�ůŝŵŝƚƐ�ŽƵƌ�ĂŶĚ�ŽƚŚĞƌ�ŵŝŶĞ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŽƌƐ͛�ĂďŝůŝƚǇ�ƚŽ�ƐĞůĨ-bond, which would require the subsidiary to 
seek other acceptable financial instruments to provide additional assurances for our reclamation obligations by 
November 2020. After the subsidiary secured the Surety Bond, the previous Self-Bond Agreement was terminated. 
As of the date of this report, the impact on our net income and liquidity due to securing the Surety Bond has been 
immaterial and we anticipate that to continue to be the case. The amount of such assurances that we are required 
to provide is subject to change upon periodic re-ĞǀĂůƵĂƚŝŽŶ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ�t��Y͛Ɛ�>ĂŶĚ�YƵĂůŝƚǇ��ŝǀŝƐŝŽŶ͘��Ɛ�Ă�ƌĞƐƵůƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�
most recent such periodic re-evaluation, the Surety Bond amount was increased to USD41.8million effective 
March 1, 2021. 

Yet as of the date of this Report, the subsidiary anticipates that any such impact on our net income and liquidity 
will be limited. The amount of such surety guarantee is subject to change upon periodic re-evaluation by the 
t��Y͛Ɛ�>ĂŶĚ�YƵĂůŝƚǇ��ŝǀŝƐŝŽŶ͘ 

37. Dividends 

During 2021 no ordinary dividends were declared and paid (2020: USD nil). The Directors do not recommend the 
payment of any further final dividend for the year (2020: USD nil).  

Ciner Enterprises and subsidiaries, collectively subsidiaries of the Group, has paid a total of USD29.8 million (2020: 
USD42.7 million) of which USD13.0 million (2020: USD17.7 million) of dividends for the year to be paid to its non-
controlling interest. The remainder of USD16.8 million (2020: USD25.0 million) was paid to other Group companies 
and therefore eliminated on consolidation. 

38. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

dŚĞ�ƚĂďůĞ�ďĞůŽǁ�ĚĞƚĂŝůƐ�ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂƌŝƐŝŶŐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͕�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�ďŽƚŚ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĂŶĚ�
non- cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
ĨůŽǁƐ�ǁŝůů�ďĞ͕�ĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĨůŽǁƐ�ĂƐ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĨůŽǁƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͘ 

  
 Note 

As at 1 
January 2021 

Financing 
cash flows1 

Foreign 
Currency 

Differences 
Other 

changes2 

As at 31 
December 

2021 
       

Borrowings 26 2,482,001 (584,295) 367,652 (454,044) 1,811,314 
Lease liabilities 39 38,287 (16,926) 3,388 (8,807) 15,942 
Other payables 27 52,544 (100,762) (19) 75,120 26,883 
Derivative financial 
instruments 

28 
2,163 - - (2,163) - 

Total liabilities  2,574,995 (701,983) 371,021 (389,894) 1,854,139 

Note 1-  The cash flows from bank loans, loans from related parties and other borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings 

in the statement of cash flows. 

Note 2-  Other changes include provisions, accruals and payments. 
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 Notes 

As at 1 
January 2020 

Financing 
cash flows1 

Foreign 
Currency 

Differences 
Other 

changes2 

As at 31 
December 

2020 
       

Borrowings 24 2,444,951 (173,801) 292,355 (81,504) 2,482,001 
Lease liabilities 36 46,460 (17,720) 3,975 5,572 38,287 
Other payables 25 46,901 (31,458) (45) 37,146 52,544 
Derivative financial 
instruments 

28 
6,171 - - (4,008) 2,163 

Total liabilities  2,544,483 (222,979) 296,285 (42,794) 2,574,995 

Note 1-  The cash flows from bank loans, loans from related parties and other borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings 

in the statement of cash flows. 

Note 2-  Other changes include provisions, accruals and payments. 

 

39. Lease liabilities and right of use of assets 

In the previous year, the Group has applied IFRS 16 Leases that is effective for annual periods that begin on or 
after 1 January 2019. The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group is 1 January 2019, by using the 
cumulative catch-up approach. 

a) Right of use of assets 

 
2021 - Right of use assets Buildings Vehicles Rail Car Total 
      
Cost:     

At 1 January 2021 3,029 961 41,240 45,230 
Additions  6,418 1,276 5,139 12,833 
Expiration - - (4,867) (4,867) 
Acquisition of the subsidiary 3,210 - - 3,210 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see 
Note 5 (1,786) (339) (41,512) (43,637) 
Presentation currency translation effect  (7) (693) - (700) 

At 31 December 2021 10,864 1,205 - 12,069 
      
Amortisation:     

At 1 January 2021  (925) (672) (17,471) (19,068) 
Charge for the year (795) (579) (9,839) (11,213) 
Expiration - - 4,867 4,867 
Disposal of Sisecam Chemicals Resources on 21 December 2021 ʹ see 
Note 5 798 46 22,443 23,287 
Presentation currency translation effect  2 453 - 455 

At 31 December 2021 (920) (752) - (1,672) 
     
Carrying Amount as of 31 December 2021 9,944 453 - 10,397 
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2020 - Right of use assets Buildings Vehicles Rail Car Total 
      

Cost:     
At 1 January 2020 1,210 900 39,200 41,310 
Additions  1,823 252 6,626 8,701 
Expiration - - (4,586) (4,586) 
Presentation currency translation effect  (4) (191) - (195) 
At 31 December 2020 3,029 961 41,240 45,230 

      
Accumulated depreciation:     

At 1 January 2020  (292) (414) (11,950) (12,656) 
Expiration - - 4,586 4,586 
Charge for the year (634) (353) (10,107) (11,094) 
Presentation currency translation effect  1 95 - 96 
At 31 December 2020 (925) (672) (17,471) (19,068) 

     
Carrying Amount as of 31 December 2020 2,104 289 23,769 26,162 

b) Lease liabilities  

Lease liabilities may be analysed as such: 

  2021 2020 
Analysed as:   
Non-current1 10,543 22,649 
Current2 5,399 15,638 
Total  15,942 38,287 
 
Note 1-  Includes: USD7.5 million (2020: USD5.5 million) of finance lease arrangements related to property, plant and equipment and USD3.0 million (2020: USD17.1 

million) of other lease arrangements related to buildings, vehicles and rail car leases. 
Note 2-  Includes: USD4.3 million (2020: USD5.7 million) of finance lease arrangements related to property, plant and equipment and USD1.0 million (2020: USD9.9 

million) of other lease arrangements related to buildings, vehicles and rail car leases. 

Interest rates are fixed at the contract date. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have 
been entered into for contingent rental payments. 

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored 
ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐĞ�ĂŶĚ�ƚƌĞĂƐƵƌǇ�ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶƐ͘ 

40. Post balance sheet events 

Original Facilities Agreement & New Senior Facilities Agreement  

KŶ�ϭϰ�&ĞďƌƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ�;ƚŚĞ�͞�ůŽƐŝŶŐ��ĂƚĞ͟Ϳ͕�ƚŚĞ�KƌŝŐŝŶĂů�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ��ŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ�ǁĂƐ�ƌĞƐĐŝŶĚĞĚ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƉůĂĐĞĚ�ďǇ�ƚŚĞ�
Senior Facilities Agreement dated 10 February 2022. In particular, the Original Facilities were refinanced with a 
senior secured amortising term loan facility, split into a euro denominated tranche of an aggregate principal 
ĂŵŽƵŶƚ�ŽĨ�ΦϳϴϮ͘ϰ�ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�ĂŶĚ�Ă�h^�ĚŽůůĂƌ-denominated tranche of an aggregate principal amount of USD270.3 
ŵŝůůŝŽŶ�;ƚŽŐĞƚŚĞƌ͕�ƚŚĞ�͞dĞƌŵ�&ĂĐŝůŝƚŝĞƐ͟Ϳ͘� 

Under the Senior Facilities Agreement, quarterly principal repayment amounts range from 1.25% ʹ 2.5% as further 
detailed in the Senior Facilities Agreement, interest payments are due quarterly and any remaining aggregate 
outstanding principal amount will be repaid on termination or the maturity date, which is 54 months later than 
Closing Date.  

With the refinancing, the outstanding principal borrowing amount of USD1,155 million as of 31 December 2021 
under the Original Facilities was partially discharged and reduced to USD 1,113 million as of 31 March 2022. 
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New subsidiary - Soda World Ltd 

dŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ƚƌĂŶƐĨĞƌƌĞĚ�^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ�>ƚĚ�;͚^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ͟Ϳ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŽŶ�Ϯϭ�:ĂŶƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�ĂŶĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�ƐƵĐŚ�ĚĂƚĞ�
^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ�ŝƐ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĂƐ�Ă�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌǇ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ͘�^ŽĚĂ�tŽƌůĚ�ǁŝůů�ďĞ�ƚŚe direct contracting party 
ǁŝƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐƵƐƚŽŵĞƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĞ�ĚŝƌĞĐƚ�ŚŽůĚĞƌ�ŽĨ�ĐĞƌƚĂŝŶ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ƌĞĐĞŝǀĂďůĞƐ�ĨƌŽŵ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ͘ 

EĞǁ�ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�ƚƌĂĚĞ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶǇ�;͞&d�͟Ϳ 

dŚĞ��ŝŶĞƌ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ŚĂƐ�ŝŶĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞĚ�t��7ĕ�ǀĞ��ŦƔ�dŝĐĂƌĞƚ �͘b͘�;͞t/�d͟Ϳ�ŝŶ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ǁĂƐ�ƚƌĂŶƐĨĞƌƌĞĚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�
ƚŽ�ďĞĐŽŵĞ�Ă�ǁŚŽůůǇ�ŽǁŶĞĚ�ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌǇ�ŽŶ�Ϯϰ�DĂƌĐŚ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�ĂŶĚ�ǁŝůů�ĂĐƚ�ĂƐ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐŽůĞ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ŝŶƚĞƌŵĞĚŝĂƌǇ�ĂŶĚ�
ƌĞŐŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ�&ŽƌĞŝŐŶ�dƌĂĚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ�;͞&d�͟Ϳ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆƉŽƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƉƌŽĚƵĐƚƐ�ĨƌŽŵ�dƵƌŬĞǇ͕�ƌĞƉlicating the cash flow and 
s�d�ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐŝŶŐ�ďĞŶĞĨŝƚƐ�ŽĨ��/�d͘�/ƚ�ŝƐ�ŝŶƚĞŶĚĞĚ�ƚŚĂƚ�t/�d�ǁŝůů�ŐƌĂĚƵĂůůǇ�ƚĂŬĞ�ŽǀĞƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƌŽůĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�&d��ŝŶ�
Turkey by 2023 year end, replacing CIDT and exporting products on behalf of Kazan Soda and Eti Soda to Soda 
World pƵƌƐƵĂŶƚ�ƚŽ�Ă�ƌĞƐĂůĞ�ĂŐƌĞĞŵĞŶƚ͘�hŶĚĞƌ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ƌĞŐƵůĂƚŝŽŶƐ͕�t/�d͛Ɛ�ĂƉƉůŝĐĂƚŝŽŶ�ƚŽ�ďĞĐŽŵĞ�ĂŶ�&d��ĐĂŶ�ŽŶůǇ�
be submitted when specific trading thresholds have been met (in excess of USD100 million of export sales in a 
calendar year). Once registered with the relevant Turkish authorities, the Group expects that WIDT will be granted 
FTC status during March 2023. 

Change in corporate taxation 

Standard corporation tax rate is 20% in Turkey. However, the Turkish corporation tax rate is currently set at 23% 
for income derived by corporations in the 2022 fiscal year. 

KŶ�ϮϮ�:ĂŶƵĂƌǇ�ϮϬϮϮ͕�>Ăǁ�EŽ͘�ϳϯϱϭ�;͞ƚŚĞ�>Ăǁ͟Ϳ�ǁĂƐ�ƉƵďůŝƐŚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�KĨĨŝĐŝĂů�'ĂǌĞƚƚĞ�ĂŶĚ�ĞŶƚĞƌĞĚ�ŝŶƚŽ�ĨŽƌĐĞ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�
date of publication. The Law sets forth a one point decrease in the corporation tax rate on the specified income of 
the following corporations: 

ͻ On the corporation income exclusively derived from export transactions by corporations that perform 
exportation, 

ͻ On the corporation income exclusively derived from manufacturing activities by corporations that have an 
industrial registry certificate and actually perform manufacturing activities. 

Accordingly, the corporation tax rate will be applied as 22% for the above-mentioned corporations for FY 2022. 
Starting from 2023, unless any changes occur in the legislation, the Turkish corporation tax rate will be imposed 
at 19% for the above-mentioned corporations. Since Kazan Soda and Eti Soda fulfils both of the aforementioned 
requirements, the Turkish corporation tax rate will be used by them will decrease by 1% commencing from 1 
January 2022. 

Redenomination of new senior facilities agreement 

KŶ�ϱ�DĂǇ�ϮϬϮϮ�͕�ŝŶ�ĂĐĐŽƌĚĂŶĐĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƉĂƌĂŐƌĂƉŚ�;ĂͿ;ŝǀͿ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĚĞĨŝŶŝƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�͞^ƚƌƵĐƚƵƌĂů��ĚũƵƐƚŵĞŶƚ͟�ĂŶĚ�ƉĂƌĂŐƌĂƉŚ�
(a) of Clause 41.4 (Other exceptions) of the Senior Facilities Agreement, EUR 180,301,402 portion of Senior 
Facilities Agreement redenominated from Euro into US Dollars in equivalent of USD 191,101,456. 

Change in the functional currency of Turkish subsidiaries 

�Ɛ�ĚĞƚĂŝůĞĚ�ŝŶ�EŽƚĞ�ϰ͕�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŶŐ�ĞŶƚŝƚŝĞƐ͕��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ͕�ĐŽŶƐŝĚĞƌĞĚ�ƚŚĞ�dƵƌŬŝƐŚ�>ŝƌĂ�
as their functional currency for all years presented.  

Towards the end of 2021, Turkey experienced unexpected fluctuations with respect to macro-economic indicators 
and the government took certain measures in order to control such fluctuations. However, after year-end 2021, 
despite the measures taken, there have been material changes affecting the economic environment in Turkey. As 
required under IAS 21, the Group has evaluated such changes as a triggering event for a reassessment of the 
functional currency of all subsidiaries which currently have Turkish Lira as their functional currency. 
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The determination of the functional currency requires management to make numerous judgments. As a result of 
ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ƌĞǀŝĞǁ�ĂŶĚ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ŽĨ��ƚŝ�^ŽĚĂ�ĂŶĚ�<ĂǌĂŶ�^ŽĚĂ͕�ŝƚ�ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�ĐŽŶĐůƵĚĞĚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�h^�ĚŽůůĂƌ�ŝƐ�ƚŚĞ�
currency that most accurately represents the economic effects of ďŽƚŚ�ĞŶƚŝƚŝĞƐ͘�DĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ǁĂƐ�ďĂƐĞĚ�
on the following considerations:  

ͻ Factors that determined the functional currency were always mixed, with revenues predominantly 
influenced by mainly US dollar denominated international markets and costs by both international and local 
Turkish Lira denominated factors. 

ͻ In the last year, the exchange rate of the Turkish Lira has been severely affected by devaluation against hard 
currencies, and the US dollar in particular. This has had a very limited impact ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƉƌŝĐĞƐ�ďƵƚ�
it has affected costs. The relative proportion (by value) of locally incurred input costs denominated in Turkish 
Lira, such as labour, compared to US dollar influenced input costs, such as natural gas, has decreased 
significantly mainly because the price of natural gas, which is imported and which price is ultimately set with 
reference to US dollars, has increased significantly during 2022 and in particular, following the notification 
of significant price increases on 31 March 2022. 

ͻ �Ɛ�ƉĂƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ͕�ůĞƐƐ�ĨƵŶĐƚŝŽŶĂů�ĂŶĚ�ŐŽǀĞƌŶĂŶĐĞ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽů�ŝƐ�ďĞŝŶŐ�ůĞĚ�ĨƌŽŵ�dƵƌŬĞǇ�
and new internal reporting initiatives are in US dollars.  

While indicators are still mixed, it is the judgement of Management that the functional currency for Eti Soda and 
Kazan Soda has now shifted towards the US dollar, because the majority of our decisions and those of our largest 
suppliers are principally based on the US dollar as the underlying currency. This change will be applied 
prospectively from 1 April 2022 and will not affect the balances as of 31 December 2021, nor results or cash flows 
for the year then ended. The figures for Eti Soda and Kazan Soda as of 30 June 2022 will be restated to US dollars 
in accordance with IAS 21. 

END OF NOTES 
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  Note 2021 2020 
Continuing operations    
Administrative expenses E (66) (24) 
Other operating income  82 - 
     
(Loss)/ profit from operations before financial expense  16 (24) 
Financial income G 48,334 50,882 
Financial expense G (48,617) (50,678) 
(Loss)/ profit before tax  (267) 180 
    
Tax F - - 
     
Profit/(loss) for the financial year and total comprehensive (expense)/ income  (267) 180 

The notes on pages 107 to 114 form part of these parent company financial statements. 
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  Note 2021 2020 
Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents J 3 3 
Total current assets  3 3 
Non-current assets    
Investments H 1,666,806 1,535,768 
Other receivables I 254,858 415,965 
Total non-current assets  1,921,664 1,951,733 
    
Total assets  1,921,667 1,951,736 

    
Current liabilities    
Trade payables K 3,114 - 
Total current liabilities  3,114 - 

    
Non-current liabilities    
Other payables K 251,810 415,764 
Total non-current liabilities  251,810 415,764 
    
Total liabilities  254,924 415,764 
    
Net assets  1,666,743 1,535,972 
    
    
Equity    
Paid in capital L 153,702 153,702 
Share premium L 1,382,131 1,382,131 
Contribution in kind  131,038 - 
Retained earnings / (accumulated losses)  139 (41) 
Net profit for the year  (267) 180 
Total equity  1,666,743 1,535,972 

The notes on pages 107 to 114 form part of these parent company financial statements. 
 
The financial statements on pages 103 to 114 were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 May 2022 and signed on 
its behalf by 
 
 
 
Ahmet Tohma   DĞŚŵĞƚ��ůŝ��ƌĚŽŒĂŶ  
Director   Director  
30 May 2022   30 May 2022  
 
Company Number 10260126
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  Notes 
Share 

capital  
Share 

premium  

Capital 
contribution 

in kind1 

(Accumulated 
losses) / 
retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity  

       
At 1 January 2020  153,702 1,382,131 - (41) 1,535,792 
       
Profit for the year  - - - 180 180 
Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - 180 180 
       
At 31 December 2020  153,702 1,382,131 - 139 1,535,972 
       
Acquisition of the subsidiary       L - - 131,038 - 131,038 
Loss for the year  - - - (267) (267) 
Total comprehensive expense for the year  - - - (267) (267) 
       
At 31 December 2021  153,702 1,382,131 131,038 (128) 1,666,743 

 
Note 1 - Since KEW Soda Ltd. acquired more than 90% of the shares in a company (TC Soda) by issuing its own shares in return, as required by 
the Companies Act, 2006, the difference between the USD131.0 million fair value of TC Soda and the nominal value of the shares issued by KEW 
Soda Ltd. has been credited ƚŽ�ĞƋƵŝƚǇ�ƵŶĚĞƌ�͞�ĂƉŝƚĂů�ĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƚŝŽŶ�ŝŶ�ŬŝŶĚ͘͟ 
 
 
The notes on pages 107 to 114 part of these parent company financial statements. 
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 Note 2021 2020 
Cash flow from operating activities    
(Loss) / profit after tax  (267) 180 
Operating cash flow prior to movement in working capital  (267) 180 
Adjustments for:    
Interest income  (15,255) (14,834) 
Interest expense  15,388 14,641 
Movement in trade payables  3,194 - 
Net foreign exchange gain / (loss)  68 (11) 
Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities  3,128 (24) 

    
Investing activities    
Cash inflow from loans to group companies  143,134 2,304 
Cash outflow from loans to group companies  (146,262) (2,280) 
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities  (3,128) 24 

    
Financing activities    
Cash flows in respect of borrowings from group companies  - - 
Net cash used in financing activities  - - 

    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  3 3 
Effect of foreign exchange rate change  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  3 3 

 

The notes on pages 107 to 114 form part of these parent company financial statements. 
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A. General information 

The separate financial statements of the Parent Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 
(the Act). As permitted by the Act, the separate financial statements of the Parent Company have been prepared 
in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

dŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ĂƌĞ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�<Ğǁ�^ŽĚĂ�>ƚĚ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ĨŽƌ�
the year ended 31 December 2021. 

WůĞĂƐĞ�ƌĞĨĞƌ� ƚŽ��ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ͛� ƌĞƉŽƌƚ� ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ�ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ� ĨŽƌ� ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƚŝŽŶ�ŽŶ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�
ĚŽŵŝĐŝůĞ͕�ůĞŐĂů�ĨŽƌŵ͕�ĐŽƵŶƚƌǇ�ŽĨ�ŝŶĐŽƌƉŽƌĂƚŝŽŶ͕�ĚĞƐĐƌŝƉƚŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ŶĂƚƵƌĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĞŶƚŝƚǇ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂŶĚ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�
activities. 

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is the US Dollar. See Note 2.16 Foreign currencies in the 
'ƌŽƵƉ� ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ� ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů� ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ� ĨŽƌ� ĨƵƌƚŚĞƌ� ĞǆƉůĂŶĂƚŝŽŶ� ŽŶ� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ƚƌĞĂƚŵĞŶƚ� ŽĨ� ĨŽƌĞŝŐŶ�
currencies. 

The financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on 
the going concern basis, as the Directors have determined that the Company has sufficient resources and liquidity 
to continue in operational existence and to meet its liabilities as they fall due at least 12 months from the date of 
ĂƉƉƌŽǀĂů�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ͘�dŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ŐŽŝŶŐ�ĐŽŶĐĞƌŶ�ĂƐƐƵŵƉƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĞǀĂůƵĂƚŝŽŶƐ�ĐŽƵůĚ�ďĞ�ĨŽƵŶĚ�
in Note 2.2Basis of preparation / Going Concern. 

B. Significant accounting policies 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Details of significant accounting policies 
and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which the 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in the Group consolidated financial statements, Note 2 Significant accounting policies. 

See Note 2.32 Critical accounting judgements and key source of estimation uncertainty in the Group consolidated 
financial statements for the critical judgements in applying accounting policies and key source of estimation 
uncertainty applied by the Company in preparation of the financial statements. In addition to the disclosures in 
Note 2.32 Critical accounting judgements and key source of estimation uncertainty, the Company is required to 
apply certain judgements and utilised estimates in relation to the valuation of its investments discussed below. 

Investments 
Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed for impairment where events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of the investment may not be recoverable. The unit of account being the equity of the 
subsidiary taken as a whole, which may comprise interests in multiple cash-generating units. If any such indication 
exists, the Company makes an assessment of the recoverable amount. If the asset is determined to be impaired, 
an impairment loss will be recorded, and the asset written down based on the amount by which the asset carrying 
amount exceeds the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. Any impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the income statement. 

Financial instruments 
See Note 2.27 Financial instruments in the Group consolidated financial statements for the initial application of 
Financial Instruments (as revised in 2017) and Leases. 

C. �ŵƉůŽǇĞĞ�ŶƵŵďĞƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ͛�ƌĞŵƵŶĞƌĂƚŝŽŶ 

The Company had no employees during the year (2020: none). The Director did not receive any remuneration in 
the year for qualifying services to the Company. 
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D. Financial risk management 

&Ƶůů�ĚĞƚĂŝůƐ�ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ƌŝƐŬ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ�ĂƌĞ� ƐŚŽǁŶ� ŝŶ�EŽƚĞ�4 Financial risk management to the Group 
consolidated financial statements. 

a) Capital risk management 

See Note 4 Financial risk management to the Group consolidated financial statements for how the Company 
manages its capital. 

b) Fair value categories 

As at 31 December 2021 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial assets 
that are 

measured at 
FVTPL 

Financial liabilities 
that are measured 

at FVTPL 
Carrying 

value 
      

Financial assets      
Financial investments  - 1,666,806 - - 1,666,806 
Other receivables from related parties - 254,858 - - 254,858 
Cash and bank balances - 3 - - 3 
 - 1,921,667 - - 1,921,667 
      
Financial liabilities      
Other payables to related parties 251,810 - - - 251,810 
Trade payables 3,114 - - - 3,114 
  254,924 - - - 254,924 

 

As at 31 December 2020 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial assets 
that are 

measured at 
FVTPL 

Financial liabilities 
that are measured 

at FVTPL 
Carrying 

value 
      

Financial assets      
Financial investments  - 1,535,768 - - 1,535,768 
Other receivables from related parties - 415,965 - - 415,965 
Cash and bank balances - 3 - - 3 
 - 1,951,736 - - 1,951,736 
      
Financial liabilities      
Other payables to related parties 415,789 - - - 415,764 
  415,789 - - - 415,764 

 
Financial assets and liabilities exclude tax receivables and payables as they do not constitute a contractual right or 
obligation to receive or pay cash or another financial asset. 

There were no reclassifications of financial assets during the year. 

 
  



Kew Soda Ltd 
Notes to the Parent Financial Statements (continued) 
(tabular amounts in thousands of US dollars, except where noted) 
 

Page 109 

භ Financial risk management 

The primary financial instruments of the Company consist of bank loans, cash and short-term time deposits. 
dŚĞ�ŵĂŝŶ�ŽďũĞĐƚŝǀĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ŵĞŶƚŝŽŶĞĚ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ŝŶƐƚƌƵŵĞŶƚƐ�ŝƐ�ƚŽ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐĞ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ŽƉĞƌĂƚŝŽŶĂů�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͘�
The Company, as part of the Akkan Enerjŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘�'ƌŽƵƉ͕�ŵŽŶŝƚŽƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞƐ�ŝƚƐ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƌŝƐŬƐ�
relating to operations through an internal Group risk register. In respect of the Company, these are foreign 
exchange, interest rate, credit and liquidity risks. 

Foreign exchange risk 
The Company operates in the United Kingdom, with the US Dollar as its functional currency. The Company 
undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence, exposures to exchange rate 
fluctuations arise. The Company maintains cash balances in UK Pounds Sterling which are used to fund the 
corporate London office and Euro which are used to repay the loan facility.  

As at the reporting date, the Company has monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in US Dollar, 
British Sterling and Euro. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in market 
interest rates. 

The Company borrows fund at both fixed and variable interest rates, so the Company is exposed to interest 
rate risk. The Company manages this risk by balancing the repricing terms of interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities with fixed/floating interest and short-long term nature of borrowings as well as using derivative 
instruments where necessary for hedging purposes. 

Interest rates of financial assets and liabilities are indicated in related notes. 

Interest rate sensitivity: 

/Ĩ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ƌĂƚĞƐ�ŚĂĚ�ďĞĞŶ�ϱ�ďĂƐŝƐ�ƉŽŝŶƚƐ�ŚŝŐŚĞƌͬůŽǁĞƌ�ĂŶĚ�Ăůů�ŽƚŚĞƌ�ǀĂƌŝĂďůĞƐ�ǁĞƌĞ�ŚĞůĚ�ĐŽŶƐƚĂŶƚ͕�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�
profit before taxes and equity of the Company would increase/decrease by USD6,600 (2020: (USD101). 5 basis 
ƉŽŝŶƚƐ� ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚƐ�ŵĂŶĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͛Ɛ� ĂƐƐĞƐƐŵĞŶƚ� ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ� ƉŽƐƐŝďůĞ� ĐŚĂŶŐĞ� ŝŶ� ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ� ƌĂƚĞƐ� ƚŚĂƚ� ĐŽƵůĚ� ĂƉƉůǇ� ƚŽ� ƚŚĞ�
Company. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will fail to fulfil its obligations to pay, resulting in a financial loss 
to the Company. At the reporting date, this included amount owed by the immediate parent company of USD251.8 
million (2020: USD416.0 million), which is repayable on demand. The directors expects that the carrying value of 
the amounts owed by the immediate parent to be fully recoverable based on analysis of the expected future cash 
flows to be generated and resultant dividends. This analysis takes account of relevant and reliable internal and 
external forward-looking information, incorporating economic forecasts in relation to the soda ash business.  

dŚĞ�ĐĂƌƌǇŝŶŐ�ǀĂůƵĞ�ŽĨ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ƌĞĐŽƌĚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĞĚ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ŵĂǆŝŵƵŵ�
exposure to credit risk at the year-end without taking into account any collateral received. 
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Liquidity risk 
dŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͕�ĂƐ�ƉĂƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ��ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘�'ƌŽƵƉ͕�ŵĂŶĂŐĞƐ�ŝƚƐ�ůŝƋƵŝĚŝƚǇ�ƌŝƐŬ�ŝŶ�ůŝŶĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�<Ğǁ�^ŽĚĂ 
Ltd Group strategy to ensure that the Company is adequately funded by means of intra-group funding to meet its 
forecast short, medium and long-term commitments. 

dŚĞ� ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ� ƚĂďůĞƐ� ĚĞƚĂŝů� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ƌĞŵĂŝŶŝŶŐ� ĐŽŶƚƌĂĐƚƵĂů� ŵĂƚƵƌŝƚŝĞƐ� ĨŽƌ� ŝƚƐ� ŶŽŶ-derivative financial 
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 
the earliest date the Company was required to pay at the reporting date. 

As at 31 December 2021 Carrying value 
Total cash outflow 

according to contract 
Less than 1 

year 1-5 years 5+ Years 
Other payables to related parties 3,114 3,114 3,114 - - 
Other payables to related parties 251,810 251,810 - 251,810 - 
Total liabilities 254,924 254,924 3,114 251,810 - 

 

As at 31 December 2020 Carrying value 
Total cash outflow 

according to contract 
Less than 1 

year 1-5 years 5+ Years 
Other payables to related parties 415,764 415,764 - 415,764 - 
Total liabilities 415,764 415,764 - 415,764 - 

 

c) Fair value of financial instruments 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost 

The Management consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost 
in the financial statements approximate to their fair values. 

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

ͻ the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on 
active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and  

ͻ the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis 
using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

Fair value by hierarchy 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

ͻ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets and liabilities. 

ͻ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); and 

ͻ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset 
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  

�ůů�ŽĨ� ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ� ĨĂŝƌ�ǀĂůƵĞ� ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝĂů�ĂƐƐĞƚƐ�ĂŶĚ� ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂƌĞ�ĚĞĞŵĞĚ� ƚŽ�ďĞ�>ĞǀĞů�Ϯ͘�dŚĞƌĞ�ǁĞƌĞ�ŶŽ� ƚƌĂŶƐĨĞƌƐ�
between Level 1 and 2 during the year. 
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E. Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses comprise of USD66,000 (2020: USD24,000) of consultancy expenses. 

F. Tax 

There was no current or deferred tax charge for the year (2020: USD nil). The tax charge for the year can be 
reconciled to loss before tax per the statement of comprehensive income as follows: 

  2021 2020 
Profit before tax (267) 180 
Applicable rate of tax 19.00% 19.00% 
Tax at applicable rate (51) 34 
Tax effect of:   
- Previous year losses (8) (8) 
- Group relief 51 (34) 
- Current year losses 8 8 
Total income tax expense - - 
 

At 31 December 2021, the Company has unused tax losses of USD9,000 (2020: USD8,000). Deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised as there is no certainty that we can recover against future taxable profits. 

A group relief of USD51,000 was surrendered to subsidiary WE Soda Ltd in 2021, whilst in 2020, a group relief of 
USD34,000 was claimed from subsidiary WE Soda Ltd.  

The Finance (No 2) Act 2015, which provides the main rate of corporation tax of 19% effective from 1 April 2017 
and to 18% effective from 1 April 2020, was substantively enacted on 26 October 2015. Subsequently, the Finance 
Act receiving the Royal Assent on 28 July 2020 stipulates in section 5(1) that the Corporation Tax main rate for the 
financial year 2020 and 2021 to be 19%. These rates have been reflected in the calculation of deferred tax at the 
reporting date. In May 2021, as a result of the 2021 Budget, it was enacted that corporation tax rate on company 
ƉƌŽĨŝƚƐ�ĂďŽǀĞ�άϮϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ�ƚŽ�ƌŝƐĞ�ĨƌŽŵ�ϭϵй�ƚŽ�Ϯϱй�ŝŶ��Ɖƌŝů�ϮϬϮϯ͘ 

G. Financial income / (expense) 

Finance income comprises: 

  2021 2020 
Income:   
Interest income related to funding activities with related parties 15,255 14,834 
Foreign exchange gains 33,079 36,048 
  48,334 50,882 
Expenses:    
Interest expense related to funding activities with related parties (15,388) (14,641) 
Foreign exchange losses (33,229) (36,037) 
  (48,617) (50,678) 
  (283) 204 

 

  



Kew Soda Ltd 
Notes to the Parent Financial Statements (continued) 
(tabular amounts in thousands of US dollars, except where noted) 
 

Page 112 

H. Investments 
  2021 2020 
At 1 January 1,535,768 1,535,768 
Investment acquired during the year in WE Soda Ltd. 131,038 - 
At 31 December 1,666,806 1,535,768 

 

KŶ�Ϯϭ��ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ�ϮϬϮϭ͕�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ�ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ϭϬϬй�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŚĂƌĞƐ�ŽĨ�d��^ŽĚĂ͘�dŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�d��^ŽĚĂ�
was obtained through an in-kind contribution from Mr. Turgay Ciner and issuance of 10 ordinary shares to Mr. 
Turgay Ciner in exchange of the 10 shares of TC Soda. On the same day, the Company transferred the 10 shares of 
TC Soda to WE Soda Ltd in exchange of WE Soda Ltd.͛Ɛ�ϭϬ�ƐŚĂƌĞƐ͘ 

The Company͛Ɛ� ƐƵďƐŝĚŝĂƌŝĞƐ� Ăƚ� ƚhe reporting date are disclosed in Note 33 Group companies to the Group 
consolidated financial statements. Fair value information regarding investments in subsidiaries has not been 
disclosed as their fair value cannot be measured reliably, as they are investments in unquoted group companies. 

All subsidiaries were consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

I. Other receivables 

Other receivables comprise of receivables from parent company, Akkan Enerji MadenĐŝůŝŬ� �͘b͘� dŚĞ� �ŝƌĞĐƚŽƌƐ�
consider the carrying amount of receivables approximates to their fair value. Receivables from Akkan Enerji 
MadenĐŝůŝŬ� �͘b� ĂƌĞ� ƵŶƐĞĐƵƌĞĚ� ĂŶĚ� ĂƌĞ� ƌĞƉĂǇable on demand. It is management's intention that the Other 
receivables from related parties will not be demanded in less than one year. 

J. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in bank only of USD3,000 (2020: USD3,000) that can be reconciled to 
the statement of cash flows. 

K. Trade and other payables 

Other payables mainly comprise of payable to subsidiary company, WE Soda Ltd.  

Payables comprise of: 
  2021 2020 
Current:   
Trade payables  3,114 - 
   
Total current trade payables 3,114 - 
   
Non-current    
Other payables to related parties  251,810 415,764 
   
Total trade and other payables 251,810 415,764 

 

The Directors consider the carrying value of payables approximates to their fair value. Payables to WE Soda Ltd 
are unsecured. 
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L. Share capital and share premiums 

Issued and fully paid ordinary share capital as at 31 December 2021 amounted to USD153,702,481 (2020: 
USD153,702,471). 

Ordinary equity share capital       

Allotted and fully paid Number 
Share Capital 

Ψ͛ϬϬϬ 
Share Premium 

Ψ͛ϬϬϬ 
At 1 January 2020 153,702,471 153,702 1,382,131 
At 31 December 2020 153,702,471 153,702 1,382,131 
10 shares issued at $1.00 nominal value per share on 21 December 2021 10 - - 
At 31 December 2021 153,702,481 153,702 1,382,131 

 
On 21 December 2021, the Company ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ�ϭϬϬй�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŚĂƌĞƐ�ŽĨ�d��^ŽĚĂ͘�dŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ�ŝŶ�d��^ŽĚĂ�
was obtained through an in-kind contribution from Mr. Turgay Ciner and issuance of 10 ordinary shares to Mr. 
Turgay Ciner in exchange of the 10 shares of TC Soda.  

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 Acquisition 
Purchase consideration ʹ capital contribution in kind 131,038* 
Fair value of net assets at acquisition 131, 038 
Goodwill - 

(*) This is net of $10 of shares issued. 

M. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

dŚĞ�ƚĂďůĞ�ďĞůŽǁ�ĚĞƚĂŝůƐ�ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�'ƌŽƵƉ͛Ɛ�ůŝĂďŝůŝƚŝĞƐ�ĂƌŝƐŝŶŐ�ĨƌŽŵ�ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ�ĂĐƚŝǀŝƚŝĞƐ͕�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�ďŽƚŚ�ĐĂƐŚ�ĂŶĚ�
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
ĨůŽǁƐ�ǁŝůů� ďĞ͕� ĐůĂƐƐŝĨŝĞĚ� ŝŶ� ƚŚĞ� �ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ� ĐŽŶƐŽůŝĚĂƚĞĚ� ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ� ŽĨ� ĐĂƐŚ� ĨůŽǁƐ� ĂƐ� ĐĂƐŚ� ĨůŽǁƐ� ĨƌŽŵ� ĨŝŶĂŶĐŝŶŐ�
activities. 

  Note As at 1 January 
2021 

Other 
changes1 

As at 31 
December 2021 

Other payables K 415,764 (163,954) 251,810 
Trade payables K - 3,114 3,114 
Total liability   415,764 (160,840) 254,924 

Note 1 - Other changes include interest accruals and payments. 

 

  Note As at 1 January 
2020 

Other 
changes1 

As at 31 
December 2020 

Other payables L 368,041 47,723 415,764 
Total liability   368,041 47,723 415,764 

Note 1 - Other changes include interest accruals and payments. 

N. Dividends 

The Company has not declared any dividend for the year. 
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O. Related party transactions 

2021 Description Non-current 
assets  

Non-current 
liabilities  

�ŬŬĂŶ��ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘ Parent company 254,858 - 
WE Soda Ltd Subsidiary - 251,810 
Total   254,858 251,810 

 
 

2020 Description Non-current 
assets  

Non-current 
liabilities  

Akkan �ŶĞƌũŝ�ǀĞ�DĂĚĞŶĐŝůŝŬ��͘b͘ Parent company 415,965 - 
WE Soda Ltd Subsidiary - 415,764 
Total   415,965 415,764 

    

P. Controlling parties 

The immediate parent company is Kew Soda Ltd and ultimate parent undertaking is Akkan Enerji ve Madencilik 
�͘b͘�dŚĞ�ƵůƚŝŵĂƚĞ�ĐŽŶƚƌŽůůŝŶŐ�ƉĂƌƚǇ�ŝƐ�Dƌ͘�dƵƌŐĂǇ��ŝŶĞƌ͘ 

Q. �ƵĚŝƚŽƌƐ͛�ƌĞŵƵŶĞƌĂƚŝŽŶ 

&ĞĞƐ�ƉĂǇĂďůĞ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ��ŽŵƉĂŶǇ͛Ɛ�ĂƵĚŝƚŽƌs for the audit of the parent company was borne by subsidiary company 
WE Soda Ltd (2020: USD nil). 
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$NNDQ�(QHUML�YH�0DGHQFLOLN�$�ù� Akkan Energy Mining Inc. 
&LQHU�+DYD�7DúÕPDFÕOÕ÷Õ�$�ù� Ciner Air Transportation Inc. 
&LQHU�øo�YH�'Õú�7LFDUHW�$�ù�� Ciner Domestic and Foreign Trade Inc. 
Ciner Kimya &LQHU�.LP\D�<DWLULPODUL�$�ù� 
&LQHU�0DGHQ�3URMH�YH�7HNQLN�'DQÕúPDQOÕN�$�ù� Ciner Mining Project and Technical Consultancy Inc. 
&LQHU�7XUL]P�7LFDUHW�øQúDDW�6HUYLV�+L]PHWOHUL�$�ù� Ciner Tourism Trade Construction Transportation Services Inc. 
Cogeneration The combined generation of electricity and heat (in the form of steam), 

allowing the utilisation of the steam left over from electricity generation. 
'HQPDU�'HSRFXOXN�1DNOL\DW�$�ù� Denmar Warehousing Transport Inc. 
Eti Maden (WL�0DGHQ�øúOHWPHOHUL�*HQHO�0�G�UO�÷��(WL�0LQLQJ�(QWHUSULVHV�*HQHUDO�

Directorate 
Eti Soda (WL�6RGD�hUHWLP�3D]DUODPD�1DNOL\DW�YH�(OHNWULN�hUHWLP�6DQD\L�YH�7LFDUHW�

$�ù��(WL�6RGD�3URGXFWLRQ�0DUNHWLQJ�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�DQG�Electricity 
Generation Industry and Trade Inc. 

+DYDú�7XUL]P�6H\DKDW�YH�.DUJR�7DúÕPDFÕOÕ÷Õ�$�ù� +DYDú�7RXULVP�7UDYHO�DQG�&DUJR�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�,QF� 
Kazan Soda  .D]DQ�6RGD�(OHNWULN�hUHWLP�$�ù�.D]DQ�6RGD�(OHFWULFLW\�3URGXFWLRQ�,QF� 
Park Cam Sanayi ve 7LFDUHW�$�ù� Park Cam Industry and Trade Inc. 
3DUN�(OHNWULN�hUHWLP�0DGHQFLOLN�6DQ��YH�7LF��$�ù� Park Electricity Production Mining Industry and Trade Inc. 
3DUN�+ROGLQJ�$�ù� Park Holding Inc. 
3DUN�6LJRUWD�$UDFÕOÕN�+L]PHWOHUL�/WG��ùWL� Park Insurance Intermediary Services Ltd. Co. 
3DUN�7HNQLN�(OHNWULN�0DGHQFLOLN�7XUL]P�6DQ��YH�7LF��$�ù� Park Technical Electricity Mining Tourism Industry and Trade Inc. 
&LQHU�(QHUML�0DGHQFLOLN�6DQD\L�YH�7LFDUHW�$�ù���IRUPHUO\�
3DUN�7HUPLN�(OHNWULN�6DQD\L�YH�7LFDUHW�$�ù�� 

Park Thermal Electricity Industry and Trade Inc. 

Nameplate production capacity Maximum output stipulated by manufacturer 
6LORSL�(OHNWULN�hUHWLP�$�ù� Silopi Electricity Production Inc. 
Sisecam Chemicals Resources Sisecam Chemicals Resources LLC 
Soda ash Sodium carbonate 
The Group Kew Soda Ltd and its subsidiaries 
Trona A naturally occurring ore which is extracted and processed into soda ash. 

Soda ash, in turn, is used in the manufacturing of glass, dry powder 
detergents, and many other products including lithium carbonate used in 
EV car batteries. It also is used to produce other chemicals, such as sodium 
bicarbonate. 

 


